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MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	If I could start the day ma’am by tendering two affidavits I have been given by two members of the Otago Preventative Health Dept both of whom were involved in the Health Funding Authority’s advisory group who have read the transcript of things that were discussed with Professor Skegg and who have specifically wanted to comment on the transcript and the way things were put.  I have shown this affidavit to all of my friends and I understand there’s no objection to it coming in in this way although Mr DuRose may wish to reply by affidavit I understand but if I could just let these affidavits go in.  Madam Registrar.

CHAIR:   	Firstly just tell me what are the affidavits about because I don’t want to get into some war of affidavits.

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am the affidavits are from first of all Dr Mary Jane Sneade who was the epidemiologist on that advisory group –

CHAIR:   	Sorry just go slowly.  This is the DuRose advisory group.

MR HINDLE:   	That's correct and this is the advisory group which had an input to the final study, I put it that way because she has obviously looked at the transcript of evidence and she complains that the way in which her involvement in the advisory group has been put to this inquiry she says it may have been misrepresentative and she is anxious for the inquiry to have her comment on the impression that one might gain from reading the transcript.  The second affidavit –

CHAIR:   	Well no, just take it slowly.  Firstly, Mr DuRose came along for the Health Funding Authority to advise us on the advisory group as did Dr Medley.  Mr Murray could have called other persons if he had wished.  This inquiry is not about how persons who’ve been involved at various times in the programme may feel about what persons have said about them.  We’re not likely to want to comment about Dr Sneade in the report.  Dr Sneade may have her views on how she sees things but I don’t’ see why we should  accept her evidence in an unchallenged form.

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am with respect her position was put to David Skegg in that questions were asked of David Skegg along the lines of well so we have this conflict in evidence then between  the advisory group and your witness box comments and the –

CHAIR:   	About what?

MR HINDLE:   	That had to do with the question of whether the advisory group had taken into account limitations on the, for example, .5% benchmark for reading high grade smears.

CHAIR:   	Well look just tell me this.  So far I have heard from Dr Medley who is the expert person that Mr Murray has put up that she does not consider that the DuRose study is satisfactory for the purposes of determining whether or not there is a systemic problem.  Now that is what interested the inquiry most of all about the DuRose study.  If Dr Sneade now says that the DuRose study can be used to answer whether there is a systemic issue, I am interested in her evidence, we will then have to arrange for a way of dealing with her evidence and questioning her about it so we can evaluate whose evidence we prefer but the DuRose study, once I’ve heard, my understanding is both from Mr DuRose and Dr Medley that it can’t be used for the purposes of determining whether or not there is a systemic problem.  There seems very little point in concentrating to any great deal on the DuRose study and whether Dr Sneade feels that her position in the study has not been properly represented or not is of no great interest to this committee.

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am I’m bound to say that I wasn’t wanting to make anything greater of it than it is.  I have been contacted by two individuals who having read the transcript feel that their position has not been fairly put to the inquiry.  I have with me affidavits which deal their position which my friends do not object to my filing.  I will have to –

CHAIR:   	Well they may not object but I do at the moment because you see there are probably a number of people out there reading the website who feel that their positions have not been fairly put.  I’m sure that there are members of Ethics Committees who feel their positions have not been fairly put.  If I accept affidavits from persons who have read evidence on the website who consider that when they have been involved in any step in the matters this inquiry is looking into, that they have not been fairly represented in any way in terms of what witnesses have said, I am opening the door to other affidavits coming in as well.  If I let these affidavits in, I can’t see why, in order to be consistent, I could say no to other persons whose names have been mentioned in this inquiry who don’t consider that they have been presented, or their actions have been presented in the way in which they would want to have them presented.

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am both Dr Baxter, Dr Sneade and I will have to live with you ruling on that.

CHAIR:   	That's right.  Does anyone else wish to be heard on this?

MR MURRAY:   	Well it arose out of my cross-examination of Professor Skegg.  I’m not asking for the affidavits to be put in, if anything they are against the position I was contending for.  It seems to boil down to a question of whether two people whose names were referred to had been treated unfairly and if so whether they should  have a chance to put their position.  It probably doesn’t matter if the inquiry is not interested in that issue, if the inquiry is not going to make any findings against their conduct, then we probably can just put it to one side.

CHAIR:   	Yes well it seems to me that this whole concern about natural justice is being taken too far in the sense that it is important that persons whom the committee of inquiry might comment upon in their report are given an opportunity to be heard.  It is part and parcel of any proceeding of a quasi judicial nature that in the course of evidence being given, either as a result of evidence from a witness or propositions put in cross examination, statements may be made which other individuals consider to be damaging of them in some way and that is part and parcel of the judicial and the quasi judicial approach and they have to live with that.  I can’t see that if all it is is criticism by implication by counsel in the course of cross examination of a third person whose not involved in the inquiry, why the inquiry should  then receive evidence from the third person.  If I receive evidence in that way from these two doctors, then I would be opening the door to anyone coming along who had read the website who also felt that in some way there had been a comment about them by a witness and that person would also wish to be heard.  We could be deluged with affidavits which we don’t have the opportunity to cross examine people on.  We are in no position to evaluate how reliable the evidence is in that untested form.  I just can’t see any reason to admit this evidence if it doesn’t go to any of the terms of reference.

MR MURRAY:   	I have no difficulty with any of that and the only submission that I would make is that if the inquiry was concerned about what advice was given at the advisory group and therefore the extent to which the Health Funding Authority’s laboratory review report could be relied upon or not, was of interest, the inquiry quite apart from fairness to people, there may be a substantive issue, but that's for the inquiry to judge.   If it's got enough evidence on that aspect that's the end of it.  If it feels it needs to know more about what went on in the advisory group these affidavits are relevant to that but then I would have to ask Mr DuRose to comment on that.

CHAIR:   	Exactly yes, and then we would be setting in trail something whereby we would end up with witnesses commenting on something someone else said and a chain of affidavits and how then we would make sense of it in terms of deciding whether we preferred Mr DuRose’s affidavit evidence or Dr Sneade’s affidavit evidence I don’t know.

MR MURRAY:   	No and I better leave it at that I think.  It's for the inquiry to decide.  Certainly if the affidavits don’t come in I won’t be asking Mr DuRose to say any more about it and the evidence will be as it now is.

CHAIR:   	Well Mr Hindle if that's the extent of the affidavits.  Mr Rennie?

MR RENNIE:   	I rise with a little uncertainty because the extent to which this impacts the parties that I represent is strictly limited but the material on the affidavits has been categorised as a response to comments made about the two persons concerned.  I have the advantage that I have read the affidavits and with respect a considerable amount of material does not stand at character at all and if I might take a single example while noting your concern and therefore expressing it generally, there is a statement made in Dr Sneade’s affidavit that certain documentation brought forward by Mr DuRose as representing the considered decision of the advisory group had neither been seen by, discussed nor adopted by the advisory group.  Now that with respect goes nowhere in terms of Dr Sneade’s reputation but everywhere in terms of the reliability which you might place on what Mr DuRose has told you and with the greatest of respect to Mr Murray, I've only really risen because I don’t believe, with respect, that the Ministry can in fact justifiably categorise the contents of these affidavits in the way that my friend just has done.  And your Inquiry may yet go forward to say, we understand that the advisory group considered this and determined that or considered that and determined this, and I don’t think Dr Sneade’s affidavit, as I read it, is directed to her reputation at all;   it is directed to trying to signal to your Inquiry that certain information that you had been given is not consistent with her knowledge as an expert epidemiologist of what actually occurred.   And I do suggest, with respect, that the appropriate process might be, at least in relation to Dr Sneade’s affidavit, for you to do what courts of course often do, which is to read the affidavit to consider whether it is likely to be of assistance to you and then indicate that it either will or will not be received.

CHAIR:   Yes.   It seemed to me that we have already heard that the advisory group did not sign off the duRose report.   We are aware of that.   But thank you for those submissions.

MR RENNIE:   I simply wanted to call that to your attention, ma'am, in view of the way that the submissions were proceeding.

MR MURRAY:   Just on that, ma'am, the evidence, I think, is reasonably clear that the Health Funding Authority’s report, the conclusions, were not signed off by the advisory group, and that’s in exhibit 10 to Mr duRose’s evidence, the documents about what was put before the advisory group, the time they had, they dealt with substantive laboratory issues but they didn't have time to deal with the proposed conclusions, and the Health Funding Authority’s conclusions stand as the Health Funding Authority’s conclusions after taking advice, not necessarily on the basis or consistent with the advice.   So if that’s of any doubt, if there's doubt about that, I have no difficulty with my friend’s submissions and you'll get some more evidence if you read the affidavit.   That’s a matter of a judgment call.

CHAIR:   Well just tell me this, I just want to be sure about this:   you agree that the conclusions in the duRose report were not signed off by the advisory group?

MR MURRAY:   Yes, the actual conclusions that Mr duRose gave on behalf of the Health Funding Authority in the first part of the final report, and repeated in the first part of his evidence, are the Health Funding Authority’s conclusions and not necessarily the advisory group’s because that part was not dealt with at the final 28 June meeting, and that’s clear in the evidence.

CHAIR:   Right.   The next point I want to make sure of what your position is, in terms of what you consider to be clear in the evidence, do you accept that Dr Medley, in her evidence, had said  the duRose study did not answer whether or not there was a systemic problem?

MR MURRAY:   I am a little less reluctant to make concessions with that department, because I think it came down to a matter of judgment.   There are a number of words used to describe the reliability or not of the Health Funding Authority’s study, and I don’t think I could, on my feet, say one way or another what the conclusion of that evidence is.  I’d like to reserve my position there.

CHAIR:   yes, well it may be the best way to deal with this matter is to reserve it at the moment, there's no rush in receiving these affidavits, and we can all check on the evidence because my preliminary view would be, if it’s clear from the evidence and you accept it as being clear from the evidence that Dr Medley considers the duRose study doesn't answer the issue of whether or not there is a systemic problem and you agree that the advisory group never signed off the conclusions in the duRose study, then we don’t need to hear words to that effect again from Dr Sneade, particularly if it’s going to open up Mr duRose coming back with his evidence.

MR MURRAY:   Yes.

CHAIR:   What I will do is I will reserve the position so that we can check the transcript and I’ll come back to you Mr Murray to see what your position is, because if your position is clear on those points, then I don’t see any need to either receive the affidavits or look at them.   But if your position isn't that clear and you have reservations about how far Dr Medley’s evidence can be taken, then I will look at the affidavits and go from there.

MR MURRAY:   Yes, as you please.

CHAIR:   we have now got the issue – yes, Mr Grieve?

MR GRIEVE:   Madam Chair, I've got two matters that I wish to raise.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   First is a report on the service of sub-poenas.   That has been effected by personal service and I've got faxed copies of proof of service for Madam Registrar.

CHAIR:   Thank you.

MR GRIEVE:   Dr Hassan, according to the process server, had with him a medical certificate, which has not been faxed but it’s obvious that he is unwell, and so the practicality is that he won't be able to attend – I accept that once I see the certificate, but that’s the reality.   As far as Dr Linehan is concerned, I understand from my learned friend Ms Janes that he has made a booking to be here this evening.   Now I have no desire to inconvenience him and have him travel unnecessarily just to wait for tomorrow, so perhaps at some stage during the day we could look at that, but I’m in your hands on that, I can't make a decision about that Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   That’s fine, thank you Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:   Now the other matter relates to the issue that I raised last evening.   Ms Janes asked me if the rush of blood to the head had continued unabated.   I wouldn't quite put it like that.  I don’t propose to issue more sub-poenas, but I do have this to say about the role of Dr Poutasi as Director General.  The Committee of Inquiry has been asking a number of important questions about the future of the programme.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   And without going into great detail it seems to me that one could summarise the factors which will impact on the future of the programme as being:   first, resources – money and in terms of human resources, and that could be also referred to as, or broken down to expertise, and of course Dr Peters spoke about that yesterday.   So the first thing is resources.   The second thing is the problem that may well arise, and has been presaged by some of the witnesses arising out of devolution, and of course we've heard from – I think I’m correct in saying – Dr Cox, certainly Ms Marshall, that they do not want to see devolution give rise to the decentralisation of the programme.   Now Madam Chair, you have sought, quite properly, commitments, in so far as witnesses can give them, from Dr Peters;   we've got Dr Boyd and Ms Glackin to come, and I anticipate that you will be asking similar questions of them.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   Now, realistically they are not in a position to give undertakings, whereas if anybody one step below the politicians is in a position to give some sort of undertakings it must be the Director General.  If one looks at the transcript of the questions that you asked of Dr Peters yesterday on this question, and it’s at p3460, beginning at line 12, and you will remember the series of questions – you quoted the European guidelines etc, I won't go through all that, but her answer is – and I make no criticism of her answer at all – none at all, but it’s revealing.  She says:  “I mean, really all I can say is that I've had, through my manager, a commitment from the Director General.”  Now, really, we have to ask what that is worth, and I don’t mean any disrespect to the Director General either, but coming second-hand one has to – the natural question is “what is it worth”.  “I've had a commitment from the Director General that she wants to ensure that it’s put right, that the necessary resources are made available to ensure that things are put right.”   But then we have the qualification that has probably been echoed through this hearing room before, she doesn't want to leap to solutions in terms of staffing.  She wants to consider it carefully.  It seems a positive response which would give one confidence and I don’t really feel I can comment any further than that, that's Dr Peters, having never worked in the Ministry or experienced those situations.  Now a cynic might say that this is somewhat reminiscent of many of those situations we see in Yes Minister and –

CHAIR:   	I think that's very unfair to Dr Peters.

MR GRIEVE:   	No I wasn’t meaning to criticise her because I suggest that what she has recounted is absolutely correct.  I’m not intended to criticise her at all, but one can see those sort of assurances being fed down the line second hand and they are not followed up.  My position on this is that the committee of inquiry could have greater reassurance if those assurances were given by the Director General.   Now were not, as I say I don’t want to be involved in issuing subpoenas and I mean that seriously but I’m sure if you were to give an indication to Mr Murray that you sought those assurances from someone whose reassurance was worth having, that could be the Director General and it may mean that people like Dr Boyd and Ms Glackin’s appearance would be unnecessary, with some sort of saving of time, and I don’t say that because I want Dr Linehan along.

CHAIR:   	I know that, let me just say this though, because I need some help with Dr Boyd and Glackin because I’m getting tired, they are being recalled to put to them the various criticisms that witnesses have made about the programme in the historical sense and although Mr Murray has said – well I didn’t get an indication from the Ministry of Health  that they wanted to recall these witnesses but I thought that it was the responsible thing to do to give them an opportunity to be heard so they’re being recalled for natural justice purposes.  The hearing has been run along the lines that evidence has been given in public, counsel have been here, permission has been given to cross examine, everyone’s had the opportunity to cross examine, they have had the opportunity to make submissions, the idea is the report is to be written and released without circulating a draft.  There’s no need to circulate a draft.  In my own experience in cases where drafts are circulated they always end up creating greater problems with arguments about what should and shouldn’t be in them and there is also the possibility  of suspicion  that the final report is diluted in some way because of the response of persons who may be criticised so my – the Cartwright Report, the committee of inquiry that I was counsel assisting in and to the death of a patient at Carrington Hospital, were released as final reports without being circulated first.  They were public hearings and that's what my intention is and unless when the report is written it suddenly becomes clear there has been some major oversight and someone does have to be given the opportunity to be heard by seeing a draft part of the report, so that's why Dr Boyd and Glackin are being recalled and for my purposes it's very important that they are recalled and I’ve only said this now so everyone understands why they are being recalled and if there are issues that you wish to put to them because you would want to make submissions that things they have said earlier on should  be disregarded and I should  refer the evidence of other witnesses who have been critical of them, then you should  take the opportunity when they are recalled to put those issues to them to give them an opportunity to comment on them.

MR GRIEVE:   	I accept that Madam Chair I’ve understood that that's the purpose behind it.  I suppose one of the limitations that we have struck already and would strike also with the Director General is that the witnesses can fall back on the quite understandable response that I was not present at the relevant times and that was the situation with some periods for Dr Boyd and certainly for Ms Glackin and it would also apply for the Director General but she has been in the Chief’s chair since 1995 and that's a significant period of time.

CHAIR:   	The other point is that it's up to the Ministry or to anyone who they wish to present as witnesses, if someone chooses to present a series of people who know nothing really about the issue, they have to live with the consequences of that because that in itself allows us to draw certain conclusions.

MR GRIEVE:   	Quite.

CHAIR:   	But at the moment we haven’t taken a point about technical admissibility in terms of receiving hearsay evidence from Ministry officials who weren’t there through the whole period.  I’m happy to accept the evidence of Dr Boyd and Glackin on the basis the Ministry of Health  thinks those persons are the best persons to inform us of events and if they can’t, if your view on certain matters is that they can’t, well one has to conclude there isn’t anyone who could have.

MR GRIEVE:   	I’m not sure that that's the only conclusion that follows Madam Chair but I don’t wish to say any more.

CHAIR:   	We don’t need to go further into that now.  Mr Murray can I hear from you about Dr Patasi and what comment you have on that?

MR MURRAY:   	Certainly.  There’s no problem, I think Dr Patasi at times ahs been very keen to come up to Gisborne is just that the subjects on which she could give evidence have not really be clearly defined.  I think my friend’s raising some points now and if the inquiry thinks that we need to go a level further, we’ll make inquiries during the day and see if we can ask Dr Patasi.

CHAIR:   	Well perhaps do that, it would he helpful, it's just that we have seen in the past what has happened to the programme with various health restructuring and I accept that Dr Peters is doing her very best to have the programme running effectively but that is in circumstances where the agency who had employed her, is now already being brought into the Ministry of Health  and whether or not once the inquiry is completed and the issues here start to fade from memory, the pressure for resources in other areas will come on and so the very good intentions which I accept may be very well intentioned at the moment, end up ultimately with matters not being done speedily or some matters being neglected, is something that we would want some reassurance about and it seems Dr Patasi is the best person to give that reassurance but if she came I would want to confine her evidence, because we have very little time now, I want to confine her evidence to evidence as to the future of the programme in terms of resources, the support that Dr Peters will get and the protection that a national based programme would get in a process where there is further devolution, health restructuring and in circumstances where the Ministry still appears to be more of a policy driven unit than an operational unit.

MR MURRAY:   	It will become more than policy of course because it's taking on the funding responsibilities.

CHAIR:   	Yes I’m not sure what a funders role is.

MR MURRAY:   	I have no difficulty with that, we’ll make inquiries during the day, the usual issue that arises in these circumstances of course is that the law is being made as we speak and Dr Patasi is the Director General, she is not the Minister and she is not the Government so as long as that is understood.

CHAIR:   	I understand that.

MR MURRAY:   	But I just raise another matter though.  As far as the natural justice issue goes, I do have some concerns.  We did not see it necessary to recall Dr Boyd or Ms Glackin.  The inquiry would like to out of abundant caution and not give us a draft report.  I just have some reservations that that process will actually not be very comforting for the Ministry because at this stage I expect the inquiry panel itself has not formulated the findings it may make that could be adverse and therefore we are going to end up very short of time at the end of this hearing, I’m sure the inquiry will do it's best either as panel members or though counsel assisting to put matters of concern but if that was the end of it, I would be for one going away from the hearing with some concerns because issues change during the writing of a report and I do not think the fact that those two witnesses were called at the end of a long hearing and after a mountain of evidence would actually sufficiently put the Ministry on guard and give it a chance to reply in the witness box on Saturday morning or whenever this occurs.

CHAIR:   	Well we can only do the best we can.  Certainly there are many reports that have been written where drafts aren’t circulated.   Normally when drafts are circulated the report has been managed in a very inquisitorial way, often without public hearings and certainly without counsel or cross-examination.   What we are intending to do is not really a matter of adverse conclusions, because I can't see us wanting to come out with the sort of comments that were made in Erebus about anyone;  it’s really more at the moment trying to ensure that where there are conflicts in the evidence, in terms of different perspectives which contradict on the way certain things happened, that witnesses from the Ministry are able to respond to what the other witnesses have said.   And one area that I do want to take up with the Ministry’s witnesses is how it came to be that you had s74A of the Health Act passed in 1993 and even though, whatever the situation may be with Dr Cox’s study and however he presented it, I would want to know from the Ministry, given that it promoted the legislation, why it is that since that amendment to the act was passed there has been no regulations made allowing access to information.  I don’t know whether no-one recognised the problem or not, but the fact that nothing has been done about it suggests to me that no-one recognised the problem.   Either that, or they did, and they chose to do nothing about it.   And either, I would like to hear from the Ministry as to how that state of affairs occurred.

MR MURRAY:   In those early days of course the emphasis was on informed consent and locking information up to implement the Cartwright principles, so having said that, I think where we’re at, then – I don’t want to prolong this, I would just to register a concern – it is actually a two-step process.   If I can take it that the Inquiry is concerned only at this stage with evidential aspects and do have a second shot at the submission stage –

CHAIR:   Oh, absolutely, yes.

MR MURRAY:   I imagine that if there’s concerns after that and before the report is sent to the Minister, there is something of real concern, there may be a third stage and we will be in the Inquiry’s hands on that.

CHAIR:   that’s absolutely right, that’s how we see it.   All I’m trying to do at the moment is iron out the evidential conflicts, or if that can't happen, make sure that opportunities are given because I’m aware that there was evidence called later by certain people which was not put to the Ministry officials when they earlier gave their evidence.

MR MURRAY:   Yes.

CHAIR:   Because that fell down, the best way is to recall the Ministry officials and give them an opportunity to comment.

MR MURRAY:   All right, I’ll say no more.

CHAIR:   Thank you.   The next point is the point about the sub-poenas.   Is everyone ready to deal with that now?   One way that I thought perhaps might speed things up is if I told you what was in my mind and then you could provide submissions directed to that, but it seemed to me there were two issues:   one was jurisdiction, and the second was if there was jurisdiction exercise of the discretion.   In terms of jurisdiction, I've now, as a result of the kindness of Ms Thorpe, had access to case law.  I've read Q v Beynon, which is a case involving s52 of the Hospitals Act, which made it very clear that information could not be given out under the s62 of the Hospitals Act, and the court in Beynon found that the prohibition on releasing information did not apply to evidence being given before a court.  The next case is Bonner v Karamea Shipping, and that is one where there was a sub-poena duces tecum served on the Department of Labour to produce certain documents so as to obtain evidence relevant to damages, which is very similar to the position facing us, because in order to obtain evidence relevant to determining whether or not there is a systemic issue, the evidence from the Cancer Register and the Screening Register would be foundation material from which Professor Skegg, as a person appointed by the committee to advise it on this matter, would use to commence his studies.  The impact of that case is again to say that provisions preventing access to information are over-ridden when it comes to testimony in a court of law.   And then there is the Human Rights Commission v Minister of Labour, which found that the principle in Bonner and Beynon did not apply in respect of the Human Rights Commission.  The distinguishing factors I saw in respect of the Human Rights Commission decision are these, and I'm just going through the decision as I say it:   the first is that the Commission was exercising powers to gather information, it wasn’t seeking evidence, it was not exercising an evidence-power but rather an information-power in much the same way that agencies that have powers to compel people to provide information can do;   secondly, s74 of the Human Rights Commission Act specifically said that no person shall be required to supply information or to answer questions put by the Commission … if to do so would be in breach of an obligation of secrecy or non-disclosure imposed on that person by the provisions of any act.   And that was one of the matters which answered that case.   The second point as was pointed out by the Chief Justice is that Beynon’s case and Bonner referred to testimony and that there was a difference between information and testimony.   In fact, one of the points the Chief Justice makes at 112 of the Human Rights Commission case, line 10, he says:   “The best starting point, I think, is to take the principles arising from Beynon and pose the question:  should the furnishing of information to the Commission in its investigatory function be regarded in the same light as the giving of testimony to a court.”    Well, we are a Committee of Inquiry but what we are seeking here is the giving of testimony under s4(d), which really is the equivalent of a sub-poena duces tecum.   And when you get to the end of the case, the Chief Justice makes this distinction between evidence and information.   It also seemed to me there was a difference in our function.   My understanding of the Human Rights Commission Act 1977 is that it contained a provision saying that the Complaints Review Tribunal had the power of a Committee of Inquiry, or a Commission of Inquiry, but that power did not extend to the Human Rights Commission, it had its own express powers.   So, I see the Human Rights Commission and Minister of Labour case being more about the exercise of a power equivalent to s4(c) of the Commissions of Inquiry Act rather than 4(d), which is to require the giving of evidence.  So I therefore think the case is distinguishable and I think that there is jurisdiction to issue a sub-poena duces tecum to have information produced by the Cancer Register and the Screening Register, and the next point is the exercise of the discretion as to whether it’s appropriate or not.   And in that respect, I have read the 1986 World Health bulletin, which says a clinical audit is one of the best ways of determining whether or not a programme is failing.   I recall the evidence of Dr Medley as well as Professor Skegg and Dr Cox on the benefits of a clinical audit.  I also take into account the fact that my view of the DuRose study, the evidence that Dr Medley and Mr DuRose gave was that certainly it was not the complete answer to whether or not there was a systemic problem. I’ve also read patient files both from this hearing and from the earlier hearing where I’ve seen on two occasions where there have been smears read as normal by laboratories other than Dr Bottrill’s in circumstances where there are previous smears read as normal by Dr Bottrill which have later been found to be high grade, then there is a normal smear by another laboratory and then there is another re-diagnosis either of cancer as a result of colposcopy or high grade smears so I am concerned that there may be problems with other laboratories to a point where I don’t think it can be ruled out so for all those reasons, and also taking into account the fact that there has never been any full evaluation of the programme so what statistical information there may be about the programme could well be falsely reassuring.  I note from the DuRose study that the average of the community laboratories in reporting incidence of high grades was .8% but given that there's been no thorough evaluation of laboratory reportings it's difficult to see what reliance can be placed on those figures so for all those reasons my preliminary view, and this is subject to hearing from everyone because I might be quite wrong and am certainly open to being put right, is that we ought to 1) we have the jurisdiction; and 2) this is a case where the jurisdiction ought to be exercised.  Now the other point that Dr Duggan I’ve discussed this with and with Mrs Barrett, is that given that we have to determine whether or not there is a systemic issue and we consider there hasn’t been any full evaluation of the programme, we’re of a view tentatively that the incidence of cancer from the Cancer Register and cancer mortality and the Screening Register information should  be obtained for Tairawhiti but also for Eastern Bay of Plenty and Northland because we can’t be sure what is going on in other areas of the country and if we got that base information now, certainly Dr Duggan is someone who could look at that material and form a preliminary view about whether or not there needed to be further investigation of the other two areas and we would then use the powers available to us under 4C because I don’t foresee the need to use Section 4D powers other than to access the Cancer Register and the Screening Register, but if we run into difficulties we can use the Section 4D powers of issuing subpoenas duces tecum to get other information necessary for a clinical audit as well.  So those are our preliminary views and I’d be very interested to hear what submissions you can help me with on jurisdiction and exercise of the discretion.

MR CORKILL:   	Ma’am I indicated my position yesterday on behalf of the women effected mainly because there were members in our group who would have views on both sides of the issue I can’t take a formal position.  Certainly from a legal perspective I have no quibble with the legal analysis.  I rise really only to speak of the logistics assuming that the committee moves on to make orders of the nature you have indicated.  There were two statements made yesterday which were of particular assistance in my respectful submission.  The first from the Privacy Commissioner to the effect that under privacy principals consent should  be obtained where a woman could reasonably or readily be traced.  He was implying that if such a person couldn’t be reasonably or readily traced then one might proceed without that consent.  At the stage where assuming the matching exercise occurs by reason of obtained the data from the two registers, at the stage where medical records are then required for the purposes of the clinical audit, it seems to me if I may respectfully submit it, that a somewhat consultative approach, and this was suggested by Mr Rennie and his was the second comment I wanted to endorse, a somewhat consultative approach might be advanced by counsel assisting, directed at the women rather than care givers where they could be readily identified.  I’ve already indicated yesterday that I and my colleagues would certainly assist in respect of those for whom we definitely act and that would honor that principal and it's not only the issue of privacy it is also the issue of informed consent to the analysis being carried out and we would have thought that if we don’t act for any of those individuals, then a suitably couched letter from counsel assisting to other person explaining the need and so on is likely to bring a voluntary and cooperative response.  That has certainly been our experience.  Rather than the necessity of issuing subpoenas at that stage or other coercive orders, whether directed at women or caregivers, health professionals so we think by all means use the powers at the Register stage to achieve the data matching, we would have thought a consultative approach would work thereafter in large measure where someone could not be readily identified or located, then it may be a question of using subpoena powers directed to the health programmes but we would think that would be the exception rather than the rule.

CHAIR:   	Thank you Mr Corkill.  Mr Murray?

MR MURRAY:   	Yes Madam Chair just firstly on the legal analysis, no difficulty with most of it and the only issue that I think does cause a moment of reflection really is this question of whether the subpoena would be directed to obtaining testimony or would in substance be actually obtaining information because the position is that practically we can do the matching, the Ministry and Health Funding Authority together as respective managers of both registers can do the matching and obtain that information in a form that could be brought before this inquiry, but just with that language I am using one can see that it is not clear that Ms Matcham for example if she was the person that was subpoenaed, would be giving oral testimony, she would be bringing the information the inquiry wants before it.

CHAIR:   	But you see Mr Murray that was the position in Bonner because that was a subpoena duces tecum, all they really wanted from the Dept of Labor was certain records from which they could ascertain damages and if you appear with a subpoena duces tecum and produce the documents, the documents then become exhibits and they are evidence.  For example you may not give any evidence but if a witness appears and produced documents under a subpoena duces tecum that are false documents, if those documents could be brought home to the witness as the witness being responsible for them, they could well give rise to a charge of perjury I would think.  I don’t think that evidence in the full sense is confined to oral evidence and certainly if the bain in principal were confined to oral evidence only it wouldn’t have allowed the evidence to be admitted in Bonner and Karamea because that is all to do with getting documents from the Dept of Labor and that was in a situation where – have you got a copy of the case?

MR MURRAY:   	No you had the advantage on me because I have not read the Bonner case and based on my knowledge, and I haven’t read the Beynon case either, I’ve only had the Human Rights Commission case which refers to those other authorities.

CHAIR:   	Well no that's – Mr Hindle have you got a copy of the cases that you could make available.

MR HINDLE:   	Yes.

MR MURRAY:   	I’m not a great speed reader so I might have to come back on that but perhaps if I round off my submission and I may have to look at those cases more closely but anyway, that is the first point, and the Beynon case did seem to be distinguishing between information and testimony, which was the word used there.   The second point on the discretion of course that the factors mentioned are all relevant and indicative that the discretion should be exercised in favour of the summons being issued, however there may be countervailing factors such as overriding consent and factors like that which perhaps it’s more for counsel assisting to address on.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR MURRAY:   And I just warn that it’s all one way, the weight is obviously very strong on the factors you’ve mentioned, but there may be countervailing factors.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR MURRAY:   A third point arises from my friend Mr Corkill’s submissions.  If I can endorse them to this extent, that if there is a legal difficulty and if the Inquiry does hesitate after hearing all submissions, the other way to proceed is by endeavouring to obtain consent.  Now I know that that has not been favoured by Professor Skegg up until now because he has apprehended there would be difficulties, a few consents may not be given, the study therefore may not be quite as effective as it would otherwise be.   Acknowledging those principles however, if the two organisations I represent can match the information and identify the 61 women, I can say that the Ministry and the Health Funding Authority together would be prepared to do whatever had to be done on an urgent basis to see if each of those persons could be contacted, or their relatives if the woman is deceased, and endeavour to get as many consents as possible.   And that may mean we are left with a few women who can't be contacted, or who don’t consent, and maybe that should be the focus of any coercive orders;   in other words, do the minimum necessary by coercion, recognising the privacy and informed consent principles.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR MURRAY:   I think those are the only submissions that I can make at the moment.

CHAIR:   Yes.   Well, it seemed to me, one of the reasons I wanted Mr Slane to appear was that the Privacy Act and the Privacy Health Information Code does not have any impact on the Commissions of Inquiry Act and the powers that we would be using, but nevertheless, the principles contained in the Code and the Act would provide good guidance in how to exercise the discretion, and certainly obtaining consent would be something taken into account.   The difficulty Professor Skegg had, and it’s a very understandable one, is that without getting access to the Cancer Register he didn't know the names of the women, so he was in the difficult position that he was told he needed to get their consent to access the Register but until he did he didn't know who they were.

MR MURRAY:   Yes, and the Ministry and the Health Funding Authority don’t have that difficulty and it occurred to me yesterday that that may mean they could make a lot of progress that Professor Skegg would not necessarily have been able to.  And the Health Funding Authority of course has already considerable experience of contacting women arising out of the Gisborne investigation, a lot of the information will be easily obtained and people will be able to be contacted.   A lot of thought would have to go into the nature of the contact, that first contact that would be made, and that would, I suspect, involve possibly Professor Skegg and the Ministry or Health Funding Authority person working together to ensure that the sensitivity was addressed but also the requirements of the study were addressed.   But I think those are just matters of tuning, really.

CHAIR:   What we had in mind was, because of concerns about other areas in order to be able to address this system issue problem, getting the incidence and mortality of cancer from the 3 regions – Tairawhiti, Eastern Bay of Plenty and Northland.   We picked those other two because they are also areas which are shown as having a high incidence of cancer, and I note one of the laboratories in the duRose study was seen as requiring further contact and ongoing monitoring was in an area with a high Maori population.  I don’t know whether that is in one of those areas or not, but given that they have a high incidence of cancer, we want to find out what the situation is there.  Now, if we got the data from the Cancer Register and the Screening Register produced, Dr Duggan would be in a position to look at that and draw the necessary inferences as to whether or not further steps need to be taken with the other areas.   So, really we would want to use the sub-poena duces tecum power now while we are all here sitting to receive that information and then, in terms of accessing medical files and going down the further levels, there is then the exercise of the s4(c) power and certainly, before resorting to that power, there could be an approach seeking consent.

MR MURRAY:   I understand all that Madam Chair, and the hard issue of course is s74A and whether that section 4(d) power in the Commissions of Inquiry Act has the authority on the case law to override, and in my submission it should not be left as an equivocal matter, the Inquiry would have to have a good level of assurance that that power existed, and on that the authorities will have to guide us.

CHAIR:   Yes.   My reading of Beynon  makes it very clear that it certainly applies to testimony in a court of law.   My reading of Bonner makes it clear to me that testimony includes not only oral evidence but material supplied to the court under a sub-poena duces tecum.   And the next issue then is whether those principles apply to a Committee of Inquiry having the powers of a Commission of Inquiry.  You don’t have Bonner do you?

MR MURRAY:   I have got copies in front of it.

CHAIR:   If you look at p378, lines 30 down, the court says, against that background, having set out what the legislation is:   “It would be unreal in my view to suggest that in enacting s13”, which is the section prohibiting access to information, “parliament had any intention of prohibiting evidence in the courts.   The argument about frustration of legislative intent, which prevailed in the 3 cases which I am distinguishing, has much less weight in respect of the statute.   At best the argument might have some limited weight in relation to the regulation making power.  That does not seem to me enough to justify an interpretation importing s13 into the realm of testimony.   Perhaps it’s something that you and Mrs Sholtens could look at, but my reading of Bonner is that it does cover the sub-poena duces tecum situation, and then the next question is are we more like the Human Rights Commission in the Human Rights Commission v Minister of Labour case, or are we more like a court?  And when you look at what was happening in the Human Rights Commission case, which was where they were in the process of investigating whether or not there had been a contravention of that act, it looks more like their sort of investigating role which could end up with proceedings being taken to the Complaints Review Tribunal.   For example, the power they were using in s70(2) was an information gathering power, whereas when they appeared before the Complaints Review Tribunal they could apply to that tribunal for a sub-poena, but they didn't come at it in that way, it was in their first role – much like the police perhaps when executing a warrant or something like that.   There was a point, p109, line 20, it quotes s73(4) which limited their information gathering power and made it subject to other acts so if you were trying to use such an information gathering power in respect of – given Section 74A on the Human Rights Commission principal you would have to say 74A would prevail for information gathering but one you move beyond that to the realm of compelling evidence under summons it's  a different matter.

MR MURRAY:   	I agree that the Humans Rights case is distinguishable because of the different statutory provisions and in fact although the Crown Law Office opinion downplayed it's Section 138 of the Health Act may add some support to your analysis in this instance.  Probably I shouldn’t say any more now and counsel assisting would address on some of these issues more appropriate than I.

CHAIR:   	Right I’m interested to hear from you or from Mrs Sholtens simply because if the orders under Section 4D do issue, you of course will be subject to them and I want to know what your position is because I want to know whether they are going to be complied with or whether you are then going to turn around and say there is no jurisdiction for these.

MR MURRAY:   	Yes and I thought you’d press me for that reason and I think that's why I’m submitting that more than the usual level of assurance should  exist within the inquiry panel before such a summons is issued because it will place the Health Funding Authority in the position where it has to decide, does the power of the summons override Section 74A or not.  Of course if the issue is really difficult after all submissions have been given, the normal course is that one goes to the High Court to get a ruling to provide everyone with the level of assurance that's required and the problem is we just don’t have that luxury of time to do that so I think I’m duty bound to make two submissions.  One is my clients want to see the study go ahead and two, I have to submit there is that concern because of the strength of Section 74A as it is at the moment and I probably can’t take it further than that at the moment.

CHAIR:   	No that's fine, thank you.  Mr Hindle?

MR HINDLE:   	Yes ma’am if I can start with the question of Section 4C and Section 4D and just make sure that I am absolutely clear that although the committee might later consider using 4D powers to serve subpoenas on health care providers, laboratories, GPs and to get the clinical records, maybe even the women –

CHAIR:   	We’re not thinking of that.

MR HINDLE:   	That's what I want to make clear.  There's no suggestion at this stage that that be done because I would certainly want to be heard on that so we are only now talking about using the 4D power in connection with the information on the Screening Register.

CHAIR:   	And the Cancer Register.

MR HINDLE:   	Well the Cancer Register information is of course not subjection to Section 74A.

CHAIR:   	That doesn’t matter, there has been difficulty in getting access on the Cancer Register because the Cancer Register is requiring Ethics Committee.  If we have the power to require information we will use it, if that's the only way it can be readily available.

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am I’m not making myself understood very well.  I’m simply wanting to say at this stage that I’m clear that we’re not talking about the next step which is the patient files etc.  We’re only talking at this stage about what's on the Cancer Register and on the Cervical Screening Register.

CHAIR:   	That's right.

MR HINDLE:   	Now on that basis it seems to me that my friend Mr Murray does actually have to make up his mind what the position jurisdictionally is for his client because I confess that when I looked at the cases I came to the conclusion that the present circumstance falls somewhere between the Bonner Beynon position and the Human Rights Commission position and essentially for reasons that I think my friend Mr Murray has advanced, there is a tenable argument, I don’t say one that would ultimately succeed but there is a tenable argument that the position of this committee of inquiry is somewhere between  those two and I’m not sure that the answer is clear.  Now I’m perfectly happy to go into the detail of that but if my friend at a practical level doesn’t wish to take the point because he has decided after further considering the cases and taking instructions that the Ministry of Health  doesn’t wish to make an issue out of it, then it would be safe to proceed on the basis that the Ministry hadn’t challenged it.

CHAIR:   	No I don’t think that's good enough and it's not helpful. 

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am I’m happy to explain the reasons why I consider that the present circumstances fall between those two cases.

CHAIR:   	Yes I’d like to hear them.

MR HINDLE:   	The Bonner case was a case of litigation inter partes decided by the Court where there was a lease inter partes to be determined and the material if I can call it that that was sought was information that was directly probative on the question of damages.

CHAIR:   	Yes and just keep in mind this.  Certainly the committee of inquiry does not involve a lis inter partes but we are subject to the rules of natural justice and other procedural rules associated with bodies exercising in quasi judicial function.  The second point is that the whole reason why we are going through this exercise is because the committee considers, and we are unanimous on this, we consider that this evidence is fundamental to our answered the term of reference.  We are not just doing this because we think it might be interesting.  We are doing it because we’ve been asked to look at, in term of reference 3, if we do accept there has been an unacceptable level of under-reporting, to satisfy ourselves whether or not it was an isolated case rather than evidence of a systemic issue for the National Cervical Screening Programme.  So far, we have not heard any evidence upon which we could reliable answer the second part of term of reference 3.

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am I well appreciate that and I’m bound to say that in a way it was I who started this running with my letter of the 7 of July of the Cancer Register and no-one more than I wants to see the study done and I understand it's relevance to the terms of reference –

CHAIR:   	Yes I know all of that but what I’m saying to you is – I’ve said all this to you because you say to me that this is different to Bonner because in Bonner the information was sought to determine damages.  What I’m saying to you is that from the perspective of the committee of inquiry the information we seek from the Cancer Register and the Screening Register are as fundamental to our decision making in terms of forming conclusions for the benefit of writing a report to the Minister, as the evidence to go to damages was in Bonner.  That's how we see it.  Now if you think that our view on the necessity for this evidence is erroneous I’m very interested in hearing why.  I’m very interested in hearing generally why you would say that the obtaining of the evidence we seek from the Cancer Register and the Screening Register is different from the documentary evidence sought in the Bonner case.

MR HINDLE:   	Well ma’am it wasn’t just of course the evidence it was also the function of the Tribunal that was important to the outcome in the Bonner case on the one hand and the Human Rights Commission case on the other.  Now let me say again I’m not wanting to suggest that your view is erroneous I’ve been asked to –

CHAIR:   	No could you not please answer the question I’ve asked you though.  What is the difference as you see it between  the documentary evidence required in Bonner to answer the question of damages and the documentary evidence we seek in order to be able to fully answer term of reference 3.

MR HINDLE:   	The answer is this ma’am.  In the Bonner case, the evidence would have been the subject of examination and cross examination and tested for it's probative value.  The information which is sought from the Cancer Register is not going to I suggest be tested in that way, it is genuinely information, no-one’s going to be seeking to challenge what comes out of the Cancer Register or say no those were the –

CHAIR:   	Could we just deal with that point because you see I think that is an assumption that is being made.  This information will come in, it will be presented as a documentary exhibit like any other documentary exhibit, like the statistics is all the laboratories.   Now obviously we’re not going to release the document in a full form, or the two documents.   If we have printouts from both registers we’re not going to release it with all the names shown, just as we have suppressed the identify of all the laboratories and the statistics we've received.  But equally, it would be quite possible to release a sanitised version of these documents to all counsel.   They can have them.  If these documents come in under a sub-poena duces tecum as an exhibit they will get an exhibit number, then, in their original form, we will make a suppression order protecting the identities of the women and anything which might lead to their being identified, and they will be realised to all counsel and parties participating in the Inquiry in a sanitised form, in the way that laboratory statistics were.   The original will go to Professor Skegg because once we have them in our power as exhibits, as I understand it, we can then authorise him, under our power in s4(c) to inspect and examine them, and he can do that in the way that someone, in the Bonner case, seeing the documents, could look at it and then provide evidence as to financial loss so that damages could be calculated.

MR HINDLE:   Yes, ma'am, but I think if I can just put it in a nutshell.   This is the debate as to what is to come in is to be information or testimony, and I don’t want to take a position on that because I was only asked to indicate why I don’t think that the case is on all fours necessarily with Bonner.

CHAIR:   Well, I need you to tell me that.  You see, we've got a whole pile of exhibits behind us.   Evidence can be oral, it can be documentary.

MR HINDLE:   I understand that, ma'am, and I don’t doubt that if it comes in as an exhibit then it is in the form of evidence.

CHAIR:   Well, it is evidence.  It’s not in the form of evidence, it becomes documentary evidence in this hearing.   That’s what it will be, in the way that any other document that we have accepted has become evidence.

MR HINDLE:   Well, ma'am, I feel I've taken the point as far as I can.  It is ultimately, and where this started was, the need to get information through to Professor Skegg for him to analyse.   My friend Mr Murray, I think, can see something of what I'm saying from his earlier submission, but I don’t wish to persuade you one way or the other, I just asked what the argument is.

CHAIR:   Yes, but I'm looking for help.   I'm looking for help because I'm going to have to decide fairly quickly whether or not to issue an order any s4(d).   My understanding of the law, particularly before non-party discovery was available, was that if information that you required for the purposes of proving an element of your case was in the hands of a third party, one way of getting access to it, if it was relevant to your case, was to serve a sub-poena duces tecum on that person, have them come to court, have this material produced as a documentary exhibit, and then if it spoke for itself you could rely on that, if you needed someone to do something with it – in other words, if it were accounts which you needed expert accounting advice on, you did that.   You built on it.   But that is the way things used to be.   I can't see why, given that we are a Committee of Inquiry with the powers of a Commission of Inquiry, with the power ultimately if witnesses do not voluntary come to us or if there is something prohibiting them from coming, why we can't exercise our powers under 4(d) requiring a witness to come for the purpose of oral evidence or to produce documentary evidence to us.

MR HINDLE:   Ma'am, in respect of information, I’m bound to say that I was thinking about this in terms not only of the Cancer Register/Cervical Screening Register information, but also the potential that these orders might apply in relation to patient files.

CHAIR:   I don’t want to go into patient files at the moment.

MR HINDLE:   I now understand that to be so and I accept that if one limits the analysis to the question of what's on the Cancer Registry and what's on the Cervical Screening Register, I think it would be very hard to argue that that isn't relevant, germane evidence.  But my friend has obviously raised the point about that and we need to know whether the Ministry’s going to take it.

CHAIR:   No, we don’t.   I need to know whether I have the jurisdiction to issue an order, because if I have doubts about whether or not I have the jurisdiction to do so and I go ahead anyway and do it, that actually amounts to misfeasance in public office.

MR HINDLE:   Ma'am, I wouldn't submit that that would apply in relation to this question of whether or not information on the Cancer Register and the Cervical Screening Register is not evidence.  I’m willing to accept, and I agree that is almost certainly evidence that you can call for by way of sub-poena, but the other aspect which I need to raise relates to the function of the Inquiry.  Now in the Bonner case you have a court of law deciding, as I said, a lease inter partes;   in the Human Rights Commission case you have a Commission engaged in an investigatory way, and as a Commission of Inquiry of course one could sustain an argument that you are also engaged in an investigatory exercise and –

CHAIR:   Could we just explore that, because it seemed to me that, with the Human Rights Commission I’m familiar with the way in which they work.  They make investigations, they obtain information.  Putting aside issues about the mediation settlement provisions of their Act, if they think that there has been a breach of the Human Rights Act the proceedings commissioner then lays a complaint with the Complaints Review Tribunal and the Complaints Review Tribunal hears the complaint and makes a decision on it.   So it seems to me that the Human Rights Commission is quite different in its function from that of a Committee of Inquiry.

MR HINDLE:    yes, although a Committee of Inquiry is also somewhat different from a court of law in that the outcome of your work is a report and also that you aren't obliged to take all of your – in this Inquiry it has all come in by way of formal evidence but that’s not an obligation a Committee of Inquiry always has, it can receive information in other forms, and at the end of the day the Committee of Inquiry doesn't have the same obligation to determine a lease inter partes of the sort that was at issue in the Bonner case.  

CHAIR:   At the same time, often the duties imposed on a body depends very much on the way in which it is sitting.   For example, if a body sits, even if it is not determining a lease inter partes, if it sits in certain circumstances where it has the trappings of a court of law, it adopts the processes of the court of law, it is more likely under the common law to enjoy an immunity.   I'm putting aside the statutory immunity we enjoy, but it is more likely to enjoy a common law immunity than if it has a purely investigatory role which it caries out in private.  And certainly when the courts have had to decide whether or not judicial immunity applies to bodies such as this, under the common law, they have looked at the trappings – whether they are the trappings of a judicial function being carried out.  Now the way this whole Inquiry has proceeded has been on the basis that evidence has been obtained, it’s been sworn testimony, documentary exhibits produced, in public, with cross-examination.

MR HINDLE:   Yes, ma'am, I appreciate all of that, of course, but the proposition I advanced was that the present circumstances fall somewhere between Bonner and the Human Rights Commission case, and it is the case that this is now a court of law and it is not deciding a lease inter partes, therefore it’s not –

CHAIR:   I know all of that, you’ve said that, but tell me this:   If you say it falls in between, that’s fine, I've tested with you the differences that you see.   What I would like to find out now is where do you think it falls in terms of exercising the power under 4(d)?   Either I've got the jurisdiction or I don’t.

MR HINDLE:   Well, ma'am, that’s why I think it would be helpful to hear what Mr Murray has to say because the only party I can conceive who might wish to take a position that was to the effect that you did not have jurisdiction – my own view of it is that you do have jurisdiction, but that there are tenable arguments to the contrary.

CHAIR:   With the greatest respect, Mr Hindle, it’s not a question of do I issue an order on the pragmatic basis that Mr Murray is not likely to object to it;   I can only issue an order such as is available to me under s4(d) if I believe, at the time I do so, that I have the jurisdiction to do so.   If I have doubts about the jurisdiction I'm not going to do it.  Now what I want from you, as counsel assisting is some guidance on the question to satisfy me, putting aside how Mr Murray might react, as to whether or not I have the power to do so.

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am you asked me to consider the cases and I have done so.

CHAIR:   	Yes.

MR HINDLE:   	I have done so with a view to trying to determine whether or not the position that you will enforce fall square within the position that we see in Bonner.  I have articulated the reasons why someone might run tenable argument, in my view  that they do not.  At the end of the day it is my submission, it would be my position, that you do have the jurisdiction to exercise a power in Section 4D to require from the Cancer Register and the Cervical Screening Register the information which you have identified.

CHAIR:   	And why do you say I have the jurisdiction.

MR HINDLE:   	Because at the end of the day ma’am I accept that the information you are after has probably got that sufficient character of evidence to come within the Bonner principal and although I don’t see the position of the committee as being on all fours the same as a Court of law, I suspect that if the matter were to be – it is my submission that the matter were to be fully analysed, the likelihood is that this inquiry would be held to have sufficient characteristics of a Court of Law to support the jurisdiction but those submissions were – I appreciate your comments that you may not have found them very helpful.  I could have simply stated those things I suppose but I did want to alert you to what I had thought about them.  The other thing I would like to say if I can move off those issues is that in relation to my friend Mr Corkill’s suggestion about consent, of course counsel assisting will work in that way at a very practical level for each person who consents there is a huge sort of paper trail exercise that's avoided so I would be delighted to do that with my friend.  Now ma’am unless I have –

CHAIR:   	The other point though is consent doesn’t come into it with getting access to the Cancer Register or the Screening Register because we don’t know who to go to to get consent.

MR HINDLE:   	That's a separate topic.  That's for down the track when we have a list and we know who we’re looking for.

CHAIR:   	And do you agree that once the committee is seized of the evidence it can then exercise powers under 4C permitting Professor Skegg to inspect and examine the evidence, that is the Cancer Register and the Screening Register?

MR HINDLE:   	Without doubt.

CHAIR:   	Thank you.  Mr Rennie?

MR RENNIE:   	Ma’am I wonder if I may be of some assistance on the point that's been troubling my friends and I respectfully agree with what you have said in respect of the subpoena duces tecum procedure.  There is actually a decision  last year of Justice Young’s Perry v Molteno  and I could make a copy of that available a little later this morning.

CHAIR:   	Thank you.

MR RENNIE:   	The relevance of that is that it deals with a subpoena duces tecum on process.  It's sites the old English authority and in the old days as you’ve more or less indicated ma’am it was competent to issue a subpoena and the effect of that subpoena was that the document or documents specified in it were brought to Court, handed to the Judge, the evidence so called that the person bringing the documents gave was only to authenticate the document and that with respect entirely disposes of the issue of information v’s evidence.  The Court then considered whether the document was in fact relevant and only then would it become available to the parties.  The parties didn’t see it until then.  What would be of interest to you ma’am in Perry v Molteno is that Justice Young refers to an English practice that has since grown up in recent time of using this procedure in pretty much the way that you have in mind where a nominal hearing date is fixed, the documents are brought to Court, they are looked at by the Court and the Court then makes them available to the parties.  Now with respect that is entirely analogous to what you have in mind and I would say with respect that you constitute it under Section 47 of the Health & Disabilities Services Act, the Minister as the Minister is competent to do, has given you power under Section 4D of the Commissions of Inquiries Act to issue subpoenas of this type.  If you issue a subpoena of that type you are caught with the need to specify the document or documents that you are looking for but I apprehend that that can be done.  If there is an issue under Section 74A or any other restraint, it is with respect a matter for the persons holding the information to direct their minds to and answer the subpoena if necessary by saying this limitation applies, we can’t provide it or we claim privilege or whatever it is they wish to say and I don’t think with respect you have to worry about that from your point of view unless and until that issue is raised against the subpoena and in my respectful submission you can go through that process, you can receive the information, then as you say under 4C you can determine who should  have that information and the process would run from there and I would suggest with respect that that pretty much disposes of all of that.

CHAIR:   	Thank you very much Mr Rennie it's very helpful and I’d very much like to get a copy of Perry v Molteno.

MR RENNIE:   	I’ll arrange it in the break ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Thank you.  Ms Thorpe I see you’re here.  Thank you very much by the way for the decisions and I’ll have your statutes returned as well I was most grateful to you for that.

MS THORPE:   	No problem ma’am.  I certainly don’t intended addressing here on the jurisdiction.  I have two problems with that.  The first is that I unfortunately am not able to dedicate myself wholly to the inquiry and so just couldn’t get up to speed with the kind of issues that have been discussed today. Secondly given that I appear for the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee I’m not actually sure that it's appropriate that we take a position in any event.   What I’d like to address you on ma’am is the exercise of your discretion and submissions taking into account that if you go down the 4D road that almost inevitably there will be the 4C consideration as to whether Professor Skegg should  view the information and again making it clear that I’m not advocating a position because really what is happening is a review of the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee decision so in those circumstances again I believe it would be inappropriate to advocate a particular view but what I’d like to do is perhaps briefly set out a view as to how the panel might approach their exercise of discretion and it seems to me ma’am that perhaps the first thing to do would be to ascertain the terms upon which approval might be given in the absence of any extraordinary circumstances or imperatives which have been brought to the attention of the panel.  Then if it's decided that disclosure would be approved without consent, well that really puts the matter to bed.  If without – in the absence of those imperatives, it was decided that consent might be appropriate then I believe it would be sensible for the panel then to go on to apply those imperatives and see if it leads them to the position where they would override their ordinary position.   Perhaps the first decision  that might help you would be to decide whether this is in fact audit or research and again the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee clearly took the view that it was research and we don’t seek to persuade you one way or the other.  I note that it was initially the proposal was referred to as a research project but it seems to use the term research and audit almost interchangeably throughout the document so I’m not sure that that's particularly helpful.  It may be that you reach the view that the proposed analysis of the information really does step it outside of the bounds of audit.  If you decided it was simply audit well then that may be helpful for you because that would not ordinarily require approval and it may be easier for you in terms of exercising the discretion.

CHAIR:   	Well certainly from our perspective if we exercise the Section 4D power we would be doing to get what we saw as documentary evidence which was foundation evidence which we would require Professor Skegg to interpret for us as a first step in this process of trying to see whether or not there is a systemic issue with the Cervical Screening Programme in respect of under-reporting or whether the issue is limited to Tairawhiti so in that sense we don’t see it so much as either research or audit but really as documentary evidence which is going to enable us to answer the term of reference 3.

MS THORPE:   	Yes ma’am I guess it's a question then of whether any further interpretation of that information might step outside those bounds and it may be that you reach the position where it's unclear and perhaps it's borderline and then in my submission the challenge for the panel is to decide whether in those borderline circumstances consent should  be sought.  So in the absence of other factors, if you reach the point where you had decided that in ordinary circumstances, without any imperatives, it might be appropriate to seek consent from the women to the disclosure of their records, you might like to take into account the considerations of the likelihood of identification in terms of reporting back and the increased sensitivity that may apply in terms of these particular women.   And I'm aware in making these submissions ma'am, that you have this morning indicated an extension to the breadth of the information that you're wanting to see.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MS THORPE:   In terms of the likelihood of identification, in my submission you would need to look at the proposed reporting of the data, and it’s not clear to me from the application whether it was proposed to extrapolate issues of ethnicity in the data – that’s unclear.  In my submission that may be something you took into account.   Whether it’s reported back solely in statistical form, whether that is in fact going to be enough to give you the information you require, and whether – if it is to go any further – even as statistical information – that provides sufficient guarantee of anonymity for the women.  At this point I would like to highlight that concerns about risks of identification, as I indicated on an earlier day, are very different from risks of breach of confidentiality.  And certainly the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee, I'm instructed, have no concerns about breach of confidentiality.   And then, of course, there's the additional issue ma'am of the increased sensitivity of these women, these particular women within the context of their particular circumstances, and whether that is a factor which might encourage the panel to be slightly more cautious in terms of whether they require consent or not.   Then, if we look at the imperatives, it seems that there are some significant imperatives which have been brought to attention, the first of which is the importance to the Inquiry and the need for speed in terms of that.  It had been suggested that the study was no longer necessary for the Inquiry in terms of dealing with the terms of reference, although it may be desirable, but I have heard you this morning ma'am really indicate that you do regard it as necessary.

CHAIR:   Yes, because the evidence of under-reporting that we've heard so far all relates to Dr Bottrill’s laboratory because it is only the slides from Dr Bottrill’s laboratory that were re-read.  And in terms of determining whether or not it is a systemic issue, we really need to look around for other evidence which will reassure us that if anything has gone wrong here – I’m speaking this way because we haven't written our report yet – whether or not it’s limited to the Gisborne region and limited to under-reporting by Dr Bottrill’s laboratory or whether it’s a wider problem.  

MS THORPE:    Yes, ma'am, that’s obviously a matter entirely for you, and I really was just picking up on the earlier suggestion that it may not be necessary, but that seems to have been clarified by you.

CHAIR:   Yes, that was what Professor Skegg said, but what he based that on, and of course he’s not fully familiar with our terms of reference and how we see them.

MS THORPE:    the Inquiry has had a need for the information within a tight timeframe, and that was advanced by Professor Skegg as a reason for perhaps bypassing the consent that might otherwise have been seen the Ethics Committee as appropriate.  I note that approval was actually given subject to those consents on 28 April, it was conveyed verbally.  And I raise that simply because it differs a little from the chronology set out in my friend Mr Hindle’s submissions.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MS THORPE:    So if there weren't that need for speed and there weren't that importance for the Inquiry, would consent be seen as appropriate?   If it were, do those factors, alone or in conjunction with other factors, lead you to a position where you would feel that it was justifiable to depart from the ordinary course?   The second imperative appeared to be the impracticability of contacting the women, and the question to ask to the panel is really how real is that impracticability?   There appeared to be a suggestion that past difficulties had given the view that there would be difficulties in this case.

CHAIR:   Yes, I think to be fair to Professor Skegg, the difficulty initially is that until you go to the Cancer Registry and get the names of the women concerned, and at the moment we know there are 61, you don’t know who they are in order to approach them to get their consent.  So it is a real catch 22 situation to say you can only have access to the Cancer Registry if you have the consent of the women concerned because it makes it impossible for the person seeking the information to get that consent.   All the person can do is go to the Cancer Registry and say “I want to get this information but I must have the consent of the women concerned, could you please approach them and see if they will give consent.”

MS THORPE:    Yes, I appreciate that difficulty ma'am, and it may be that the panel reaches the view that the two-step process is in fact a more appropriate way of approaching it in terms of at what point consent is appropriate.  Certainly, the Ethics Committee reached the view that consent was appropriate at all stages and again I reiterate it’s not my position here today to try and persuade you to their view or indeed otherwise.   We do know, however, and this was particularly in terms of Tairawhiti, that out of those 61 women 16 would consent, so that would have enabled at least a quarter of the work to have been commenced.   But it seems that there was no attempt to do that.  So in terms of deciding how important that imperative is, that may be something that you take into account as well.   The third imperative that seemed to come through was the necessity for the total catchment, in terms of the information to be gathered, and again that really is a matter for the panel ma'am as to whether they accept that 100% is the only way of obtaining the information or whether something slightly less than that may in fact have still yielded sensible information and may still yield sensible information.  We've heard many expressions of confidence, ma'am, that all of the women involved would want to give their consent because this is so important, and in those circumstances it may not have been and may still not be that difficult to obtain the consents that you need and for the matter to proceed in the consultative fashion that’s been discussed today.   In terms of women who may now be deceased, the Ethics Committee certainly accepts that the issues are somewhat different in relation to those women and I’m instructed that they were not seen as strong factors in terms of the decision which was reached.   Therefore, ma'am, in my submission it really comes down to that simple issue of without these imperatives how would we have approached this;  do these imperatives bring us to the view that we should take a different approach from that, and it may be that step one that you reach means that you don’t actually have to go down the road of step two.   I was asked by my friend Mr Corkill to see if I could get an indication from the committee as to whether their stance may have been different if you had resolved the privacy issues.   I haven't been able to of course get a decision that would represent a consensus decision of the committee, but what I can indicate to the committee, subject to the reservations that they did hold about the rights of the women involved and their right to give informed consent and their own individual needs and the concern about risks of identification, is that they certainly are supportive of the research itself and that is shown by their very early response to the decision given on 28 April, and they remain supportive of the research itself, ma'am.

CHAIR:   Thank you, Ms Thorpe.   Mr Murray, the benefit of hearing from counsel has been that initially when I came to this, on my reading of the case law I felt confident that the jurisdiction was there, however because it was a case where the committee of its own motion was going to exercise Section 4(d) power I wanted to be sure of jurisdiction, because I note under 4(d) it’s the Commission or a Committee may on its own motion or on an application, and certainly my experience of issuing summonses, when there is an application, it’s not an issue where leave is sought if you want to sub-poena a witness for a  court hearing you just go down to court and file a sub-poena and if there are any concerns about whether or not it is appropriate for the witness to disclose his/her evidence, that is raised subsequently.   Therefore, I've had a lot of assistance from what Mr Rennie has said about the approach of a sub-poena duces tecum being one, if I have jurisdiction to issue it under s4(d), as long as I feel convinced of that , then the whole circumstance of how s74A impacts on this sub-poena duces tecum and whether or not you feel you can release the information or not is really something that falls into your camp.

MR MURRAY:   Yes.

CHAIR: 	 don’t think I have to be – if I thought that 74A overrode the Section 4D power I wouldn’t issue a subpoena, I can’t see the point in issuing one in a futile situation but my own view, and I haven’t changed on this, in fact I’ve been assisting by hearing from other counsel, is that there is jurisdiction to issue a subpoena duces tecum, that type of information that the committee are seeking does come within the compass of a subpoena duces tecum and that Section 4D does on the basis of the case law override Section 74A of the Health Act and on that basis if the Health Funding Authority wanted to act as I say differently it could raise that as a reason for not producing the material.

MR MURRAY:   	The only point I’d make ma’am, I just wonder when you would be making this decision, if you were to make it say after 2 o’clock today it would just give me the morning to read these cases more carefully and get instructions.

CHAIR:   	Well what I will do because I was going to set out all the reasons because I was worried about how much time we were loosing but in brief my view is that there is jurisdiction under Section 4D and I also consider given that Section 4D says the commission may on it's own motion issue in writing a summons, I think this is an appropriate case for exercising the discretion because at this point in time we would be seeking information from the Cancer Register and from the Screening Register and I see no way of quickly getting that information – well now way at all of getting that information from the Screening Register and I can’t even see a way of getting it from the Cancer Register unless the persons at the Cancer Register office were to go through the process of contacting women to see if they would consent or not and that would take so long, particularly given now we have in mind to have Tairawhiti, Eastern Bay of Plenty and Northland Regions, I think the best thing to do is to get the information before the committee.  The other issue is that Dr Duggan has the ability once we received this information to look at it and to make some sense of it.  I think that is helpful, the whole purpose of having a highly qualified pathologist on the committee of inquiry and once we’ve got the information if her view is that there should  be clinical audits in regions other than Tairawhiti, then we will ask Professor Skegg if he is willing to inspect and examine the information and we will then look at what further information we need so we will do it on a step by step basis but just to speed things up rather than give full reasons my view is that the issuing of a subpoena duces tecum is normally a pretty ordinary matter and just to make the order now.

MR MURRAY:   	The actual wording of the order might require a little bit of care just to ensure we capture the information from both registers that you require and for the regions that you require.

CHAIR:   	In that area I would need assistance from the Ministry of Health , Health Funding Authority if you were going to assist in two ways.  One is you could tell me how to best describe this information so I can have it noted on the subpoena duces tecum.  The other idea I had in mind if you were willing to cooperate was if you would create a new document which was in fact an information matching of the Screening Register and the Cancer Register for the 3 regions so that rather than get what I imagine to be at the moment a computer print out of the Screening Register history of women in those areas and the Cancer Register data on women in those areas, we would get a document which had matched that information.  Now if that's not possible  it may be that you just have to print out the base information and it will have to then be looked at manually, the necessary linkages will have to be done manually and in the case of Tairawhiti there are 61 women it should  be easy enough to get the names of the 61 women on the Cancer Register and then look for their screening histories.  We may need a document, if they’re indexed by health identifier number, we may need some other document which will allow us to identify them.

MR MURRAY:   	There are some practical issues about that because Ms Matcham is the next witness to be giving evidence and I would need some expert advice from her before we could craft up the sort of wording for the subpoena that would be appropriate and it's just a timing matter I suppose.

CHAIR:   	Well I’m conscious to move quickly.  If we moved on to Ms Matcham’s evidence.  I’ve now said my view as yes the subpoena should  issue.  Once her evidence is complete you could perhaps, particularly if you give some thought to it over the lunchbreak you could give some assistance as to how the subpoena should  be worded, we can then issue it and I can give you a reason decision  as well for why I am issuing the subpoena and you’ll have the benefit of that and then you can sit down and consider whether or not the Ministry of Health , Health Funding Authority feels that it can comply with the subpoena or whether you consider Section 74A overrides it.

MR MURRAY:   	The sharp issue is not so much whether the Ministry and Health Funding Authority want t comply they certainly do.

CHAIR:   	I understand that.

MR MURRAY:   	But the risk is that somebody else will come along and say you shouldn’t have complied with that.

CHAIR:   	Well that's why if I give you – I’m telling you now what I’m going to do to get it out of the way quickly so we can move on to Ms Matcham but I will as soon as I get a chance write a reasoned decision which at the latest I would have out by tomorrow so you will have the subpoena plus my reasons in writing as to why I consider it appropriate to make a subpoena under Section 4D knowing about the existence of Section 74A.  Once you are armed with that you can then get another Crown Law opinion or provide your own opinion, or Mrs Sheltons can provide an opinion and I’m sure the Ministry, Health Funding Authority will be very well advised.

MR MURRAY:   	By all concerned.

CHAIR:   	So on that basis, unless you’ve got anything more to say?

MR MURRAY:   	No and we’ll do some work during the day on the wording that might catch what the inquiry is after in the document.

CHAIR:   	That's fine.  Mr Kirton”

MR KIRTON:   	Madam Chair just in regard to the spread in which you wish to undertake, you’ve talked about Eastern Bay of Plenty, Northland, I just wondered whether it was worth considering the extent to which you wanted to go, whether in fact they were the truly identifiable areas of significant concern in other words the incidence known to you was sufficient for you to take that step, to issue a subpoena in regard to those areas, or whether in fact you may wish to take another approach and that is to look at perhaps the top 25% of those areas, sorry to do that to you but I wondered, given that the body of your approach has been to give weight to the term of reference in other words, justifying term of reference 3 whether you need to go a little further than those 2-3 areas.

CHAIR:   	Well we may do.  The difficulty here is if we had been fully appraised of this issue at the outset of the committee of inquiry we could have exercised these powers then.  The whole issue could have been looked at and we could have exercised the powers and throughout the inquiry we could have had information coming in but we are not in that position, certainly the other two areas are areas of high cancer incidence and they are areas that have concerned Professor Duggan so we don’t have the luxury of going further.  We’ve picked two other areas because they are high incidence areas and because from a number of sources of evidence now documentary and oral I have learned that one of these clinical audits is one of the best ways of seeing whether or not a programme is failing and if we want to be in a position to advise the Minister as to whether or not there is a systemic issue, this is one way of going about it.  The Rolls Royce approach would be to audit every region.

MR KIRTON:   	Entirely Madam Chair and it give a little more weight to your position given that these areas are somewhat more discreet in terms of the laboratories which are servicing them so it adds weight to those two areas.

CHAIR:   	Thank you well I think we’ve taken it as far as we can.  Now you all know I’m going to make the order and I will come back to Mr Murray later in the day to get the wording of the order and I’ll give a fully reasoned decision  in writing setting out my reasons which you will have by tomorrow morning and I now intend to adjourn until 11:15 when we will move on to Ms Matcham’s evidence.



INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 11:15



�

INQUIRY RESUMES AT 11:29



MS SHOLTENS called –

SANDRA MARY MATCHAM     (Sworn)

My full name is Sandra Mary Matcham.   I am the Register Co-ordinator for the National Cervical Screening Programme based in the Health Funding Authority in Wellington.  I've sworn an affidavit in preparation for this hearing today, and I have that with me.  Paragraph 8 refers to my background in the Information Technology industry from 1969 until 1976 and then again from 1987.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	You have experience at all levels of application programming and design as well as management of support facilities for end users.

A:   	Yes correct.

Q:   	And experience of programme management for a range of project sizes.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you’ve been doing your current job since July 1994.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now can I just ask you there is one error in your affidavit that you’d like to correct is that right?

A:   	That's correct

Q:   	Paragraph 91 Madam Chair.  There’s reference there to the third report where you are talking about the statistical reports

A:   	It should  have been the second report.

Q:   	The second report.  Just make that change.  And otherwise you confirm your evidence.

A:   	I do.

Q:   	Can I just ask you to turn to volume 2 of your exhibits, exhibit 5.  Madam Chair this is really just to check that people have an original of the exhibit when the affidavits were put together we had a shortage of current forms on hand but I have a pile of them here and I thought it important that the panel certainly had the original form.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MS SHOLTENS

CHAIR:   	Who do these forms go to?

MS SHOLTENS:   	Ms Matcham can you explain?

A:   	Each smear-taker  can request these forms from the regional programme sites and they use one of these each time they take a smear.

CHAIR:   	Thank you very much.

MS SHOLTENS:   	So the panel has the original forms.

CHAIR:   	Yes.



MS SHOLTENS ADDRESSES CHAIR & CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MS SHOLTENS:   	I have some more here if any of my friends need them.  Madam Chair there are three further exhibits that we thought might be of assistance in understanding particular the Register reports, the first is a description of data on the National Cervical Screening Register, three page document do you have that.

A:	Yes.

Q:   	And the second of these documents is headed National Cervical Screening Programme  Revised Bethesda Coding Standard.

A:	Yes I have that.

Q:   	Is that the current Bethesda standard?

A:   	That's the one that we’ve been using since November 1998.

Q:   	And the third document is National Cervical Screening Programme  Snowmed Coding for Histology.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Is that the current coding?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And does it also indicate earlier codes?

A:   	We currently use two different formats depending on what the laboratories will send us so it has a conversion between  the two codes.



MS SHOLTENS ADDRESS CHAIR

MS SHOLTENS:   	Can we produce those documents please Madam Chair?

CHAIR:   	Yes Certainly.

MS SHOLTENS:   	I think we’re up to number 23.

[Exhibits SMM/HFA/023 to 025 produced]



MS SHOLTENS CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MS SHOLTENS:   	And just one final point of clarification.  Ms Matcham your exhibit 17 in your volume 2.  That's the histology correlation with smears for laboratory report.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That report was referred to Dr Teague when he gave his evidence at B1469 of the transcript and he was asked by Dr Duggan and I’m referring to B1471 about his evidence that he believed these reports had been received in his laboratory only 6 months ago.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	He did say I’m not sure as I’m not administering that dept any longer.  I’m not sure when we first got a report like this, I thought it was about 6 months ago.  He thought you’d be able to assist with the exact date.  

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Have you made some inquiries about that?

A:   	I have, I’ve checked with the Wellington regional programme and they sent the first report around about Feb of 1998 which covered the period right back to 93.  Since then they’ve sent the report 4 further times covering the period up to the end of 1999.  The report is sent to the cytology dept directly.

Q:   	So who would receive it.

A:   	Dr Peter Bethwaite.

Q:   	Thank you.  If you’d just answer any further questions.  Thank you Ms Matcham.





MR CORKILL XXN WITNESS

MR CORKILL:   	Madam Registrar I wonder if the witness could be shown the exhibit and notes of patient 5 please.  I just want you to turn Ms Matcham to NMP/WA/001, it's an exhibit that you’ll find attached to the brief of evidence of patient 5.  Now I think it's correct that that particular patient also produced a second exhibit which was 002, have you got that perhaps behind that particular document?  I’ll ask Madam Registrar to assist you.  Patient 5 002 exhibit there Madam Registrar.  If it's not I’ll do it off 001.  That's alright.  Ms Matcham if you go to the screening programme printout which is just in from the back.   I’m sorry, at this stage we were not paginating, we soon learned the error of our ways.

CHAIR:   It’s going to become worse when we try to describe things from the transcript in the report.

MR CORKILL:   I’m sure we’ll cope.  It’s about 5 pages in from the back of 001 Ms Matcham, do you see that, of the abnormal smear history for Patient Five?

A:    Yes.

Q:    I want you to put your finger in there and I want you, about 4 pages prior to that, to note a Medlab Hamilton histology report which has got “date collected 18/6/98 on it, and date reported 24/6/98”.  I just want to discuss with you a coding issue that seems to arise from this particular report.   You will see on the Medlab report date collected 18/6/98, date reported 24/6/98, that the diagnosis was CIN II in the biopsy from the interior lip.

A:    Yes.

Q:   And a couple of lines below that it says that it was enrolled in the programme under two numbers.

A:    Correct, yes.

Q:    Now can we take your exhibit 25 that you’ve just produced, which is the SNOMED coding for histology.  

A:    Yes.

Q:    And turn to p2 of that exhibit to identify the relevant codes for what we’re looking at in Patient 5.

A:    Yes.

Q:    My understanding of the coding document is that there are two vertical columns, one for the 1986 coding numbers and one for the 1993 coding numbers?

A:    Yes, that’s right.

Q:    And it would seem that Medlab Hamilton was using the 1986 coding sequence, would it not, because we see the number M74007 beside the entry for CIN II in the 86 vertical column?

A:    Yes, that is right.

Q:    But at the stage this report was received, which was in mid-98, by the programme, you were using the 93 coding sequence, is that correct?

A:    Yes.

Q:    So the M74007 translated into M67017?

A:    Yes, that’s right.

Q:    But M67017 applied not only to CIN II but also to CIN III, is that correct?

A:    That’s right, yes.   There is no SNOMED equivalent to CIN II in the 1993 version.

Q:     Whereas it had been a different number under the 86 code, it was now the same number under the 93 code?

A:    That’s right.

Q:     Now the entry that emerged on the Register, therefore, was M6 – and I’m looking at the third entry down on the exhibit that shows the Register entries – for 18/6/98, it came out as M67017, CIN II/III (severe squamous dysplasia) carcinoma-in-situ, and it’s got that particular entry because of the overlap of coding between CIN 2 and CIN III has it not?

A:    That's right, yes.

Q:    and indeed I should have pointed out that the M67017 applies not only to CIN II and III but also to carcinoma-in-situ?

A:    Yes.

Q:    So if you put in 67017 you actually get three entries emerging on the Register.   But it also says on the Register entry “vein 2, 3 with T82,000”.

A:    that’s right, yes.   The T82,000 refers to a vaginal specimen rather than a cervical specimen.   If you look two lines above the M67017 it says that this is a cervical specimen T83,200 code.

Q:    Now in this particular instance with Patient Five, there was a T83,000 entry from the reporter, but there was a T80,300 code, so what did that translate when it was entered on the Register?

A:    the T83,000 in the 1986 code translates to a T83,200 in the 1993 codes, which means it’s a cervical specimen.

Q:    so in point of fact there was no vaginal specimen in this case.

A:    that’s correct.

Q:    And what the entry on the Register is telling us is that if there had been a T82,000, then that would have meant there was a vaginal specimen but in point of fact there was not in this case?

A:    that’s right, yes.

Q:    Do you see potential for confusion, particularly for a lay person such as a lawyer picking up a copy of a register printout like this – more particularly the patient I have to say.

A:    Yes, certainly.   Having had it shown to me in the light that it was used, I do realise there is some obvious confusion there.   We have looked into how that is now printed.  I apologise for the confusion, especially in the patient.   These reports were originally designed for smeartakers and laboratories and it was a means of getting reports out quickly during the Inquiry rather than changing them.

Q:    Has this confusion ever arisen before as far as smeartakers are concerned?

A:    I've never heard anything – certainly not come back to myself.  There may have been some comment to local register sites.



CHAIR:   Ms Matcham, is it usual for patients to obtain a printout of their smear history in this fashion?

A:    I don’t know of any occasion before the Gisborne situation.

Q:    And the way the smear history has been designed by the Register staff, my understanding is you intend it to be read by the smeartakers who are informed persons able to interpret the necessary codes and understand the information, is that correct?

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    And they’ve never been designed to be released to the public on the basis that they're going to be fully informative to the public?

A:    Not to my knowledge, no.

Thank you.



MR CORKILL:   Just for the record, Madam Chair, the other patient where this problem also crops up is Patient 13, Wendy Ure.   Thank you, we will put those documents away at this stage.  Just one or two other matters, Ms Matcham.   At para 6 of your brief you refer to the various persons to whom you reported and the departments within which the Register was located over the period of your involvement with the Register, which is from July 94 to March 2000.

A:    Yes.

Q:    Which was the date of your brief I think when it was prepared roughly?

A:    Yes, it was roughly then.

Q:  Now that seems to be a total of no fewer than 6 different line accountabilities or departments within which the Register was located over that period, is that correct?

A:    I’ll have to count them.   We have moved around a lot.  I think I make it 5 actually.

Q:    Well, it’s July 1994, number 1, November 95 number 2, July 96 number 3, April 98 number 4, October 98 number 5 and 13 March 96.

A:   	Yes I probably didn’t count the 13 March one sorry.

Q:   	So are we agreed on 6?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now in each instance when there was a change, where new personnel becoming involved who had not previously had involvement in Cervical Screening Programme administration?

A:   	Possibility  at a higher level of the accountability line but not directly from my perspective.  We moved from the July 96 - I continued with the same manager for a short period after which we changed to – I was reporting to the prevention policy team which we did get a new line account manager.  From there I stayed with the same team until we moved to the Health Funding Authority but the team around the Register was actually the same team, we had different managers again.

Q:   	So although the team may have contained some of the same personnel, those leading the team changed no each occasion?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And those generally were persons who had not had prior involvement in the programme?

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	Was that disruptive for the programme?

A:   	From my perspective not particularly, from the register’s perspective, because I had a fixed role that I was in the process of completing at each time.  From the wider programme it possibility  was disruptive.

Q:   	So you’re drawing a distinction between  your particular functions which were aimed at the IT side of the register.

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	And drawing a distinction between  that and the overall running of the programme which of course is a much more complex operation because of the contact with so many different providers.

A:   	That's right yes.

Q:   	And you can see that those changes were in all probability disruptive.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Can we go please to paragraph 100 of your brief.  This is the issue of the delays in histology results being sent to the Register and you say in paragraph 100 that there were currently 5 laboratories not sending any results electronically over the last 2 months, two more letters have been sent to non compliant laboratories and we have seen those letters in Dr Peter’s evidence.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I don’t recall off hand the last of those letters but I think it was 4 or 5 months ago.  Has there been a satisfactory response since?

A:   	I’m currently testing the software of one laboratory and I heard last week that another laboratory will soon be sending me a test disc. through but there are still as far as I am concerned 5 who are not sending anything electronically.

Q:   	And what is being done to your knowledge to deal with that issue?

A:   	The laboratories are being contacted regularly to see how they are progressing.  Two laboratories are in the process of getting test discs out, a third laboratory is currently working with their software suppliers and the management within the laboratory itself to progress the matter but they had no timeframe on that one.  A fourth laboratory has estimated it will be July I think next year, 2001, before they will have a computer system in place that can do it and I’ve no idea about the fifth one I’m afraid.

Q:   	Now you’ve said in your paragraph 101 that there are various consequences of having incomplete histology results.  I just want to ask you about the fifth of those which is the correlation reports between cytology and histology.  You say at 102 that such reports are now available for the laboratory that reads the cytology.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	How long has that been the position?

A:   	That report has been available since approximately the end of 1997.  Most regions starting using it very early in 1998. 



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Is that the report Mrs Sholtens took you to?

A:   	That's correct yes.

Q:   	And that's the one you said I thin for Wellington it was the report you were shown that was printed on 28 February 1998.

A:   	Yes around about that time yes.

Q:   	So if we want to put some time it we could say late 1997 it became – or early 1998 that the reports became available.

A:   	Yes.



MR CORKILL CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR CORKILL:   	Were they available on request or were they available routinely in that they were dispatched routinely to all effected laboratories?

A:   	The sites were encouraged to contact their laboratory and tell them of the availability and I think they all sent out a report early in 98 on the proviso that their histology was up to date at the time.  Since then each individual site has made arrangements with the local laboratories on how often they will send them. Some send them monthly some send them three monthly.

Q:   	Are all laboratories who are sending in histology receiving these reports regularly at this stage to your knowledge?

A:   	It's cytology laboratories that receive them sorry not the histology.

Q:   	Yes but you made a distinction a moment ago that it would depend on whether they were lodging the histology reports or not.

A:   	I think there’s a bit of confusion.  The majority of cytology is done by the community laboratories.  The majority of the histology is done by the hospitals.  The report is useful for the cytology laboratory to show them the difference between  their reporting cytology and what the hospitals have reported from histology.  So laboratories that send the cytology receive a report of the women whose information we have received histology from a different laboratory.

Q:   	I understand, so if we go to your tab 17 which is the report we are discussing is it not.

A:   	It is yes.

Q:   	And under description of report you’ve made that point by saying this report lists for each laboratory that has reported on a cytology smear any histology results for the same women that were reported by another laboratory.

A:   	That's correct yes.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Excuse me Ms Matcham, good morning.  Is this the format in which the laboratories receive these reports?

A:   	It is yet.

Q:   	There’s no analysis done?

A:   	There’s none at all.

Q:   	Who does the analysis?

A:   	As in statistical?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	At the moment we do a separate report that is a statistical analysis of the correlation.  That has been kept in house only so far.  It's only been available for the last few months.  At this stage the laboratories have been doing their own analysis of the contents of the report.

Q:   	So all laboratories do their own analysis.

A:   	I can’t guarantee that.  The report is made available to them to use whichever means they need.

Q:   	But the programme does it's own analysis?

A:   	We have our own statistical analysis of the correlation yes.

Q:   	Have we seen copies of that?

A:   	No you haven’t, it wasn’t available when I did my brief and it was missed out at a later stage.  There are copies available if you would like them.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Have you just recently done this.

A:   	It's only been available for the last few months.

CHAIR:   	Could we please – Mrs Sholtens.

MS SHOLTENS:   	Yes ma’am.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	And Ms Matcham is there a documented methodology in these reports of how you are actually doing it?

A:   	The actual front of the report, because this hasn’t been used to a great extent yet, it actual says on the repot exactly what we are doing.



MS SHOLTENS ADDRESSES CHAIR

MS SHOLTENS:   	Actually I do have copies of a sample here so we can produce that.

CHAIR:   	We’ll have copies made.

MS SHOLTENS:   	I’m not sure how many we’ve got here but I do have a couple.

CHAIR:   	Well if you keep one for yourself and we can get copies made.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Ms Matcham my second query about these reports are, if I can describe the situation perhaps you can let me know how you address it.  A woman has a high grade smear.  She goes, has her first colposcopic visit, a biopsy is taken, the biopsy does not confirm what was seen on the pap smear.  She may go on to have a cone biopsy at a later date.

A:    No.

Q:    In the reports that you generate for the laboratories, you just correlate the Pap smear with the first colposcopic [inaudible] biopsy, is that correct?

A:    The detailed one per woman gives all the histology results.  The one that we’re doing internally at the moment, it doesn't say what we do.  Yes, the one on the statistical correlation only uses the initial histology after the smear, it doesn't use subsequent histologies unless there's another smear in between.   No, this is one of the questions we had when they originally devised the report, as to whether we’re actually looking at the correct information.

Q:    Is this topic still being discussed?

A:    It is, yes.

Q:    is there an acceptance that looking at the woman’s disease may be more appropriate way to look at these correlations?

A:    I understand that is the correct way to go, yes.   From the Register’s information we haven't done this report in that way yet.



MR CORKILL:   Perhaps we can produce that table as an exhibit if we may.

CHAIR:   Yes.

[Exhibit SMM/HFA/026]

MR CORKILL:   Ms Matcham, if you go to tab 18, I think in this tab you’ve got a range of reports, have you not, and I particularly want to go to p23 of that exhibit, then numbers are in the top right corner, where you have a series of reports called statistical reports.

A:   Sorry, tab 18?

Q:    I’m in tab 18 and I’m at p23 of the tab.   Now my understanding of the way this exhibit has been set up is what we see on pp23 and 24 is a narrative description of the 4 statistical reports which then follow, the first of which is on p25.

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    So the individual statistical reports are at pp25, 32, 35 and 37.

A:    Yes, that’s right.

Q:    In each case a narrative description is given for each of those 4 reports?

A:    Yes.

Q:    So can we just look at one as an example, please.  If you go to p25, this is described as the statistical report for cytology reporting patterns.

A:    Yes

Q:    Frequency is as required.   Does that mean that when someone requests it or what does that mean?

A:    Originally it was by request from the laboratory or regional sites would have sent them periodically.   Now some sites would have sent them 3 mthly, others possibly 12 mthly.   For the last 2 years approximately I've been generating the reports at a national level and forwarding them to the regional sites.   So they are now produced 6 mthly.

Q:    And attached to that page, at pp26 to 31, is a global report for the period 1 July 98 to 31 December 98, is that correct?

A:    Yes, that’s right.

Q:    Now within the report, it’s broken down as to adequacy on p26?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Diagnoses on p28, and recommendations on p30?

A:    Yes, that’s correct.

Q:    And perhaps you can take us through an example.   If we go to adequacy and we go to code A1, which remind us is?

A:    Code A1 is a smear is adequate for diagnosis.

Q:    And can you just take us across the columns for that particular code so that we understand how this works?

A:    the count is the number of times this particular laboratory has reported code A1.  For a % of that laboratory it’s 67% of all of their results.   Nationally we don’t give a figure for the number of smears taken nationally, but the code A1 is reported 81% of the time.

Q:    Across all laboratories?

A:    Across all laboratories, yes.

Q:    Right.  Now if we go across to diagnoses perhaps you could choose another example where you could describe what's going on for diagnoses, or perhaps over the page we could do the high grades at p29.

A:    It works in a very similar manner.   The high grade codes, which ones -

Q:    C3A to B?

A:    C3A to B is the CIN II, CIN III codes, and individually C3A to B has been reported 5 laboratories with this laboratory, which is .084% of all of their reports.  Nationally it would be .115 of all reports.

Q:    This is smears, no women, is that correct?

A:    This is smears, and there also may be more multiple diagnosis codes on an individual smear.   So the total of diagnoses codes will not necessarily total the number of smears.

Q:    I think the high grades run from C3A to B down to C3A to B7?

A:    That's correct, yes.

Q:    And coming over to p30 we've got the recommendation codes, I think B2 B0, the first one is report smear normal interval

A:    that’s correct, yes.  

Q:    Again, this is the same format as we saw for the adequacy codes?

A:    that’s correct, yes, and the total of those codes should equal the number of smears reported.

Q:    is there any other comment you want to make about that?

A:    B2 B0 can be used for repeat at normal interval, which is 3 years for women with normal or 1 year for a woman with an abnormal history.  Some laboratories will use B2 B0 for that.   Others will use B2 B7 for one year recall.



CHAIR:   When did you start generating these reports?

A:    these reports have been available in a different form right from approximately 1992 I think.  Initially they compared with the regional health board rather than national.   They’ve been available nationally, with national comparison, since middle of 97 approximately.

Q:    I don’t think we've seen any, Mrs Sholtens I know that we've seen then at statistics relating to Dr Bottrill’s laboratory which have been realised after he had retired, but in view of what Ms Matcham says about regional statistics –

MRS SHOLTENS:    We do have some examples in Dr Boyd’s exhibits, ma'am, against the Area Health Board.

CHAIR:   Do we know if Dr Bottrill would have got anything?   I suppose, given that he was the only community laboratory in Tairawhiti region, it’s not as if he would be measuring himself.   

MRS SHOLTENS:    I think I know the answer, but I just hesitate.   I think Sharon Reid did address this in her evidence.   Sorry, I can't recall where it is at the moment, but I am sure she did address it.

CHAIR:   we will look into it, it’s all right.

MS GIBSON:   Ma'am, if it would be of assistance, there was a passage in Dr Bottrill’s brief, which I just don’t have to hand at the moment but I’m happy to locate the para number, which indicated that he did receive reports about adequacy of smears and things of that nature.

CHAIR:   Right.

MS GIBSON:   But it compared him against his region and accordingly there was no further information to be gained from that.

CHAIR:   That’s fine.

MS GIBSON:   I will list the para number for you at some time.

CHAIR:   Thank you very much, that’s helpful.   So mid-97 on a national basis where a laboratory could compare itself with the laboratories nationally?

A:   	That's correct yes.



MR CORKILL ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR CORKILL:   	Madam Chair I took this witness to those particular reports merely to open them up as it were for discussion.  I’m really in the committee’s hands I don’t think I’ll ask any further questions.  I’ll leave it to the committee to explore such further reports as you may wish to.

CHAIR:   	Very well.  Don’t rely on us to do so though.  If there’s something you’d like to have explored do it.

MR CORKILL:   	I’ve done what I need to do.

CHAIR:   	OK, anyone else.  Ms Janes?



MS JANES XXN WITNESS

MS JANES:   	Perhaps just while we’re actually on that report if I could just explore it slightly further.  Was it possible  to get regional breakdowns without the national comparison prior to the 1997 date that you’ve mentioned?

A:   	Until Feb 97 not all sites were connected into the national database.  Any information – the regions where they had multiple laboratories could do a general regional breakdown but in the case of Tairawhiti where there was mainly the one laboratory plus the hospital which didn’t do very many, the regional breakdown was available but there wouldn’t have been a lot of information there.

Q:   	Are you able to indicate whether, we know that Dr Bottrill sold his laboratory in March 1996 and that immediately these smears were sent to the MedLab Hamilton for reading of the cytology and histology.  Is it possible  from the register to produce a report similar to these ones that my learned friend has taken you to that would show the breakdown by Bethesda coding for just the Gisborne Tairawhiti slides, not aggregated with the MedLab Hamilton slides?

A:   	Yes it is possible .

Q:   	And that would be able to be done from March 1996 to the present?

A:   	Yes.  I believe some of the Tairawhiti region slides go to Palmerston North rather than MedLab Hamilton.

Q:   	So you would be able to produce a report that would separate out the ones that went to MedLab Hamilton v’s the ones that went to Palmerston North.

A:   	We could do that if it was required.

Q:   	Thank you.  And just following a point that was indicated earlier, these reports essentially are sent to the laboratory but without comment from the National Cervical Screening Programme as to what it means or whether that laboratory should investigate any concerns that are raised by these reports?

A:   	That's correct yes.

Q:   	Are you aware if any indication or guidelines have been forwarded from the programme, not necessarily the Register, to the laboratories in assisting them how to interpret these reports given their particular demographics and population?

A:   	I don’t know of anything.  I don’t believe it has.

Q:   	If I may I’ll take you through your brief pretty much by paragraph because you’ve very helpfully set them out but you may be aware that quite a few people have volunteered you for other purposes so I may just deal with your brief and then go to the other questions.

A:   	Sure.

Q:   	Just very quickly at paragraph 19 you indicate that women have – each woman has a unique identifier number and we’ve heard discussion about the national health index number.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And I understand also that when the reconfiguration of the Register took place, one of the major delays was because of duplications on the record.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	If we can explore that in several layers.  Firstly the national health index number.  Can you explain how that is utilised by the Register?

A:   	The national health index, every person in the country who – I believe it's if they were born in hospital after around about the mid 1980’s or if they’ve had any treatment  in hospital everybody has a unique number.  Unfortunately because of the way that it works sometimes people have more than one number.  The Register uses the number on the national health index for each woman that we get onto the system and we do additional checks to ensure that we try to only get one number for each woman that we get on.  Because unfortunately women change their names fairly regularly, and if they change their name and move region, it is not unusual not to realise that it's the same patient for some considerable time.  In the early days when we had the 14 registers, any woman who moved regions and informed the region or her smear-taker  that she had come from another region and was on the Register, that number would have been tracked across the multiple registers even though they weren’t linked but because it wasn’t always notified to the Register that the woman had been elsewhere, and if she had changed her name at the same time, it could have been possible  for multiple usage of different numbers.  Have I answered your question, sorry.

Q:   	Perhaps if I sort of help you to where I think I need the information.  So during the – from the inception of the programme and when the registers were set up in the 14 regions, the Area Health Boards, they weren’t linked at that stage where they?

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	So if a woman changed name and moved region, it would be very dependent on the Register being notified to be able to clear up the data for that particular individual woman.

A:   	That's correct yes.

Q:   	And then at the point that there was the reconfiguration exercise it was seen, I assume, as a very good opportunity to try and raise those duplications.

A:   	Perhaps what I missed before, although each woman had a unique identifier, what would quite often happen if there was a person with a very very similar name and a date of birth one or two days either side of information that was on the NHI, that persons information could potentially have been mis updated so you’d end up with one number being used for more than one person and when we were on 14 separate registers, that wouldn’t have been picked up.  We’re totally separate from the NHI.  We’re not linked at all other than using the same numbering system.  If the same number had been used to mean two different people, when we merged the databases, we compared not only the NHI’s but the surname first name and date of birth.  If any of those differed in any way, we did a further check in to them.  So if the NHI number was the same and all other information was the same, we merged those patient’s records completely.  But if the date of birth was out even by one day, we did further investigation and in a lot of those we found that there had been one number used for two different people so that was what took a lot of the time.  If the surnames changed we had to look into them again to see whether that surname – if one person now had both surnames and if one had been a previous name.  If there was no record again we had to do further investigation.

Q:   	Would it have been of assistance for the National Cervical Screening Register  and the NHI to be linked in some way?

A:   	It possibly – one of our problems is not the lack of linkage, it would probably be very useful to be linked now certainly, but one of our problems is that the NHI has sort of a master database centrally and I understand that each hospital has a subset of that database as well and our regional sites used the low core subset of the database whereas few regional sites use the central main database as do we when we’re looking information up.  One of the problems is we didn’t always get the same information for both the central and the regional databases.  One may have been updated with a different patient’s information.

Q:   	And what sort of audit or quality check would show those up?

A:   	From our perspective we would do a check on both the national and the regional, if we had the opportunity.   I think, I’m struggling to remember just how things were working in 96.   The HNI has had a lot of work done on it in the last few years to get around a lot of the problems and to clear up some of the data mismatches.   At the time I think it was a lack of peer to peer updates, so that if one was updated the other was automatically updated.   I’m not sure of the situation now.

Q:    So can I take it that the checking and auditing to ensure as minimal duplications as possible, obviously there will always be some, to ensure that they are as minimal as possible is routine within the Register?

A:    It’s routine within our register, yes.

Q:    And how often would that occur?

A:    Every time somebody’s enrolled the regional sites are encouraged – I can't guarantee they do it, but they are encouraged to look up whether there is anybody else with a similar name and date of birth combination rather than just using a new number automatically.   The forms that we get from the smeartaker, the smeartakers are encouraged to put previous names on there.  So if the current name is not found they are encouraged to look up the old names as well, and if the information varies they would then be encouraged to check, either the current smeartaker or any previous smeartaker, to see if that person has moved.   There is a lot of tidying up done at that enrollment stage.  Periodically, and this hasn’t been done for awhile, probably not for a year or so, we will do a search through the whole database and match anybody with the same surname first then date of birth.   It picks up a fair number of genuine duplicates unfortunately so it’s quite a large process.

Q:    And given that there were obviously a fair number of duplicates, particularly prior to reconfiguration, what impact would that have had on the statistical reports, particularly number 1 and 2, and possibly even 3?

A:    Number 1 I think was fairly early on, therefore there wouldn't have been that many people moving around.  A lot of people hadn't gone through more than single possibly a second smear on the system so I believe that the numbers would probably be relatively genuine on the first one.    The second statistical report all the known transfers had been removed from the information.  It was just the unknown transfers that have come up twice.

Q:    Are you able to estimate how many unknown transfers are likely to have crept in?

A:    Not in 94 I'm afraid.

Q:    And what about the third statistical report?

A:    The third statistical report was done differently.   The information was collected in the Ministry and all actual  NHI duplicates were removed.   So it wasn’t just the known transfers that were removed, where you had an NHI number coming in for multiple reasons the information was merged.  So knowing how many we've merged on the Register since then there would have been a number of duplicates.   We are probably merging about 5,000 a year.   I can't remember what the enrollment figure was at that time.  

Q:    have reports been kept of the duplications that were eradicated from the system that might actually  give you an indication of how reliable the enrollment figures were through the statistical reports?

A:    We have an audit of all the merged NHI’s.   Unfortunately it’s used for other known NHI’s as well, so I probably couldn't say accurately.  

Q:    and the other complicating feature is the ethnicity data as I understand it as well.  Correct me if I'm wrong, but I understand that we've had several witnesses indicate that that is not a reliable piece of data for one reason is that sometimes smeartakers fill it in rather than referral to the women?

A:    That’s correct, and we do have a number of unknowns.  I think it’s approximately 10% are unknown at the moment.   And that’s because the information is either filled in by smeartakers who potentially haven't asked the women or don’t feel comfortable filling that in, or they’ve filled in something which isn't meaningful as an ethnicity.   We do get a lot of something like New Zealander, which is not an ethnicity that we use or can be useful to us.

Q:    and the Whittaker Report that was completed fairly recently indicated that this was one of the areas where there should be a project to try and tidy up the ethnicity data, is that correct?

A:    It is correct, yes.

Q:    And how is that progressing?

A:    we haven't started a project to do that.   I believe one should be done.   We are encouraging the regional programmes, certainly on enrollment if they don’t have an ethnicity they are supposed to look at the NHI to see what ethnicity is there and use that one.

Q:    Why would the NHI ethnicity data be any more reliable, is it not subject to the same –

A:    It’s subject to a similar problem but it does tend to be put in whilst the woman is standing with the nurse at the hospital, or the baby information doesn't affect us particularly, but when a patient is in hospital they tend to be standing beside them whilst the information is updated.  So far as I understand all people who enter information and are  updated on the NHI are requested to fill that in.

Q:    and what sort of time period is it expected that the ethnicity data project will be completed?

A:    I don’t know I'm afraid.

Q:    Has anything been sent to smeartakers to alert them to the fact to take more care with the ethnicity data?

A:    Certainly in the past smeartakers have been contacted regularly by the regional programme sites, and this is one of the things which they have discussed with them.   Recently I believe the draft policy and quality standards has in there that this information should be collected accurately.

Q:    The reason I’m pursuing this line is we've heard evidence when Ms  Earp gave her evidence and produced the Maori statistical report when it was actually compared with say the third statistical report that the numbers actually were very difficult to make any correlation with, they didn't bear much resemblance to each other.

A:    Yes.

Q:    In your view, are there other complicating factors as to why that occurred rather than just ethnicity data?

A:    I think I did a report on what we thought was the differences in the reports.  I think my tab 19 actually explains.  I don’t believe it was the actual ethnicity data that caused any discrepancy.   It was the difference in the time period of when the information was extracted.   The 96 report was extracted whilst we were in the middle of reconfiguration.   The Maori report, although it was for or up to 95 I believe, it wasn’t extracted until the end of 97.  So a lot more tidying up had been done.   And it was also some of the basis on how the figures were used.  

Q:    And also the denominators were different because different census figures were used as well?

A:    That’s right, they would have been using the 96 census probably.

Q:    the current draft statistical report which is found in Dr Peters exhibits, is there going to be a standardisation of how the figures are correlated in the census data and the denominators so that there would be direct comparability between reports for the future?

A:    There is a problem I believe.  with the census data it’s accurate at the date of the census and then there are projections provided for each annual movement of ages and populations.  If we used the projections for each new statistical report should in theory be based on the projections for the year that you're basing the report on.  There could potentially be some differences in the denominator figures because of that.

Q:   	Has anyone in the Register actually looked back on each of the individual statistical reports to ascertain the reliability of the data given that there are obviously some concerns about the raw data that was utilised?

A:   	Not to my knowledge no.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Ms Matcham would you support such a look back?

A:   	I think it would be useful to see how much difference there would be now yes.

Q:   	Would you agree that as the reports stand and the concerns about the data that they may not be completely reliable?

A:   	I think, probably from a reliability perspective, I believe the data is relatively representative of what is on the Register.  Reliable from an epidemiological point of view.

Q:   	You mean reliable in terms of the programme reaching it's goals or targets that it set for enrollment if the programme reports it's met it's enrollment target and then we start to appreciate that there’s duplicate data on the registry and data has been extracted from the Register to provide these enrollment results well one has to question if the targets have been met.  Would you agree with that submission?

A:   	Yes I agree that they could be inflated by the duplicates but I also believe we are getting a number of duplicates reduced relatively rapidly.

Q:   	Could you give me an estimate of the size of the duplication problem when you merged the registers which I believe was completed in 1997?  As a proportion of all women enrolled, what % were enrolled more than once for the same smear?

A:   	For the same smear?

Q:   	No for the same enrollment.

A:   	OK.  I can’t remember what the enrollment figure was to mid 96.

Q:   	Would it have been 10, 20, 30%?

A:   	I think, this is sort of raw figures rather than %, I think we found somewhere around about 50,000 duplicates and in 96 we would have probably been somewhere around about 50-0% enrolled.  I honestly can’t remember how many were enrolled at that period.  I do know we worked on approximately 50,000 actual duplicates though.

Q:   	So you had 50,000 duplicates back then and I believe I heard you say earlier that you have about 5,000 duplicates.

A:   	About 5,000 duplicates a year now we’re merging yes.  It is going down.

Q:   	So you had 10 times as many back then.

A:   	Well some of those were known duplicates because of transfers between the regions and some of them were the same NHI being used in multiple regions.  It was actually different from what we’re doing now were we are looking at two different NHI’s being used for the same person.  When we did the merging of the databases we were only looking at one NHI being used multiple times.

Q:   	What I’m trying to get a handle on is what impact has duplication had on the enrollment results and if you can’t do that, that's fine just say so.

A:   	I can’t no.



MS JANES CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MS JANES:   	Would it not be possible  to do it – If I’m going off track tell me but would it not be possible  to take the enrollments prior to the reconfiguration exercise, the enrollments that occurred during that period, the duplications that were eradicated and then the enrollment figure at the end of the reconfiguration to at least give you a relative accurate proportion of change in enrollments.

A:   	We could certainly do a retrospective count on what's on the database now and then look at the figures that we had, we still have all the tables of the enrollment figures.  It wouldn’t be a difficult exercise to do a sort of retrospective count.  We have an enrollment date so that we can compare how many were enrolled in each year.

Q:   	So it is a calculation that could be carried out but it certainly can’t be done on the fly.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And if you were going to undertake a lookback on the statistical reports that would I assume be one of the first areas to consider because that would impact on a lot of the other statistical analysis.

A:   	Yes if you wanted to sort of check the validity of those reports yes.

Q:   	We’ve had evidence from several experts that have queried the reliability of the data in the 3 statistical reports and the maori statistical report.  You’ve sat through a lot more evidence than you probably ever intended to, have you heard any of that evidence.

A:   	Some but not a great deal.

Q:   	The evidence that you’ve heard in terms of raising concerns about the accuracy and reliability of the statistical reports, have you agreed with what you’ve heard?

A:   	I can’t remember in that much detail I’m afraid.

Q:   	Would you accept that it is likely from an epidemiological or expert pathologists would have some concerns about the data in those statistical reports?

A:   	I’m not qualified to say sorry.

Q:   	Given that there have been expression of concerns by experts, will any consideration be given if not to a full look back because logistically that my just not be resource possible , but to put a caveat on those statistical reports for instance when a lay person picks it up, as my friend said like a lawyer or a woman who is participating in the programme, the statistics may be falsely reassuring to them without understanding the intricacies of statistical analysis.  Could some of caveat or explanation be included in future reports to alert lay readers to those issues?

A:   	I’m sure that’s possible .

Q:   	It's something that could be considered.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	It would just make it so much more helpful for us.  Going to paragraph 27 of your brief of evidence just very quickly it indicates that in each of the regional programmes somebody took on the role of systems administrator.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	To the best of your knowledge what type of qualifications or training or expertise did they have?

A:   	In the early days I believe they would have been required to have at least a little bit of knowing how to use a computer.  Some of them had come from other areas where they had been using computers fairly regularly.  As far as the training on using the database and the systems they were looking after, because they were looking after the hardware as well at that time, I believe they were given minimal actual training and they were given the database and explained what it meant and that would have been all.

Q:   	Given minimal training and probably a quite disparate set of abilities, what impact would that have had on the Register data?

A:   	I think there was a tendency to use any flexibility that there was within the database to what would have been most appropriate for their own uses or their own site uses.  The database was in a majority of ways it was right at the beginning built relatively strict in what it could accept and what it couldn’t accept. And I think that was possibility  the reason why there wasn’t a great deal of training because it was all done within the database.

Q:    We've heard evidence that some of the regional systems administrators adapted the systems to their own requirements and that caused some problems both with interface and also variations in laboratory reporting.  

A:    The only area where I know it was loose enough to allow variations was in the way that the smeartaker identifier was recorded.   Certainly the laboratory reporting when I picked it up in 94 and from everything that I've read before that was very strict and it couldn't be changed by individuals at regional sites.

Q:    In Dr Teague’s evidence at his brief of evidence para 15.14 and para 15.15 I will just read it quickly to you, he says:   “In keeping with the concept of the Bethesda classification, although contrary to my personal preference, laboratories had the ability to use their own wording on reports but the wording had to retain the meaning of the Bethesda category used.   This at times led to confusion because reports produced by the programme did not match the precise wording.”   So would that have made it more difficult for the register?

A:    The difficulty there, I think what he’s referring to, if you look at the Bethesda, which was my exhibit 24, each of the codes, the adequacy, the recommendation and the diagnosis, have a text associated with those.   Now all that the laboratory sends to the Register is the code and the Register would automatically put that text that’s associated with that onto any reports to the smeartakers or any other correspondence that they needed.   If the laboratories adapted that text to slightly different wording and they sent a report to a smeartaker, they could be some confusion from the smeartaker’s point of view as to whether the text that came from the Register or the text that came from the laboratory meant the same thing.  I think that’s probably what Dr Teague’s referring to rather than actual different uses within the register itself.

Q:    and I realise you weren't at the Register in 1991, but if I can have your comment on whether something in one of the exhibits is still a problem.   This is Ms Glackin’s exhibits, volume 16, tab 78, and it’s numbered 026 at the top.  This in part relates to a question asked by the panel of Dr Peters yesterday but under Information, Collection, Monitoring and Evaluation, it first indicates that there are regional variations that can be explained partially by budget differences which appear to be large in some cases.  And then it talks about different sets of data being collected and at the last para before the heading “Use of funding”, it says “otherwise the information collection and monitoring varied widely across regions.”  

A:    The information that’s collected now is consistent in as much as what is provided to us.   The differences are how the smeartakers fill in the forms mainly.   In some regions we get very little missing information and in other areas – certainly the ethnicity is not filled in as well and the previous screening history.   They are the two areas that when the last smear was and whether they had an abnormal or not.  But what is actually on the Register itself is consistent across the regions.

Q:    So when would that have been the case?

A:    Certainly since reconfiguration, which we completed in February 97, or March sorry, the database has been very tight on what's been allowed to be put in.   Since that time we've had access to it centrally as well, so we do periodic spot checks.  In the period between when I started in 94 and when we completed reconfiguration we gradually removed any ability for variation, I suppose you should say, so it was between that period we did the biggest cleanup of the data.

Q:    And I assume that’s one of the benefits of a central register in that you can actually control it much more tightly as to the tinkering that may go on the side?

A:    I believe so, yes.

Q:    Given that, was it of concern in 96 when the reconfiguration was underway that there was an indication that it may be devolved again to the regional providers within a 3 to 5 year period?

A:    Yes, it was a concern.  And we voiced our opinion within the Ministry that we didn't think it would be appropriate.   The regional sites were also very concerned that this may happen.

Q:    did it also not seem inconsistent to undertake this major exercise of reconfiguration with the thought that in the very near future it would all be undone again?

A:    Yes.   It did.   And we couldn't really understand the rationale behind that at the time.

Q:    to the best of your knowledge, given that that wasn’t that long ago that there were those thoughts in the mind of people involved in the programme, that under the new health reforms where we’re going to 22 District Health Boards, that that still may be a consideration?

A:    I believe that it is understood that a central computer system is far more useful, far more powerful to a certain degree than any system that would be split between different regions.  I would certainly hope, but I believe that I don’t think the Register would be expected to be split.

Q:    So is it perhaps the case that 3 years of actually operating a central register may well have ensured that there is now commitment to a central register understanding how much more powerful a tool it is?

A:    I believe so, yes.

Q:    But to the best of your knowledge there's been no indications that there is a reconsideration of a central register?

A:    Not at all, no.

Q:    At para 34 of your brief, just the last sentence, it indicates that any bug, report or problem that may affect data validity integrity is treated as the highest priority for resolution.

A:    Yes.

Q:    I wonder if you could just outline very briefly or summarise the procedure for ensuring no bugs?

A:    Any upgrades to the Register application are thoroughly tested, both by the programmer and by myself, there are only the two of us now, and the regional sites where they have the resources, they also do a sort of user acceptance testing, that will pick up probably 95% of the bugs.   Some of the areas of the Registry application are very complex and used very, very rarely because of the difference in what you get in on your result discs as much as anything.  If a release gets out to the sites and they do something which they notice makes an error on the data, they will contact us immediately and basically everything else is dropped until that is fixed.   All other sites would be warned that doing a particular process on the Register would cause a problem and where possible they would not do that particular process.

Q:    And I take it that results are still being sent in on floppy discs?

A:    that is correct, yes.

Q:    Given that in 1995, and we don’t need to go there but I will just give the reference for the transcript – Ms Glackin’s exhibit, volume 15, tab 75, p128, an issue was raised about the virus risk to the National Cervical Screening Register because of the interchange of data by way of floppy disc.  Given that there's been a plethora of bugs and other things, what safeguards are in place for the Register currently?

A:    the Register runs on a Unix operating system.   The bugs tend to all be Windows or the Windows based system Windows NT, that kind of thing. The bug transportability between the two systems doesn’t work basically but apart from that any information that comes through onto the Register machine is not put in directly onto the machine via the floppy discs.  The floppy discs all come in to regional site machines and the information is transmitted down as text files.  The bugs – the sort of love bug type things tend to be on executable files so you actually have to run a process which will start up a virus.  Nothing like that goes anywhere near the Register machine.

Q:   	So you can be pretty confident about the integrity of the data on the Register from that perspective.

A:   	From that perspective yes.

Q:   	Just very quickly paragraph 44 you indicate a problem of results being received without accompanying forms.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	What action is taken in that instance?

A:   	The regional sites will contact the laboratory to see if they can send them a photocopy of the form.  If they can’t get anything from the laboratory they will contact the smear-taker.  Because we don’t necessarily know who the smear-taker  is until you’ve read the result into the system, the smear-taker  should  be – identification should  be on the result.  If the information is not there and they cannot find out who the smear-taker is, the result in theory can’t be processed and can’t be attached to the woman’s information.

Q:   	So approximately 3% of all results don’t make it into the data analysis.

A:   	Well they would have to be followed up on and the majority of them they would be able to get the information from the laboratory.  It's an extra manual check, a manual process to get that information.  I think it's probably less than 1% that would have to be held back until that information can be acquired.

Q:   	But in your view it's basically a statistically insignificant number and not going to make a huge impact.

A:   	It would be a very low number and also the regional sites would be working on acquiring that information all the time, somebody would be working through those and some of them may not get on to the system for a couple of months, sometimes even longer but the majority would make it eventually.

Q:   	Right.  There’s been quite a lot of evidence as to laboratories accessing previous smear histories.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And I understand that for quite a period that wasn’t available.

A:   	They’ve been available.  Not all laboratories would request them.

Q:   	Can you just confirm from when they have been available?

A:   	It was certainly before I started on the programme.  I did do some research.  I think it was somewhere in the middle of 92 I believe.

Q:   	And sorry I interrupted you.

A:   	Where there has been a good relationship between  the laboratory and the regional site and it's been accepted that the history is required the laboratory would request the information from the site before they process the smears.  Until 97, gradually increasing during 96, you couldn’t guarantee you had the whole countries information available to any individual site.  Certainly since then any laboratory can ask their local site and they will be able to get information for women who have lived elsewhere in the past as well.

Q:   	Are you aware of why laboratories haven’t requested previous smear histories?

A:   	Some laboratories say that the paper work involved slows them down considerably in reading the results I believe.  Other laboratories have said if they could have direct access into the Register it would make it a lot easier for them.

Q:   	Is that something that's contemplated in the future?

A:   	It has been requested, it was in minutes of meetings which I read when I first started and that was expected to happen.  It was expected to happen after reconfiguration.  The problem is not technical at this stage, it's getting policy approval and ensuring confidentiality and security of the information whilst it's being connected in to the laboratory.

Q:   	So there would perhaps be privacy of access to people other than the pathologist reading the slide.

A:   	Not so much that, the actual means of connecting the laboratory to the Register and making sure that that connection is secure. 



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Speaking of the direct access would it not facilitate the Register that there would be direct access between  the laboratory for the downloading of the pathology information?

A:   	From our point of view we wouldn’t consider it an advantage.  Some of the information –

Q:   	Did you say would or wouldn’t.

A:   	We wouldn’t.  A lot of the information we get on laboratory discs has to be double checked and clarified before it's actually attached to the woman’s information.  Partly it's the smear-taker  information and in some cases the actual woman’s information may not match what we have on the database.  Occasionally we get the wrong NHI number when they are provided or it may be that there are multiple women on the database with the same surname, first name and date of birth and the site have to actually ensure that the information is connected to the correct woman.  I don’t believe if a laboratory was downloading directly that a lot of those checks would be done.

Q:   	Conceivably that check could be done centrally on the central register.

A:   	I suppose it depends what you are including in downloading of the information.  We have a two part process on the database at the moment.  The first one is validation, initial validation and checks of the information that comes on the disc. and those validation checks are quite a manual process ensuring the information or ensuring that not the result information but the woman’s details are accurate and the second process is actually attaching that smear to the woman’s information so that when you look up the woman’s details about the smear history all the information is included.  If the laboratory downloaded they could probably go no further than the valuation which would then have to be continued by somebody doing what the regional sites do now. Which really all it would say would be the forwarding of a floppy disc I believe.

Q:   	OK we’ll explore this later.



MS JANES CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MS JANES:   	You’ve indicated at paragraph 49 of your brief of evidence that laboratories were encouraged to request smear histories before reading a slide.  How were they encouraged and who by?

A:   	The regional coordinators would have all visited their local sites relatively regularly and the previous national coordinator I know visited every laboratory in the country during the 97/98 period, just trying to get my years right, and discussed with them the safety aspects that getting the history would add to their smear reading.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Just a very quick question here.  In terms of securing this previous smear history information what was the turnaround time from the point of requesting it to receiving it?

A:   	We have a policy within he programme that there must be a maximum of 4 hours and in some cases that's a lot less.  It depends on the number of requests that are being made at one time and the accuracy of the information that they have requested.  If NHI’s can be supplied and they all match women on the Register it's very quick.  If the information is just a surname, an initial and date of birth it takes a bit longer to ensure you’ve got the woman.

Q:   	So if I understand you correctly then within 4 hours of submitting the correct information you can have the previous smear history?

A:   	At the laboratory.

Q:   	Has it always been that turnaround time?

A:    Certainly since databases were amalgamated, yes, and before that there were only a few laboratories that were requesting in that time and I think they were all within the 4 hours, yes.

Q:    Would it be fair to say, then, that timeliness would not have been a barrier to requesting this information?

A:     I don’t believe it should have been, no.



MS JANES:   And how is it submitted to the laboratories, is it faxed through?

A:    It depends on the location of the laboratory and the regional sites.  In some cases it would have been faxed and in other cases it would have been couriered.  In some areas it would have been manually delivered.

Q:    And have you noticed a significant increase in requests for smear histories since the national co-ordinator’s visit in 97/98?

A:    I would say since the Gisborne Inquiry started.   Yes, there has been a distinct increase, yes.



CHAIR:   Is that a convenient time?

MS JANES:   Yes, it is ma'am.



MS GIBSON:   I wonder just for the record if I could note the para number in Dr Bottrill’s brief that I referred to earlier.

CHAIR:   Yes, Thank you very much.

MS GIBSON:   It’s para 64, and those regional reports are also dealt with in Ms Reid’s brief at paras 11 to 14.

CHAIR:   Thank you very much Ms Gibson, that’s very helpful.



MR HINDLE:   Ma'am, just before we finish, I have today received a preliminary submission and application for leave to appear and call evidence by the Regional Ethics Committees of New Zealand, other than the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee.  May I circulate that?

CHAIR:   Yes, certainly.   When do they want to appear?

MR HINDLE:   They say Friday or Saturday, but I know from speaking –

CHAIR:   Tell them they can come and join the queue.

MR HINDLE:   I'm just filing the application, ma'am.   I know the solicitor involved is currently in Christchurch, he comes from Queenstown, but he’s made it at least to Christchurch.

CHAIR:   File the application, but I think what you should do is tell them that they can come and be heard on Friday or Saturday.   The best thing for them to do is sit and wait and we will hear from them.

MR HINDLE:   Thank you, ma'am.  I will just hand this to Madam Registrar.

CHAIR:   The solicitor concerned can have a little tussle with Mr Grieve as to who should take priority.   Yes, well, I think they should be heard from.

MR HINDLE:    I will tell them Saturday is likely.

CHAIR:   Well, no, get them here on Friday.  We can't take any chances.    They can sit here and wait and we’ll fit them in when we can.

MR HINDLE:   yes, ma'am.

CHAIR:   I don’t want a log jam of people on Saturday.   Yes, Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:   Does it follow from that, Madam Chair, that as far as Dr Linehan is concerned the only chance is Friday at some stage and that we've got Dr Boyd and Ms Glackin for Saturday?

CHAIR:   Yes, the way I've been looking at it, I think the best thing we really have to do at this stage so that we take full opportunity of the time is we just have all these witnesses lined up ready to go in the way that you would do in a criminal trial and they’ll come on one after the other.

MR GRIEVE:   Quite.

CHAIR:   And their convenience will just have to yield to the higher pressures that we are under.   But hopefully today we will get through Ms Matcham, Ms Handiside and the person standing in for Mr Cohen.  I don’t think we’ll get through any more today, but we’ll wait and see.   So I envisage Mr Lambie tomorrow and the representative from the Kaitiaki Group.  Now neither of those two should take that long.  If you’ve got Dr Linehan around we can then fit him in, and I think Boyd, Glackin and the other panel members, if they're here on Friday too, so we can put them in, and if we sit late we will, and then Saturday morning we will have a wash up of Dr Poutasi, Boyd and Glackin carrying over, and if we have to, because we’re booked on the 10 to 5 plane, we will sit on to get through as much of the day as we can.  

MR GRIEVE:   Thank you Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Don’t try and fit in with people’s convenience because the last thing we want when time is precious is to suddenly find a gap.   We want someone to fill the gap at all times.

MR GRIEVE:   Quite.

CHAIR:   You’ve sub-poenaed Dr Linehan to be here tomorrow, haven't you?

MR GRIEVE:   Yes.   I was simply, if things were looking unlikely, I thought it might be helpful for him to be able to say, “well, look, the reality is no”, so stay in Hamilton.

CHAIR:   I don’t want to take that risk, that’s the problem.

MR GRIEVE:   While there's a chance, Madam Chair?

CHAIR:   That’s right, yes.   Ms Janes?

MS JANES:   Madam Chair, just on Dr Linehan, I had indicated earlier that he had commitments he didn't think he could change for Friday, but he’s now changed them to Saturday.   He is arriving this afternoon and is booked out tomorrow but I have indicated that we can't make any promises.

CHAIR:   That's right.   He is here under sub-poena and until he is released he will have to stay.

MS JANES:   And ma'am, if I could indicate that he now has Mr Waalkens as counsel, and where that goes I’m not sure.

CHAIR:   Thank you.   Very well, we will adjourn now until 2.00 pm





LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT 1.06 TO 2.00 PM

�

INQUIRY RESUMES AT 2:06



MS MATCHAM      (On former oath)

MS JANES:   Ms Matcham, just carrying on from prior to lunch, looking at the level of influence that somebody in the Register may have, we were talking about smear histories and access to smear histories, I take it that somebody in your position in the Register doesn't have any sphere of influence over laboratories or smeartakers ?

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    And in terms of not being able to do more than encourage laboratories to access smear histories, that’s as far as it goes I take it?

A:    That’s as it has been in the last few years since I've been in the programme, but in the current policy and quality standards it is a standard that they should – or at least a policy that they should access the history, yes.

Q:    So once those standards are actually able to be enforced against the contracts, then there is the expectation that they will access smear histories?

A:    That is correct, yes.

Q:    And will that represent any difficulties for the Register in turnaround time?

A:    It shouldn't do, no.  The quality of the actual request will make a difference.  If laboratories give good information the turnaround time will be quite quick.

Q:    and I take it that any policy decision about laboratories having direct access to the Register doesn't lie with you but would lie with Dr Peters?

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    and in terms of smeartakers, again are there similar issues in relation to requests for previous smear histories for them?

A:    The smeartakers deal directly with the regional sites.   Usually when they’ve got a new patient or a question about an existing patient.   I don’t believe there has ever been a problem with getting the information to them.

Q:   And that would cover both non-medical smeartakers and medical smeartakers?

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    Could the laboratories then also perhaps be accessing previous smear histories from the regional sites?

A:    They do, yes

Q:    And the turnaround time for smeartakers would be similar?

A:    I think the smeartakers would probably request one at a time rather than a batch of several hundred, and I don’t believe there should be a problem with that.

Q:    You indicate at para 50 that errors are corrected by regional staff.   You indicate that the forms are used to cross-check to ensure a result is received for every smear?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And then they are validated and errors corrected by regional staff.   And I think earlier in your evidence you also indicated that there were quite a lot of error correction that was required when they transmitted the results?

A:    It varies from region to region and laboratory to laboratory.  I don’t mean there's a high % particularly, but there's a lot of work required for ones where there are errors.   Some sites would get several hundred results in a day and there may only be, I don’t know, 4 or 5 which needed following up and getting corrections done on them.  It is mainly in the area of the smeartaker I understand now.

Q:    So is there a duplication of errors being corrected at the regional level and then also at the national register level?

A:    No, I think you may be misunderstanding.  At the national level we don’t actually input any data at all, it’s all done regionally, but it’s done on the national database which is basically we manage the hardware and the software for the database itself.   All the inputting of results and enrollments of women, updating women’s information, and all the reports are all done at a regional level.

Q:    So I take it that there is no issue about quality control or audit of integrity of data because there's no inputting at the national level?

A:    That is correct, yes.

Q:    What about at the regional level?

A:    the data entry that is done off the forms I understand that the senior person who used to be called the systems administrator is responsible for auditing the work done by the staff at the site and they have various different ways of doing it.  I'm afraid I'm not aware of what they all are, but I do know that they are responsible for ensuring that what is on the form is transferred onto the Register as accurately as it can be.  The results come in on a disc, so the laboratories all have their own computer systems and they have many different ones.   They download the batch of results that they have been processing up until the cutoff period onto a floppy disc and that includes the woman’s NHI if they have it, the name and the date of birth.   That information is read into the Register as a disc, there's no manual access to that information at that point.  The NHI first name, date of birth are compared to information on the Register.  If there's any problems around that area that is when the regional sites will try to find out who the person is or whether there's a difference if an NHI and date of birth don’t match that kind of thing.   Once all the fields that are on the disc have been checked for matching the information already on the database, other than the actual result information, the result can then be attached to the woman’s information so that it then becomes part of her screening history.  There is no way that the sites can amend the actual result at all at that stage.

Q:    that very neatly leads me to my next question, because when some of the women were giving evidence there was one particular where there had been a recommendation by the laboratory, I think it was for a repeat smear in 6 months, and somebody had over-ridden that recommendation.   Can you clarify for the Inquiry what happens in a case like that, which recommendation is actually registered in the Register?

A:    When you say over-ridden, do you know how?



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Maybe I can help you out.  It was Patient 14, Vertongen, there is not a name suppression here.   She had an abnormal smear reported by Dr Bottrill.  He recommended a repeat in 6 months.  She did return within 6 months plus or minus some weeks, had nor smear, Dr Bottrill’s recommendation was referral for further assessment and when we looked at her report there was a handwritten notation in the corner “6/12” and Ms Vertongen was never referred for any further assessment.  The question of course is what does the 6/12 mean, does that mean she was to return again in another 6 months, and why didn't she go for her further assessment?   So if one hypothesises that the smeartaker overturned the laboratory management recommendation and made another decision, how would the Register know what that decision was?

A:    What would have happened if the result had come through onto the Register with a referral code, the Register would have generated a letter to the woman to say that she should speak to her smeartaker or the smeartaker should speak to her about a referral and that letter would normally have been sent to the woman.  Now in some cases if the smeartaker decides not to refer, they might inform the people at the Register, in which case when a referral letter is triggered it also triggers a special flag on the woman’s information to say she should be referred, and the regional site usually get that information and find out who she’s been referred to and the date, and then her status is changed from being actively participating in the programme to being what we called “signed out”.   Now if the smeartaker had decided not to refer for any reason, the normal process would have been to close off that flag to say that she's not going to be signed out for treatment.   If the regional site thought that she had been referred and wasn’t given the information she would have just remained until further information was received at the Register.

Q:    Ms Vertongen, although we didn't ask her, had no knowledge that she was to be referred for further assessment and she didn't volunteer that she had received a letter.

A:    Without looking at the Register data it would be difficult to assess whether that letter had been generated or whether the result –

Q:    If letters are mailed to an individual who’s no longer at that address, are they returned to you?

A:    It depends on the person whose at the address at that time, because some people will return them unknown, other people will just destroy the letters.

Q:    do you keep a record of letters mailed out and letters returned?

A:    the regional site would normally  do that, yes.

Q:    So all this information is on the regional site, there's no central collection on this?

A:    No.   the database has a field on it to say when the letter was generated.   That’s all we can do at that stage.



MRS SHOLTENS:    Can I just assist by indicating I see in the exhibits it does show what letter was sent and on what date and to what address to this woman.  If you want that information I’m sure Ms Matcham can produce it.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   It doesn't say if the letter was returned?

MRS SHOLTENS:    No, it doesn't.



MS JANES:   Just concluding that topic, if the original laboratory management recommendation had stayed – in other words referral for further assessment, what time period would elapse and no further assessment results were entered on the Register.   At what stage would something be done to say what's happened to this particular woman?

A:    After a result is attached to the woman’s information, one of our reports will pick up any one of those women who have the result attached more than a week ago.   The report may be run monthly so it could pick them up straight away or it could pick them up in a month’s time any woman who’s been supposed to have been referred within that period.   And that would be flagged.   Usually that report would be sent to the smeartaker to say what was going to happen.  Now if the smeartaker at that point says she's not going to be referred, she’s going to recall in 6 months.  Other than annotating the information on the Register there is very little that the regional site can do. 

Q:   	Is an audit ever undertaken to assess that what is supposed to happen actually does happen?

A:   	Not from the register’s perspective no.

Q:   	So while there are these guidelines or standards of how the procedure is supposed to proceed, there’s no check back to see that it actually does occur?

A:   	No there probably wouldn’t be.  At a regional site level they would look closely at what was happening to the women who have had an abnormal and who have been recommended a referral and I believe that the regional site would have somebody who would discuss any areas with the smear takers if they are not referring and find out if it's the woman’s choice for not being referred or whether there is something else that needs to be done.  I don’t think there is actually an audit of this situation.

Q:   	And who would be responsible for ensuring that the regional sites are actually carrying out that kind of follow up, check or audit?

A:   	That would be the processes within the regional site.  They have their own management lines and their own processes as far as that kind of work is concerned.

Q:   	Because we’ve heard lots of evidence that the Register is a key management tool as well as being a quality assurance  aspect of the programme so if these audits are not taking place in relation to the Register would you agree that there is some concern that there may be women who are not getting the follow up that there would be the expectation they would receive?

A:   	A lot of work is done with the smear-takers   and with the colposcopy clinics to ensure that women who are recommended for a referral do get treated.  The people who actually enter the information onto the Register itself can discuss the clinical implications with the smear-taker  if they decide not to refer for any reason.  I don’t believe there is a big problem.  We also have another tracking report which says women for whom we haven’t had any histology which is another way of finding women who don’t turn up at the clinics, I’m not sure how useful an audit would be at that stage when everyone that doesn’t get referred for any reason tends to be checked between  the regional site and the smear-taker  anyway.

Q:   	And just moving on to histology very briefly, are you aware that when this investigation into Tairawhiti occurred that I think it was Di Best came down here and spent 10 days gathering all the histologies and making sure it was complete on the register is that your understanding?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you mention at paragraph 105 that you suspect that there are some histology results still missing.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Given that we understand how important a correlation between histology and cytology is, are you able to comment on the state of histology on the results on the register?

A:   	Since 93 when the legislation came into place for histology it's been difficult to get to know whether we have received all histology.  We estimated a few years ago of how many we should  be getting, how many results we should  be getting a year and knowing the number of women who go through the clinics and that is considerably higher than we are actually getting.  Having done the extract of all the results from the Tairawhiti region that was very close to what we estimated, slightly higher than what we estimated, so although we’ve got no means of proving it other than continually going back to laboratories and asking them for individual patient’s histology we do still feel that we are short of possibility  25%. 

Q:   	And would they be contained in particular regions or is that across the board?

A:   	It's across the board it seems. 

Q:   	And there certainly seems to be lots of evidence that there have been frustrations and getting some laboratories to provide the histology results.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I remember seeing one that even after 3 years you could sort of see somebody at the other end.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Whose responsible for ensuring that laboratories send the minimum data requirements particularly as these are under legislation?

A:   	Until the recent contract round laboratories I understand have only been told to comply with legislation and the national policy.  They have been asked many times to comply with legislation in various forms both by personal visits from national coordinators and by letter but the programme as such didn’t have the means of enforcing that they did send it all and I believe there is possibility  still a misunderstanding between  the abilities of the computer systems within the laboratories as far as downloading everything that we should  receive which is where I believe some of them are missing.

Q:   	So apart from writing letters plaintively requesting them to comply, there is no other sanction or penalty or enforcement measure that can be applied from either the programme or the Register?

A:   	I believe the new contracts will have a bit more ability to enforce them to comply.  Certainly until this contract round there was nothing in the programme, certainly not from the Register.

Q:   	So until those contracts are enforceable, there is no way of getting that 25% missing histology onto the Register?

A:   	I actually believe it's more complicated even than the legislation because we don’t know why, some laboratories are sending us a fair amount of histology but we still have the belief that we are not getting all of it and we haven’t been able to establish what the problem is, why some of it is going missing.  In some cases we know that we’re not getting the cervical component of hysterectomies which are important at least to inform us that a woman has had a hysterectomy and if there was an abnormality of course that would make a lot of difference.  In other cases we appear to get some of them but possibility  not all so it goes further than legislation.  Legislation can tell them they must do it but if they don’t realise their computer systems are missing some, the problem goes deeper.

Q:   	What sort of resources would be required to set up a project that could assess where the problems lie?

A:   	We would probably need something similar to what Di Best did up here with the Gisborne laboratory and the hospital laboratory to go through a portion of the laboratory records which would be fairly resource intensive as Gisborne is a small area and it took Di some time.

Q:   	So yes 10 days per region is a significant resource.

A:   	Yes and that would only be a very small amount for some of the larger regions yes.

Q:   	Thank you and just final question which is pure curiosity. As I was going through the documents I came across a Peter Matcham who is a consultant to the reconfiguration project and I wondered if it was an internal takeover of the Register.

A:   	Not quite.

Q:   	Thank you.



MRS BARRETT XXN WITNESS

MRS BARRETT:   	Ms Matcham while Ms Janes was questioning you mainly on the forms and the format of the forms, I know I should have looked at these forms before, in my own personal use, but I actually studied them very closely.   Is it your opinion when those forms are filled out that they are mainly filled out by the smeartaker?

A:    I don’t know obviously because I'm not there, but I believe that a high % of them would be filled out by the smeartaker.

Q:    Because on viewing the form, the National Cervical Screening Programme form, I suppose what was bothering me was the fact that in reading your evidence there are some times that the ethnicity of people is not ticked.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And therefore when we talk about Maori, and if its not ticked, it doesn't become part of the statistics.   I saw that as a little gap.

A:    Yes.

Q:    But also that the form was a good information tool for the women concerned, and I suppose it’s unfair to ask you the question, but if the ethnic origin is not an issue perhaps for the women’s details, then do you see that perhaps A smeartaker or the person concerned should be given more educational background on the importance of that data being recorded?

A:    Yes, I do and I believe in the latest policy and quality there is a section on the necessity for that information.

Q:    I know Ms Janes also went through with you all the statistical reports and I guess it’s p26/93 of your brief.  It states that the discrepancies between the third statistical reports and the Maori statistical report published in 1999, these are mainly due to the timing of the extracting of the data.

A:    Yes.

Q:    Given the continuous updating of the Register database and the continued cleaning of the data.  And that some information has been presented differently.  Can you actually explain for me as a layperson those discrepancies.   I think you refer to them in one of your exhibits.

A:    Yes, in 19.  

Q:    Do you agree the timing of that data, which was 4 years later, and I think you said somewhere that it’s outdated anyway?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Particularly for the Maori one.   My question is, does this give a true picture of that data, particularly in the Maori statistical report?

A:    I think it gives a true a picture as we can get, knowing that we have some of the ethnicities not filled in on the forms.  The difference is between the two reports, it’s fairly complicated to actually work out why some things have been reported differently and why it appeared that we’d lost 34,000 women I think.  Allowing for the fact that it was 4 years out of date, I think it’s the best that we could have got off the Register at that time.

Q:    I suppose one of the other questions, if I want to be consistent, is because Maori data is kept within the national Kaitiaki Group do you think that has a bearing on how the Maori statistical report and other reports is inhibiting in some way?

A:    I don’t think so.   I would hope that the information being protected by the Kaitiaki would not discourage women from giving Maori as their ethnicity or smeartakers were putting Maori on there if they are filling the forms in.  It was I understand, it was before my time but I understand it was to help Maori feel safer that the data was being looked after appropriately.

Q:    I don’t disagree with the Kaitiaki Group, it’s just that through this Inquiry we have heard the delays in acquiring data from the Kaitiaki Group and I can actually confirm that with the Kaitiaki person that’s attending tomorrow.   One of the other questions that’s been crossing my mind, and I forgot to ask Dr Peters about this yesterday, from your view of being responsible for the Register, do you think that the Kaitiaki Group should be shifting over to where you all are sitting now?   For convenience sake?

A:    Well, I think the fact that we’re going back into the Ministry, the Kaitiaki group is currently in the Ministry so we will actually be coming back together.

Q:    I took it that the Kaitiaki Group is connected to the Ministry of Health.

A:    The Kaitiaki Group reports through the Ministry of Health.  When we moved to the Health Funding Authority, because the Kaitiaki Group was a ministerial group rather than an advisory group they stayed within the Ministry.  I believe they are still a ministerial group.   I don’t know whether they’ll be coming across into the screening team’s group or not or whether they’ll be serviced outside that.

Q:    But for operational purposes would it not be more convenient?

A:    I don’t know if any of them are actually employees of the Ministry anyway, I don’t know that it will make much difference.

Thank you.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Ms Matcham you have extensive experience in systems management?

A:    Yes.

Q:    In terms of this Register, would you describe this as a simple system or a complex system?

A:    Fairly complex.

Q:    Complex in terms of the programming or complex in terms of how the whole system works?

A:    It’s complex around the results basically, the various combinations of what happens with differing results.   The delivery of the system is relatively straight forward.  

Q:    is it your opinion that the 14 separate register sites and one central register that’s a simple system to administer?

A:    It is reasonably simple, yes.

Q:    But isn't it true the only component that you administer is the central register?

A:     Yes, I look after the central register, but there is only one register.  The 14 sites have no data actually on site and they don’t even store it, other than the floppy discs nothing is stored even temporarily on their machines.  They literally log into any PC or machine and connect through a telephone line into the central Register to do all their work so from that point of view, the database, the machine it's run on, all the data is held centrally.

Q:   	In terms of the results coming out of the system, what are the vulnerable areas in terms of our terms of reference that is what components of the system could contribute to under-reporting?

A:   	From the Register itself we’re reliant on what the laboratories tell us.

Q:   	So the first thing would be transmission of the reports from the laboratories.

A:   	Not so much transmission, it's the computer systems within the laboratories that hold the results that they then forward on to us.

Q:   	So the first thing is the act has to occur, that is the data has to get from the laboratory to you.

A:   	Yes and that is –

Q:   	And if that doesn’t have that's a vulnerability.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The second is if the data from the laboratory isn’t accurate.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's the second vulnerability.  What are the further –

A:   	If the regional sites doesn’t process the information in a timely manner or at all.  If having processed the information they don’t correct any errors in the women’s information or they don’t process the forms that go along with the disc.  Lastly would be if they didn’t generate the letters to inform the women of the referrals.

Q:   	Now appreciating that there are vulnerabilities at each of these steps and in all likelihood there are many more, isn’t it necessary to quality control each of those steps.

A:   	We have no means of quality controlling laboratory at this stage.  Once the new contracts are in place we will hopefully be able to do an audit of laboratories from time to time.  Once the result reaches the regional site – just trying to think – the regional site, the senior person in each of the regional sites is responsible for ensuring they are processed in a timely manner and they are also responsible for ensuring that the results are matched and any errors are corrected before the whole result is attached to the women’s information.

Q:   	Do you know the details of this checking?

A:   	In my exhibit 8 there's a breakdown of the things that the regional site does and what is done by the application.

Q:   	And how do you know that it's done?

A:   	I don’t have any direct input, direct control over what is done at the regions but they all – I have sort of an overall influence on what is done.  We have general protocols on what the processes should be and although I can’t – I am not in a position to audit them or enforce what they do there is a general acceptance amongst the sites that there are what should  be done and it has always been done by goodwill really, the general acceptance – although the sites are contracted through at the moment the HHS hospital contracts, they all of them feel that they are part of the Cervical Screening Programme and they look to the Cervical Screening Programme for their work methods.

Q:   	Would your task be easier if you had some authority over these sites?

A:   	I think it would be a different job altogether.  We run a helpdesk which the sites can phone us if they have any questions or any problems on how to do something or what they should do under certain circumstances.  Some regions use it more than others but the – my general perception is they do follow the guidelines or the protocols which we generated really between  us and their aim is to manage their portion of the register information in a way that is safe for the women in their region.  I don’t think if I was managing the sites I don’t think it would be a great deal different.

Q:   	But at this point you are operating on a certain trust level.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the same trust level that you expect the laboratories to send you all the data that they have is that correct?

A:   	That's correct yes.

Q:   	And your missing 25% of that data?

A:   	We believe so.

Q:   	So let me ask you the question again, would the task be easier if you had direct authority or some degree of authority over the regional register sites?

A:   	My inter relationship with the regional sites is a lot different to that of the laboratories.  Other than occasionally when they have a computer system problem that doesn’t download information we can read properly, I have very little to do with the laboratories.  From the regional site perspective, I can double check on a lot of the data that they put in to the system.  It may be easier if I had control over them but –

Q:   	Allow me to ask you this question.  What % of your time roughly is spent checking the work of the regional sites in terms of ensuring that the data is accurate and running audit checks for them to make sure that what they input is correct?

A:   	Not a lot.  Probably 10% at the most.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	One think I’d like to ask Ms Matcham is would it be better if the persons working in the regional centres dealing with data input where employees of the, we’ll call it for the moment the Health Funding Authority so that there was direct line accountability back to the public health team managed by Dr Peters rather than the regional data persons be employees of the HSS’s?

A:   	In a way it would be better because we would have more control over what happens within a regional site but it would create it's own problems because the sites work very closely with the hospital clinics and with the smear-takers   in their region and because of the close relationship that the Register staff have with their own population really they get information a lot better than I think if they were employees of the Health Funding Authority.

Q:   	So even if they were based in the regions, liaising with the various providers within the regions, you’re saying because they wouldn’t be employed by the HSS, they wouldn't get the same amount of information?

A:    It’s possible that the relationship they’ve built up now they would do.  I'm guessing.

Q:    Because it seems to me that the smeartakers are going to be from a variety of sources – they will be medical practitioners, nurse smeartakers, even lay smeartakers?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And then there will be the laboratories.  It’s not as if the person working with the regional register is only needing to work with other persons employed by an HSS in the sense that having a common employer might therefore smooth the way for the regional data person to work more effectively with other HSS employees.

A:   Yes, I see what you're saying, yes.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   As I was reading your brief of evidence it struck me that perhaps one other vulnerable area was the following, and correct me if I’m wrong:   this three part requisition form for the programme that’s in exhibit 5, the component that contains the patient’s demographic data is sent from the laboratory to you?

A:    That is correct, to the regional site, yes.

Q:    You are the Register in my mind.   If you do not get this form from the laboratory you do not know if the woman had a smear, is that correct?

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:    so again you are dependent on the laboratory forwarding this piece of information?

A:    Yes.

Q:    You have no way of knowing if you're missing some forms do you?

A:    The only way we know if we’re missing a form is if we receive a smear on the disc without a form.   We have no way of knowing if we’re missing both form and smear and slide result.

Q:    Why doesn't the form go from the smeartaker to the regional register?

A:    That is a question I asked when I started the programme and I believe it was logistics of transferring information when the programme started.

Q:    the Register has some complexities in terms of the women every time they have a smear and every time they have a histology may choose to opt on or opt-off.

A:    That’s correct, yes.

Q:   How complicating does that make the delivery of the Register functions for you?

A:   It means that if we are expecting information which doesn't arrive we have to follow up why we haven't received it, and this could be because a woman is overdue for a smear or because we don’t know whether she's had treatment or not.  If we don’t receive it there's a high possibility that if we haven't received it because she hasn’t had the treatment or the smear or because she's opted that particular one off, it makes it there's far more work to be done just to establish whether it is an opt off result or whether it just hasn’t been done.

Q:    So that a considerable amount of time is spent – I will use the word “tracking” women for this very reason?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Could this process be simplified in your opinion?

A:    If the regional site could be informed when a woman has a smear and chooses to opt off it would make life a lot less tracking to be done in that case and some of our reports a lot smaller for the smeartaker, and if we had, from the histology point of view, the colposcopy information (as Dr Peters was talking about yesterday), then at least we would know she had turned up at colposcopy and we weren't going to get a result if she chose to opt off.

Q:    Yesterday I believe you were present when I asked Dr Peters what were the issues with the Register at this time.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And she gave me 5 issues, the first one was the data quality from the laboratories, would you agree that’s an issue?

A:    I agree, yes.

Q:    Inconsistency in the regional site practices?

A:    the regional sites do some things differently, based around their own population, but the do all the basic functions required to maintain a woman’s safety to the same degree, if not exactly the same process.

Q:    have you reviewed these practices?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Recently?

A:    Not in the last 18 months.

Q:    So you wouldn't agree that that’s an issue?

A:    I don’t believe it’s an urgent issue, no.

Q:    but it’s an issue that crops up all the time?

A:    It is something that we could look into again and just find out how difficult it would be for the sites to do everything identically and whether it would affect their populations.

Q:    Would you agree that it would be appropriate to review these practices on some scheduled basis to eliminate the possibility of inconsistency?

A:    I do agree, yes.

Q:    The third issue was the acceptance that the Registry is not a population based register it’s a utilisation register?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And I believe there is an acceptance by the programme that it should move towards population based?

A:    It would make life a lot easier.

Q:    How would it make it easier for you?

A:    Well, it would make the information – we would be able to tag anyone who we know is opting off and at least know that they're being screened regularly.   I believe that it would make our information more accurate.

Q:    The fourth was the absence of the colposcopy assessment data.  Could you give me more detail on what that is?

A:    At the moment we receive the smear which may have got a recommend referral attached to it, and then as far as we know we get information from the smeartaker that the woman’s been referred to the colp clinic, but we don’t know that she’s actually turned up until we get a histology result.  We don’t know whether a histology sample was taken at that clinic or not so what we would need to know, to make our information more complete, would be whether the woman turned up at the colp clinic, what was found by visualisation, whether a biopsy was taken and what other recommendations there were, what further treatment was going to be.   That way we would be able to track that we’d received the histology result as appropriate.

Q:    and the final one was linkages with other registries, the Cancer Registry in particular.

A:    Yes

Q:    Are there any other registries that you believe your register should be linked with – forget all the legislation issues for a moment.  In terms of using the data on the Register effectively  i.e. in monitoring and evaluating the programme.

Q:    The Register is based on the NHI system, NHI numbers I should say, not on the system.   The NHI is a separate system.  It would be, for monitoring purposes it wouldn't be that useful, but from quality of the data it would be very useful from our point of view to be able to link directly with the NHI rather than have to do everything manually through two different systems.  And similarly, the Cancer Register, to be able to get information from there rather than again having to request manually.

Q:    Is that a simple or complex linkage?

A:   	Technically I don’t think it would be that complex allowing for the way that systems interlink these days.

Q:   	So if this was possible  the 5,000 duplicates per annum would be easier to sort out is that correct?

A:   	Well at the moment I get a manual download of the mergers from the NHI which we pass through the system.  If we were linked directly we could probably get them on a one to one basis rather than do a bulk check of them.  It would be simpler but we are getting it at the moment.

Q:   	Would it be more expeditious?

A:   	Probably.

Q:   	Are there any other registries that you believe you should  be linked with.

A:   	I don’t this so other than the Cancer Register of course.

Q:   	I have a query with regard to revised results.  If a laboratory revises it's results either on the smear or the biopsy, are the laboratories required to communicate that revised result to the Register?

A:   	At the moment I believe that they are required to.  Certainly we’ve discussed it with the laboratories and some laboratories do send them through.  I can’t remember what's in the policy I’m afraid.  I know in discussions for the new guidelines that has been discussed and has been suggested that they should  send these through but there is ongoing discussions.

Q:   	So can I conclude this is an item under discussion.

A:   	An item under discussion yes.

Q:   	Could I ask you to look at Ms Handiside’s exhibits.  She only has the one exhibit, exhibit 1, page 2.  It's the first paragraph on page 2, this in fact is a letter written by Ms Handiside and on this particular paragraph the sentence that I would like you to comment on is the following.  In fact if the reconfiguration of the National Cervical Screening Register  had not been delayed due to internal wrangling within the Ministry, extraction of data would be a lot simpler.  Can you comment on this?

A:   	At the end of 94 and through the early parts of 95 the reconfiguration was planned to go ahead and we were waiting on authorisation from one of the internal committees within the Ministry to actually commence the work.

Q:   	How long did that take to get?

A:   	Probably about 9 months I believe, possibility  a bit longer.

Q:   	Is that the standard time?

A:   	We thought it was a long time at the time.

Q:   	Why did it take so long?

A:   	There was a committee who gave authorisation for all information systems work I believe and they had to approve that the reconfiguration was required but it was the best way to do and that we were planning to do it in an appropriate manner.  Although the analysis of why it was being done into a single register with 14 regional sites had all been done earlier by the programme and consultants for the programme, that was before I started.  We then had to get authorisation from this particular committee that it was the correct way to go and I can’t remember what happened at all the meetings.  Some meetings they just wanted more information which we had to come back with to the next meetings and some meetings I don’t think it was discussed at all.  Once they had approved that we were allowed to go ahead with the actual changes that were required, they then wanted further information on the way that we were going to do it which took probably another couple of meetings to get through.  Does that answer the question?

Q:   	What committees are you referring to?

A:   	I think it was ISSC but I’ve been racking my brains to try remember the name of it but –

Q:   	What is that acronym?

A:   	Information Systems something Committee.  I can’t remember what the something was.

Q:   	Was that the only committee?

A:   	They’re the only ones which I attended yes.

Q:   	What's the usual period of time to get approval for a project such as this?

A:   	I don’t know I’m afraid I was new at the Ministry at the time and it's the only time I’ve had to get approval.

Q:   	Do you agree with Dr Peters that a strategic review of the Register at this point is appropriate?

A:   	I believe it's appropriate, it should  be done yes.

Q:   	Do you believe it's urgent?

A:   	No.

Q:   	Could some of the processes be streamlined?

A:   	In the data entry side of things do you mean?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	We’ve looked in to different ways of processing the information and we do as much of the double checking as we can within the database now rather than the manual processes.  I can’t immediately think of any means of streamlining any further at the moment.

Q:   	Its the purpose of the strategic review.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Just in closing Ms Matcham, I have observed that a feature of this programme is the lack of continuity of personnel.  You would be the exception.

A:   	At the moment.

Q:   	Why is that?

A:   	Do you mean why am I still there or do you mean why has everyone else left?

Q:   	Well if you can comment on both I would be grateful.

A:   	If you look at the regional sites –

Q:   	I think you can only speak for yourself.

A:   	If you look at the regional sites you’ll find that there has been a fair number of regional site staff who have been there since the beginning of the programme.  For myself the programme has a dedication of the staff that I see outside and I’ve sort of got tied up in it I think.  I’m determined to see the Register a success and make the best of what we can do with the data is really why I’m still here.

Q:   	Thank you.



CHAIR XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Ms Matcham I just want to ask you about paragraph 118 of your brief of evidence.  You’ve referred there to the first and second statistical reports and some sites requiring approval from the local Ethics Committees before information could be extracted.  Firstly what impact did the requirements of the local Ethics Committees in respect of these sites have on the production of the first and second statistical reports?

A:   	The first statistical report was only done from 13 sites.  The authorisation wasn’t given for the 14th.  From memory the second statistical report, the extracts were delayed from at least one site and a fair length of time from one site to the other sites.   I think the approval was given but it was still a minor delay.

Q:    When you say a fair length of time in respect of the first site, how much time would that be, in months, year?

A:    I think it was 3 to 4 months.

Q:    What impact did that have on the preparation of the report?

A:    I remember we extracted the data and then there was staff turnover from the people who were going to be producing the report, but I can't be sure, but it’s possible had we got the information off earlier that would have been done before those staff left.

Q:   Do you know from your knowledge why there was this variation in approach with different Ethics Committees at different sties?

A:    No I don’t know, I’m afraid.

Q:    And to you knowledge at the time, and even now in fact, in respect of each site, if you were to produce another statistical report would you require the approval of local Ethics Committees for each site?

A:    No.

Q:    Do you know at what point in time the local Ethics Committee stopped requiring the Ministry to obtain their approval before information could be extracted?

A:    From what I remember, the extract for the second statistical report at that time the regional co-ordinators were requested to make arrangements with their local Ethics Committees that they no longer needed approval to extract that information.

Q:    Are there any difficulties at present with Ethics Committees vis a vis using information for the purposes of statistical reports?

A:    Not to my knowledge, no.

Thank you very much.   Any questions arising from the panel’s questions?



RE-XN MRS SHOLTENS:    

Q:    Ms Matcham, Dr Duggan asked you about the consistency of regional site practices relating to the Register and you indicated that there had been peer reviews carried out but to your knowledge not in the last 18 months.

A:    Yes.

Q:    Are you familiar with the information management study which Dr Peters commissioned some time in the last 6 months?

A:    I think it was longer ago than 6 months, yes.

Q:    That study has looked at the issue of consistency with practices across sites, hasn’t it?

A:    Yes, it has.

Q:    Just for the record, Dr Peters first brief of evidence, para 162, and supplementary brief para 21 refers to that study.

CHAIR:   Is the study available?

MRS SHOLTENS:    My understanding is we could certainly make it available, it’s not quite completed, but there is a document if you are interested in it.

CHAIR:   Yes, we would like to look at it please, thank you.

MRS SHOLTENS:    That will be tomorrow or Saturday, ma'am.

CHAIR:   That will be fine.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Thank you Ms Matcham.

CHAIR:    Mrs Sholtens, I understand that your other two witnesses have to be out of her by 4.30?

MRS SHOLTENS:    Unfortunately yes, ma'am, one of them at least.   The other one has a slightly later flight.

CHAIR:   Perhaps we will hear from them next.

MRS SHOLTENS:    That will be appreciated.    I call Victoria Sheldon and James Fraser.

�MRS SHOLTENS called –

VICTORIA SHELDON     (Sworn)

JAMES FRASER     (Sworn)

CHAIR:   Mrs Sholtens, we've got the Cohen affidavit which we will accept, so we will have the affidavit and perhaps as these two witnesses have been sworn in, if you just lead from them who they are, etc., and then any questions arising from the Cohen affidavit can be asked of them.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Thank you ma'am.   I will start with Ms Sheldon.   Now Ms Sheldon, you are the Information Delivery Manager at the NZ Health Information Service?

A:    That’s correct.

Q:    How long have you been there?

A:    Just under four years.

Q:    Could you explain your qualifications please.

A:    My formal qualifications is I have an MSc in clinical psychology and forensic psychology, and I have a postgraduate diploma in medical informatics.  I have also a 5 year history of working quite sort of intimately with statistics and teaching at two universities.

Q:    Now what is medical infometrics?

A:    Medical informatics, I won't probably won't do justice, there are a lot of definitions and it’s a growing field.  It’s applications are mainly around being able to apply electronic methods of knowledge management or practice management in a medical setting across all areas of medicine.

Q:    Your position in the NZHIS is at the second level of management, is that right?

A:    that is correct.

Q:    Mr Cohen is the manager?

A:    The Group Manager, yes.

Q:    And then there is yourself and one other person?

A:    That is correct.

Q:    And does your responsibility include the Cancer Registry area?

A:    Yes, amongst other registries, yes.

Thank you.   Now Mr Fraser.  You are the chief analyst at NZHIS?

A:    That’s correct.

Q:    And how long have you been in that position?

A:    3 years.

Q:    Are you responsible for any staff?

A:    I have no staff responsibilities, no.

Q:    What does your job involve?

A:    to an extent an advisory position across the organisation, plus project management of our statistical publications.

Q:    Your qualifications?

A:    My chief qualification is over 30 years experience in health statistics, I have a postgraduate diploma in health administration.

Q:    And you’ve worked in the NZHIS for the last 28 years, is that right?

A:    That's correct.

Q:    And with some period in between, another 5 years at an earlier time?

A:    That is correct.

Q:    And you are familiar with the Cancer Registry?

A:    I am.

Q:  And were you involved in providing what we know as document TM/HFA/92, a regional analysis of cancer of the cervix uteri in NZ?

A:    I was involved with that along with a number of other people from the Health Funding Authority and from the Ministry, yes, I am familiar with it.

Q:    Now Madam Chair, it has come to my notice today, and I haven't had an opportunity to have this copied, but that in the last week there has been a further analysis done, an updated version of this, and I’m a little concerned in case it’s going to impact on Dr Duggan’s beautiful tables that you mentioned before.

CHAIR:   She can just work more quickly now!!

MRS SHOLTENS:    Well, Mr Fraser has a copy and I have one, but at this stage that is all we have, but may I produce this, or may Mr Fraser produce this revised version.

CHAIR:   You produce it.

MRS SHOLTENS:    So you’ve got the copy with you Mr Fraser?

A:    I have.

Q:   And perhaps I wonder if I could ask Madam Registrar to have this copied over the adjournment.   Can you tell us what the document you have is?

A:    The document is virtually the same as the original from some weeks ago.  We discovered that there were some problems with data in 1990 to 1992 and we have corrected it.  In terms of the outcome of the analysis, the only changes are that North West Auckland disappears off the significant list and Tairawhiti appears in the significant list for 1990 to 1993 as well as 94 to 97.  Other than that, the conclusions are the same.

Q:    Can you explain how this came about?

A:    It has been a matter of some concern, obviously, since the Inquiry started, that the data about cervical cancer should be as accurate as possible, and we've had an ongoing project for the last 6 months looking at all the sources of information that we have available to us to check the quality and accuracy, completeness of the registration material.  About 10 days/2 weeks ago, after a number of corrections had been made, we decided to do another extract from the computer database of all of the records since 1990, and we discovered that there was – the first time we did it, I should say, the first time we did it we extracted 1990 to 1992 from an archive file because it was believed that was more complete.  The second time we did it we produced the extract from the current file and found that there was a discrepancy of the material for 1990 to 1992 and upon matching the current database with the archive file we found that it was in fact the archive file that was in error and not the current database.   Hence the corrections, the update.

Q:    Now finally can I just ask you whether you have knowledge of what the Inquiry has been told, which is that in the Tairawhiti area since 1990 there are now 61 registrations of cervical cancer?

A:    Yes, that is the number that we have on our database up to about 2 weeks ago.  It takes us right up to July.

Thank you.   Now if you can just answer questions from whoever has them.



CHAIR:   Does anyone have any questions?   Mr Corkill, very well.



XXN MR CORKILL:   

Q:    Just one matter I think for Mr Fraser, to do with what the Register actually is.   Is the Cancer Register a discreet, stand alone register, or is it information derived from a wider information gathering system?

A:    The Cancer Register forms part of what we call the National Minimum Dataset of Health Information.   It is part of that database.  It is different and unique in the sense that it’s major source of information is copies of pathology reports from laboratories.  It is essentially the only paper-based system that we still have, or wholly paper-based system in terms of our inputs.  But the computer system that it is entered into is a computer system that contains information from all of our systems.

Q:    So there's no stand alone computer system as such dealing with cancer registrations?

A:    Not at the present time, there are plans to create a stand alone system.   And those plans have been in place for a year, we just haven't re-built it yet.

Q:    is that a matter of resources?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And can you just explain to the panel why it would be desirable to have a stand alone computer system?

A:    Mainly because, for example, at the present time we cannot store names and addresses on the system alongside the record of the cancer.   Names and addresses sit in the National Health Index, for example.    And if we want to do an extraction as has been described to identify the women, the 61 women, we need to go to 2 computer systems to actually do it.  In terms of correcting and updating, because the information from pathology reports is entered in to enlarge a record that may have come from public hospital, if the hospital corrects that record through the system the work that we have done may possibly be wiped and have to be re-input.   Cumbersome.

Q:    So a stand alone computer system will make it less clumsy and cleaner?

A:    Yes, it will be more efficient.

Q:    Just one other matter:   in the exhibit to Mr Cohen’s affidavit, which is exhibit 4, that’s the cancer new registrations and deaths document of 1996, have you got that there tucked in the back sleeve of Mr Cohen’s affidavit.  If you open that document, the face page opposite the page headed “Contents” describes Cancer Registry personnel.  Now this document was produced actually this year, wasn’t it, although it relates to the situation as at 1996.  Is that registry personnel as at the year 2000?

A:    The team leader, Frederico Walker Murray has subsequently resigned 3 months ago.

MS SHELDON:   Approximately 3 months ago, and the same, or one of the information analysts, Melissa Hannan.

MR CORKILL:   Thank you, I’m not so much concerned about the identity of the personnel, but first of all I just wanted to establish that you were endeavouring to represent the year 2000 position in that table, is that correct?

MS SHELDON:    Yes.

MR FRASER:    The 6 registrars listed are still with the Registry, yes.

MR CORKILL:   Is this again a stand alone unit within the structure of the Ministry or are these personnel holding those particular titles but fulfilling other functions as well within the Ministry?

A:    They are dedicated to Cancer Registry work.

Q:    And does it, in terms of structure, operate as a discreet unit?

A:    Can I clarify?  When I say that they are dedicated to cancer work I refer to the registrars and the registry clerk.  

Q:    Yes, I understand that.

MS SHELDON:   If I could clarify, the structure at present in NZHIS, for which I’m accountable for, has a unit called Clinical Coding Services, of which the Cancer Registry forms a discreet time alongside other teams – for example the mortality registry which is another discreet team, private hospitals and mental health information.  These were seen as essentially being synergistic in their functioning, but as far as the resources applied in the Cancer Registry these registrars are dedicated to cancer coding and cancer quality for inputting into the Register.

Q:    So that’s all within the NZHIS?

A:   That’s correct.

Q:    Will that continue within the reconfigured Ministry when the Health Funding Authority functions join it?

A:    I wouldn't like to speculate.   I haven't actually had any confirmation of any final structure.  I would think so.

Q:    Madam Chair, I don’t want to hold things up.  I will sit down and try and find the exhibit that we have that sets out the structure in the new regime.

CHAIR:   Timing is on your side because it’s 3.30, so we will stop for 15 minutes and by then hopefully you will have found it.

MR CORKILL:   Thank you.

CHAIR:   So we will adjourn until 3.45.





AFTERNOON ADJOURNMENT 3.31

�

INQUIRY RESUMES AT 3:51



MR CORKILL:   Could the witnesses please be shown a Peters exhibit 050.  Now you will see that that is a document organisational design for the Ministry of Health.  If you go to p18, towards the back of it, you will see that one of the 8 new directorates is corporate and information, do you have that?

MS SHELDON:   Yes.

MR CORKILL:   And if we come on to p20, one of the managers within that new directorate is the NZHIS, and is that where the Cancer Register will reside in the new regime?

MS SHELDON:   to the best of my knowledge, yes.

MR CORKILL:   Now I notice that the last bullet point also has the Cervical Screening Register in this particular directorate.   Is that correct, or is it going to be, as we had, I think, earlier understood, within one of the personal health?

CHAIR:   I think it’s public health.

MR CORKILL:   Public health director units which we see on p8?

MS SHELDON:    Well, at present my understanding is that the situation in NZHIS would be saying the NZ Cancer Registry as opposed to the National Cervical Screening Register, which is a different entity altogether.

MR CORKILL:   what information have you been given about the location of the Screening Register, either of you?

MS SHELDON:    Can I direct that question At Mr Fraser, I haven't been given any information.

MR FRASER:    I understand that it’s going to reside within the Ministry, not within NZHIS.

MR CORKILL:   when you say within the Ministry, elsewhere in the Ministry, not within the NZHIS?

MR FRASER:    Right.

MR CORKILL:   This document, I think, was produced in March.  Is it likely that matters have moved on since then?

MR FRASER:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:   Ms Sheldon, I understand you wanted to add something to an earlier answer?

MS SHELDON:    Yes, I think your question was around whether NZHIS was part of the new organisational structure and the Cancer Registry would remain as such within NZHIS – did I understand your question correctly?

MR CORKILL:   Yes.

MS SHELDON:    Sorry, at the time I didn't understand it and to the best of my knowledge yes the Cancer Registry and NZHIS in the new structure remain as is.

MR CORKILL:   Does that mean same resources in terms of personnel, same number of people?

MS SHELDON:    I haven't heard anything to the contrary – i.e., I haven't heard that we would have additional resources.

MR CORKILL:   Or fewer?

MRS SHELDON:    No, I haven't heard that we’d have fewer either.

Thank you, I have no further questions.



CHAIR:   Mrs Sholtens, perhaps this is something Dr Poutasi could clear up because I can't recall Dr Peters being asked about it, but seeing a reference to the National Cervical Screening Register being listed under the Manager for NZHIS in a document dated 22 March 2000 is of some concern.   I understand the answer just given that events have overtaken this document but it’s still fairly recent so it would be helpful to hear from Dr Poutasi on that point.

MRS SHOLTENS:    I will arrange for that, ma'am.

CHAIR:   I would have asked Dr Peters if I had been aware of it.   Mr Corkill, did you ask Dr Peters that question?

MR CORKILL:   No, I didn't ma'am, I regret to say I only just noticed it myself.

CHAIR:   Thank you for bringing it to our attention.   Does anyone else have any questions?



XXN MR HINDLE:   I think if I can start with Mr Fraser.   Can I just make sure that my understanding of the breakdown of the latest cervical cancer registration figures for the Tairawhiti area is correct.  You’ve confirmed that there are now 61 in the period since 1990, is that so?

A:    That is correct.

Q:    Am I right to think that they break down into a group of 44 in the period from 1990 to 97, do you know?

A:    It’s either 44 or 42, I’m sorry I can't remember.

Q:    I just wanted to see if you knew what the breakdown was by those periods.  Do you know –

A:    It is definitely of that order, 42 or 44.

Q:    And of the order of 1 –

A:    Can I check.

Q:    Yes, certainly.   Perhaps I can ask this:   will that breakdown be given in the updated version of the document that Mrs Sholtens was talking to you about each 

A:    It’s in here and it’s 44.

Q:    All right, well we can get the breakdown, that’s the updated version of what we call in our record Tracey Mellor’s exhibit 92.   A different question, but still about that breakdown of cervical cancer data on a regional basis.  Tell me, do you extract or produce documents, regional analyses like this at all apart from this Inquiry?

A:    Certainly not often.  It would be on the basis of a request.   We do not routinely produce regional breakdowns like that.

Q:    I just want to stick, obviously, with cervical cancer because I know that there are many other cancers registered, but can you think of anyone else you’ve had a request from?

A:    Not recently, no.

Q:  So producing a document like this, with the detailed regional breakdown, is a pretty unusual event for you?

A:    It is, yes.

Q:    But presumably the information could have been produced earlier or at any time really in the last few years if it had been asked for, is that right?

A:    Yes it could have been.

Q:    if I came along to you and asked you to produce the data in this Tracey Mellor exhibit 92 how much would it cost me?

A:    I haven't cosseted the amount of work involved in that project at all.  It involved myself, computer programming, an epidemiologist from the Health Funding Authority and several people in the Ministry to peer review the work.  I’m not sure, I’m really not sure.

Q:   	I understand that if I come to you with a request like that the first thing – one of the early steps would have been that you would have said well we’ll give you an estimate of the cost for producing that and then I would have decided whether I wanted to meet the estimate.



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Pause here, is that so or not.  Lets not make assumptions.  Is that correct?

A:   	Yes that would be so.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	That's in Mr Cohen’s brief ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Right.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	Can you give us a ball park?

A:   	The amount of work that went into that we would probably have quoted a price upfront of something in the order of $3,000 or $4,000 and in the end the amount of work that went into it, that would have been cheap.

Q:   	Yes well that's helpful.  So if I was a health care  provider, if I was a local CHE or anyone interested in this data I would be looking to get this sort of detail, I’d be looking at a cost of several thousand dollars would I.



MS SHELDON REPLIES

A:   	As far as I can ascertain it was prior to me being in position that the history behind the charging lies in that a very small proportion of what it takes to operate NZHIS is cost recovered when requests for information reaches certain complexity and reach a certain stage of where they, to us, highly resourcing intensive, taking us off regular reporting publications etc. and in those cases we charge particularly for programming time and for the local area network time or any analysis done by experts.

Q:   	Yes please understand I’m not being critical in the user pays environment but I was curious to know how you do set about pricing a job like that.



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	Can I say that we are not routinely asked to produce papers like this.  This is rather an unusual request.

Q:   	Would this be one of the most complex type of requests that you would get?

A:   	In recent times yes I think that's fair comment.  We do routinely provide basic data to enable people with the requisite skills to do this sort of work themselves. 

Q:   	Just very quickly let me ask it again.  If you had been asked to give an estimate for that job, how would you have set about pricing it, is it on some estimate of hourly rates or?

A:   	It is.

Q:   	So you’d figure out who was likely to be involved, you’d figure out roughly how much time it would take, you’d put a price on that and that's the basis of the estimate is that so.



MS SHELDON REPLIES

A:   	Yes that is correct.  We also have a formula for the use of our analysts in this and that is the Official Information Act which is $56 an hour.

Q:   	For an analyst.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Can I turn to a different subject.  Something that I was curious about in Mr Cohen’s brief.  He said at paragraph 12 he was setting out the procedure for the release of information from the NZHIS and he talked at paragraph 12.3 about what would happen if the information requested contained personally identifiable information.  He says approval must be provided by an accredited Ethics Committee.  Can you think of any circumstance in which you would release information of – that's personally identifiable but without getting a Ethics Committee approval?  The answer may be no.  



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	No.

Q:   	You can’t think of a situation.  So it really is true to say that if anyone wants personal information from these databases Ethics Committee approval is the key that unlocks the door is that right.

A:   	That has been our policy for some years yes.



CHAIR XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Has that policy ever been taken before the Ombudsman?

A:   	No.

Q:   	My understanding of Mr Cohen’s evidence is that the NZHIS service is subject to the Official Information Act is that correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I’ve looked at the Cancer Register Act and I’ve seen nothing in that Act which prohibits or restricts the disclosure of information.  Am I correct or have I missed something.

A:   	I’m sure you are correct.  It is a matter of internal NZHIS policy.

Q:   	Well how does the policy, if you can’t answer this don’t but how does the policy of requiring Ethics Committee approval before you release information about identifiable persons fit with the Official Information Act?



MS SHELDONS REPLIES

A:   	I wouldn’t think I could answer that.

Q:   	Just tell me do you ever get requests under the Official Information Act to release information?



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	Yes we do occasionally.

Q:   	And is there any impact on your ability to charge if requests are made under the Official Information Act?

A:   	The charging basis that we have is under guidelines under the Official Information Act so I guess the answer is no.

Q:   	Your charging basis is guidelines under the Official Information Act?

A:   	I can’t remember them exactly but I think we are required to provide the first hour or two hours free of charge, then there’s various things that can be charged for after that.

Q:   	So if someone made an application to you under the Official Information Act for information from the Cancer Register would it be processed in any way different from general application for information?

A:   	Yes as part of the Ministry of Health  there are guidelines for dealing with Official Information Act requests but other than that the actual – I think basically the answer would be no apart from guidelines about how quickly the request needs to be attended to.

Q:   	Right.  How long, to the best of your knowledge, has your policy that Ethics Committee’s approval is required before information will be released about identifiable persons?

A:   	I think probably in the order of 5-6 years.



MS SHOLTENS ADDRESSES CHAIR

MS SHOLTENS:   	Madam Chair can I just assist.  The Health Information Services as I understand it is subject to the Privacy Act.  Its an agency under that Act therefore the Health Information Privacy Code would apply and I think the policy that's being referred to is really that code.

CHAIR:   	Yes well I will be wanting submissions from you on this point but I am aware, and it may be a reason to invite the Privacy Commissioner to attend at submissions as well, that there is a tension between  the Official Information Act and the Privacy Act and where that tension arises the Privacy Commissioner takes the view that if it is someone asking for their own information the Privacy Act applies if they’re a natural person.  If it is someone asking for information about a third party the Official Information Act applies and of course it's then a matter of looking at the provisions under the Official Information Act which allow you to withhold information and one of those provisions is the privacy of the individual but it seemed to me that that was a discretionary matter under the Official Information Act and if someone didn’t like the decision  they could go off to the Ombudsman rather than find themselves meshed with Ethics Committees so I was wondering you know where the authority came to impose this requirement of Ethics Committees.  It may be it's used as part of the exercise of the discretion in terms of the provision allowing the withholding of information but I know when this tension arises and you're talking about third party information, a lot of the protections which you assume to be in place start to fall away.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Yes, I can see I will have to put that on my list of things to do as well.

CHAIR:   Yes, certainly, I will be pursuing that in September.



MR HINDLE:   At para 13 of his affidavit Mr Cohen, I think responding to something that Professor Skegg may have said about the Cancer Registry in this Inquiry, says “It’s not correct to say that the NZ Cancer Registry is in a marginal state of health or has large gaps post-1994”.   Is it fair, do you think, to infer from that that pre-1994 one might feel you’ve said that it was in a marginal state of health or had large gaps

MR FRASER:    That was a reasonable assumption, yes.   Prior to 1994, 1994 marks the year in which the Cancer Registry Act came into force.

MR HINDLE:   And I know from the publication it produced as exhibit 4 that it makes a point more than once that the data is much more robust after 1994.

MR FRASER:    Yes.

MR HINDLE:   And the data in the new cancer registrations and deaths that’s produced as exhibit 4 is up to 1996 I think.

MR FRASER:    That’s  correct, yes. 

MR HINDLE:   So do we then only have 2 years of published data that’s robust?

MR FRASER:    I guess you could interpret it that way.   For some cancers the data pre-94 are quite robust.   Post-94 all of the data, we believe, are robust.

MR HINDLE:   because of that mandatory obligation to report?

MR FRASER:    right.   Some sites of cancer were more affected by the introduction of the legislation than others.   For example, malignant melanoma of the skin, which is commonly treated outside hospital, the number of registrations in the first year after the introduction of the legislation, the number of registrations increased by something like 46%.  The volume of cervical cancers, for example, stayed relatively the same.

MR HINDLE:   Just give me a sense of why we might have described the information or the Register pre-94 as being in a marginal state of health, was this too few people or because the information wasn’t coming through or what?   Why are you willing to agree with that description?

MR FRASER:    Yes, there were fewer people operating the Cancer Registry.  The source of information was largely public hospital discharge reports, we were not getting information from pathology reports, which is regarded basically as the gold standard for being certain that what you are registering is really invasive disease.

MR HINDLE:   At para 14.4 of his affidavit Mr Cohen talks about data on cancers of breast, prostate, cervix and malignant melanoma of the skin, are processed to within 4 months of registration – i.e. currently to February 2000.   What does that mean, are processed?

MR FRASER:    the record have been coded and are on the computer system and we can produce an extract of what I would call good provisional data – not final data but good provisional data, so if you are looking at trends in disease you can get an idea of whether it’s going up, staying the same, going down.

MR HINDLE:   On the website there's provisional data up to 98 I think./

MR FRASER:    That is correct.

MR HINDLE:   If you have good provisional data to within 4 months of registration, why is the website still only current as at 98?

MR FRASER:    We are in the process of extracting the data to put it on the website.   We haven't done it up until now because while we say it’s processed up to 4 months, what we've received is processed up to 4 months.  Odd cases turn up on a regular daily basis.  

MR HINDLE:   I understand the data would only be provisional and in fact your website makes it perfectly clear that it’s provisional data, unlike the publications that are produced.  But I still am curious to know why, if you do have some provisional data that’s as recent as 4 months old, the website is still only current as at 98.

MS SHELDON:    Without trying to sound too negative, I think that we are working flat tack and I think it might be a resourcing issue.   We are pragmatically cautious about what we put up.   I mean, we apply some science but yes, I would love to see that stuff up there 2000.

MR HINDLE:   I'm not wanting to be in any way critical, I really do want to understand, though, why it can't go into the website just a bit more quickly, because to a lay person like me it doesn't seem like it would be that difficult to do.

MR FRASER:    The same people who are working on publications from back years are the people who would be putting the data up for 1999 and there is a tension between the old stuff and doing the new stuff.



CHAIR:   Yesterday Dr Peters said that last year the most recent information she could get from the Cancer Register was based in 1995 and that for the purposes of doing annual statistical reports if she wanted to do one for the year 2000 she would like to have, ideally, information from the Cancer Register up to the year 2000.  Now are you going to be able to provide her with that current information or not?

MR FRASER:    Are we talking about cervical cancer?

CHAIR:   yes.

MR FRASER:    We could produce provisional data for 1999 or up to probably at this stage March 2000. 

CHAIR:   Well, why is it that when she tried to get data last year she was told that the most recent data she could get was to 1995?

MR FRASER:    I'm not aware of that request, I’m sorry.

CHAIR:   Does that suggest there's some sort of breakdown in communication between the Health Funding Authority and the NZHIS if someone in Dr Peters role last year applies for information from the Cancer Register and the most up-to-date information she gets goes to the year 1995?

MR FRASER:    I'm sorry, I just don’t know the answer to that.   Because I don’t know who she spoke to, did she write a letter – I just don’t know how her request was framed.

CHAIR:   Does that mean that you are more likely to respond to formal requests in writing?

MR FRASER:    No, I don’t think that’s true, no.

CHAIR:   You have no reason to doubt that a request was made last year for information and that she was told it was only available up until 1995 have you?

MR FRASER:    No, I have no reason to doubt that.

CHAIR:   Can you proffer any explanation for why she would have been provided with information which did not go beyond 1995 from the Cancer Register?

MR FRASER:    Sorry, no I can't.



MR HINDLE:   Could it be that the only published data like this would have been to 1995 as at last year?

MR FRASER:    Its possible, but I know for a fact that we did provide 1996 and probably 1997 provisional data on request, so I really cannot understand, no.



MRS SHOLTENS:    Madam Chair I would need to check the record, but I’m pretty sure it was Dr Peters evidence that somebody within her team or Tracey Mellor’s team told her that.  She didn't make an enquiry herself.

CHAIR:   I was actually trying to get Madam Registrar’s attention so I can get the transcript so I will look.  If I could have the transcript from last night please, and we will just continue.



MR HINDLE:   I have another question for the panel.  Do the Cancer Registry staff or NZHIS give any priority or extra emphasis or resource to cervical cancer information because it’s part of the screening programme than other cancer information?

MR FRASER:    The fact that cervical cancer data are available and processed up to probably 4 months ago is because there is a screening programme.  The other cancers that we deal with in the same way are breast cancer because of the screening programme, prostate cancer because there was a large research study going on at the time, and malignant melanoma because it's public interest.

Q:   	And I suppose those together with bowel cancer constitute probably the majority of cancers do they?

A:   	Certainly approaching 50%.

Q:   	This exhibit that you’ve kindly produced and now updated I’ll still refer to it as Tracey Mellor 92.  If someone came to you and said look we really need this type of information up to date for the screening programme on a regular basis, we’d like you to do it every year, could you cope?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Am I right to think that the process of trying to extract this data next time will be easier because you’ve done it to produce these documents.

A:   	Yes it would be.

Q:   	So that we could hope that this type of regional analysis of cervical cancer information might become a feature of future reporting in your publications and perhaps in the Ministry’s statistical reports?

A:   	Could be yes.

Q:   	I’m asking you this, you don’t see any practical or other insurmountable problem to doing that?

A:   	No I don’t.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Mr Fraser perhaps I can ask you a very quick question at this point.  You have updated this particular exhibit Mellor 92.  What guarantee do you give with the data that it is actually accurate?

A:   	I cannot guarantee it.  It is the best information that we have for the period.  Certainly the numbers now are, if you look at the time span the numbers that we have produced now are more in line with previous and later volume of cases of cervical cancer I feel confident that there’s as accurate as they’re ever going to be now given the passage of time.

Q:   	My concern, and I believe you would appreciate my concern, is that if I was the researcher asking for this data I would trust you to give me the correct data.  I would have no way of knowing that it was incorrect isn’t that correct?

A:   	That is correct.

Q:   	It seems that by happenstance you realise that it wasn’t or was there some other factor that triggered your concern about the archive file v’s the present file?

A:   	I confess that I had  looked at the number of cases that had been published for I think 1991 in particular and had thought that looks very high it was out of step with the years before and subsequently.  But made the assumption that the people who did the analysis for the publication back at that time would have investigated and accepted that the data were correct.  When one is dealing with relatively small numbers bumps are not all that uncommon but as it turned out yes it was, you could say it was happenstance yes, that we discovered that it was incorrect.

Q:   	And if by happenstance the researcher had realised that the data was not correct and had asked you to check it, would the check be done first of all?

A:   	Yes it would.

Q:   	Would you charge.

A:   	No.

Q:   	It would be a gratis.

A:   	Definitely.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	If I could just interrupt there Mrs Sholtens I found the pages in the transcript.  First page it comes up is page 3370 at line 7 as Dr Peters answer an she says I have to say that when we went to get incidence data for the 96-98 statistical report from the Cancer Register last year we couldn’t get anything related to those years so the fact that it's become available - I mean incidence data is clearly much more up to date just over the last few months so we wouldn’t have been able to do a correlation when we did this report and Ms Janes then said right because we’ve heard evidence for instance the Mellor exhibit 92 was actually prepared for the Commission of Inquiry rather than being available.  Dr Peters response then was yes we could only get information up to 95 and then if you go to page B/3440 I questioned Dr Peters by saying if you would listen to this please so you could comment, actually I wanted to ask you about that, this is about the two registers being up to date.  Her answer was, I’ll read it out, at the moment are you concerned that you might not be able to have invasive cancer in a table such as table 3 because of some legal complication and her answer was no it would be more ensuring that both registers were up to date at the same time and then I said I wanted to ask you about that because earlier today you said something about the Cancer Register only have information to 1995.  Did I hear you correct and her answer was, my understanding is that when we wanted to get the data for the 96-98 statistical report, we couldn’t get incidence data beyond 95 and when I said well what do you think of that, not being able to get cancer incidence data beyond 1995 when you’re trying to do at statistical report in the year 2000 for the years 96-98 her answer was, well it means you’re two registers are out of sync obviously and therefore you’re not really relating what's happening in the screening programme at the moment to incidence and mortality and that's a problem.  It also means that there are some analysis that you can’t do and we’ll probably come to some of those.  And when I questioned her, do you think that is a satisfactory state of affairs that in the year 2000 the most recent data you get from the Cancer Register is up to the year 1995 her answer was, it was in 1999 and no I don’t.  And questioned will you be in a position to do anything about that as programme manager can you say it's not possible  for me to complete the statistical information I need to ensure the programme is appropriately monitored and evaluated on a regular basis if the Cancer Register is as far behind as it is, and she said I wouldn’t be in a position to change.  And then at page 3453 when I said to her, and from the perspective of the programme given that you’ve told me that in 1999 the information you got from the Cancer Register was only up until 1995, do you think it needs to be improved in terms of the timeliness and availability of information for later years, her answer was, well for example to provide information, the quality and monitoring report on stage of incidence cancers, you couldn’t do that if you don’t have the names on the Cancer Register so that even if they are not collecting the information you can go to the gynecologist  and request it.  And when I said, so if you want to ensure that the screening programme is going to be able to the monitored and evaluated at a level which you would be happy with, do you think that there needs to be an upgrading of the Cancer Register or will it do the job as it is.  She then said she has a difficulty, she didn’t know what the issues for the Cancer Register were and then I said, I know you don’t and we’re not being critical of them, I’m just trying to get a clear understanding of do you need it to be upgraded in order for the screening programme to function as effectively as you would like it to in respect of monitoring and evaluation, her answer was yes, and when I asked her to put a date on it she said, most of our analysis, some would be done quarterly but all would be done annually so I suppose that you would want to say by March 2001 in an ideal world to have all the information in for the year 2000.  So it does seem from reading all of that that the experience Dr Peters had in preparing the 96-98 statistical reports last year was that she could only get information up to 1995.  So could you perhaps comment on that please.



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	 I really cannot understand that because I believe that we had 96 and 97 data on our website in 1999 and we have put 1998 data on the website this year, I just can’t fathom it, I'm sorry, I just don’t know what the reason is.

CHAIR:    Is the data on the website provisional in any way?

MR FRASER:    It is provisional.

CHAIR:   Could it be that Dr Peters wanted to deal with more robust data than provisional data?

MR FRASER:    I guess that’s possible, I just don’t know.

CHAIR:   can you say how it is that here we have a manager of a unit within the Health Funding Authority, which is now to be part of the Ministry of Health, who is responsible for the National Cervical Screening Register and the NZHIS which is part of the Ministry of Health responsible for the Cancer Register, can you say how it is that there seems to be a misunderstanding on the availability of data between two entities which one would think would have very clear, good channels of communication?

MR FRASER:    Personally I have never met Dr Peters.   I have close relationships with the epidemiologist at the Health Funding Authority, Dr Boreman, who knows what's available in the data and frequently obtains data from us.  But I’m sorry, I don’t know Dr Peters.

CHAIR:   Would you have expected the epidemiologist Dr Boreman to be involved in the preparation of the 96 to 98 statistical report?

MR FRASER:    I would have expected that, yes,

CHAIR:   On the basis of your relationship with Dr Boreman would you have expected an approach from Dr Boreman?

MR FRASER:    If he had been asked for the data, yes I would.

CHAIR:   Is there anyone else in the NZHIS who could have been asked for the data apart from yourself and Ms Sheldon?

MR FRASER:    Yes, there is a team of data analysts that respond to requests.

CHAIR:   is it possible that one of those analysts could have told someone from Dr Peters team that only data up until 1995 was available on the Register?

MR FRASER:    It is possible but I have no knowledge of it.

Thank you.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Madam I hate to interrupt, it is 4.30.

CHAIR:   Yes, I just point this out.   Dr Duggan has pointed out to me that in Peters supplementary exhibits, exhibit 47, p450 of the numbering at the top right corner, p91 of the document, under the heading “Incidence and mortality”, it states:   “During the preparation of this report, data on incidence and mortality was available from the Cancer Registry up to 1995”.   This is a working draft of the 1996/1998 statistical report which was prepared as at June 2000.   Do you have any comment to make on that?

MR FRASER:    I just do not understand, because the data were available.  It is possible, I guess, that she has spoken to someone who didn't understand.   

CHAIR:   If you could just be shown quickly exhibit 47 of Peters, because you will see it is a substantial document, that a substantial amount of work has been put into.   And I suggest that it would be odd if persons working on this document put in a substantial amount of work on it would not go to the trouble to make sure that the information they obtained from the Cancer Registry about the availability of information was correct.

MR FRASER:    Does it actually say that a request was made, or have they just simply looked at what was published?

CHAIR:   Well, the way it’s written at p450 of exhibit 47, it says “data on incidence and mortality was available from the Cancer Registry up to 1995.”

MR FRASER:    Which would have been the latest data published.

CHAIR:   yes, well it may be that they wanted to work on something more than provisional data.

MR FRASER:    It’s possible.

CHAIR:   Am I to understand that the only final data is the published data which at the moment is in your report of 1996?

MR FRASER:    Yes, we would describe that as final data.

CHAIR:   And data post the 1996 report would be provisional data would it?

MR FRASER:    It would be.   The 1997 data we would regard as provisional until published but wouldn't expect it to change materially.   1998 we would expect to change by 91 or 92% by the time it’s published.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Madam Chair, I’m just wondering whether I could maybe speak to the two witnesses, because Mr Fraser is supposed to leave now, but it would appear it would be helpful if he stayed;  is that right?

CHAIR:   It is interesting to sort this out because for the future of the working of the programme in the sense that the evidence we've heard from Dr Peters is the intention for the monitoring and evaluation to be done on a regular basis is to be getting the information.   When I took her through the European guidelines, through the various tables, she did say some of them required information from the Cancer Register and she did make the point, it is difficult to do reports if the Cancer Register information is so far behind.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Can I just see if logistically I can make that happen?

CHAIR:   Yes.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Madam Chair it may be possible that they swap flights, in which case Mr Fraser could stay until 6.00.

CHAIR:   Thank you, that would be good.   We would like to tidy this up.   I don’t want to drag Dr Peters back but it is important because it’s not something that’s just limited to the past, it actually has ongoing implications.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Well in that case could we release Ms Sheldon?

CHAIR:   Yes, certainly.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Thank you, ma'am.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Mr Fraser, could I perhaps ask you this question:   In terms of the publication which is in exhibit 4, the blue book, the publication year is 2000 but the data is 1996.  Why is there that 4 year gap in time?

A:    When the Cancer Registry Act was passed there was already an even longer delay in publication.   It’s a two part thing:   one is the backlog that existed when the legislation was passed;   secondly, the decision made some years ago that certain cancers should be treated as priority for publication, so in other words we haven't concentrated on completing one year before starting the next.   We have, in fact, done priority processing for approximately 40% of total cancers on an ongoing basis, which diverts resources from completing all cancers from previous years.   It’s simply a matter of resource and logistics I guess.

Q:    Are you familiar with Cancer Registries in other countries?

A:    I have some knowledge, yes.

Q:    Let’s say North America, for example, either the US or Canada.   Do those countries have the same problems in that there is a 4 year gap between the registrations and the publication?

A:   	By publishing 1996 data, we are not far removed from most other either State or national registries.  There may be some hospital based registries for example that might be ahead of that but I do believe that the terms of timeliness by being able to publish provisional data for the priority sites that we are ahead of most. 

Q:   	What is needed in your opinion to bring the document new registrations and deaths in line with the year of publication?  So lets say what is needed to give registrations and deaths for the year 1999 published in the year 2000 document?

A:   	A great deal more resource, there would be a significant amount of resource required to do that.

Q:   	And when you say resource is it –

A:   	People



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well my understanding of your evidence before is that the provisional data that's published is not that much different in which case why is there this great need for resources before you can turn it into a final form?

A:   	We’re talking about only 4 priority sites that are in that state.  All other types of cancer are still being processed on the basis of when we can get to that.

Q:   	And do those other cancers hold out the publication of documents such as exhibit 4 to Mr Cohen’s affidavit.

A:   	That's one of the delays.  The other delay is in matching cancer registrations with deaths to pick up those cancers that are not reported prior to the patient dying which is approximately 1-2%.

Q:   	Do you have formatting problems with the website information?

A:   	Sorry I don’t understand the question.

Q:   	I mean can some of the website information be effected by formatting problems.

A:   	Not that I know of.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	I was just going to look at some of the website information ma’am.

CHAIR:   	You’ve got some print-outs of the website information.

MR HINDLE:   	I was going to go to the website information in Mr Cohen’s brief.

CHAIR:   	No I mean the other website print-out.

MR HINDLE:   	No ma’am I am familiar with it and I know in some respects there is shading on it which makes the formatting easier to see but that shading doesn’t print out.  Is any of this familiar to you Mr Fraser?  The shading doesn’t print out so you could get a page off the website that looked for example as though you had male cervical cancer but if you actually looked at it on the screen you’d see it was yellow shaded and so you might not be so surprised.



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	 I think there was a printable version that you can go to that looks much better when printed.  This is a problem that we recently identified within the last 2-3 weeks and it has been fixed.  I believe it has been fixed.

Q:   	Let me just ask you about that.  What problem have you just fixed in the last 2-3 weeks.

A:   	That problem of the print out being rather confusing when taken straight form our website.

Q:   	So am I right to think that if I had gone and looked at the website perhaps 2 months ago or 6 weeks ago it might not have been clear exactly which numbers related to what.

A:   	It's possible, I thought that I had brought a –

Q:   	It may not matter much because obviously this problem has now been – does that show the shading that –

A:   	No shading.

Q:   	Might I approach the witness and have a look at that document.  This looks actually to me as though it's the same, or may not the same document that's produced.  Anyway I don’t’ wish to take that matter any further but what I would like to do is ask you something about the –



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well actually I would because the fact is that the Committee of Inquiry got a print out from the website some weeks ago and that print out showed male cervical cancer.

A:   	I could say I hope that it didn’t.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HINDLE

CHAIR:   	Well I think Mr Hindle should  be in a position to produce the document.

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am I’m not in a position to produce the document.

CHAIR:   	Where is it?

MR HINDLE:   	I think it's in the motel room but it was something I did check and when I last looked at it it was clear from the shading as I said that the information relating to –

CHAIR:   	But I don’t know when the shading was there.  The shading may well have just been put there.

MR HINDLE:   	I think that's what Mr Fraser has just said that the problem has just been fixed.  He acknowledged that there was a problem with formatting up to about 2-3 weeks ago.



MR FRASER REPLIES AND MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

A:   	 Yes we had one individual who said that she had difficulty in understanding it, we had our desk top publisher look at it and he made some changes and produced a printable version.

Q:   	So this printable version that you’ve just shown me is post the fixing up.

A:   	I believe so.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HINDLE

CHAIR:   	I think because I’ve raised this issue to be fair to Mr Fraser, when you’ve completing questioning, if you wouldn’t mind going and getting the document, I know it's got writing on it but I think we should look at it because I’ve raised the issue, it's out in the open, to be fair to everyone the document should be before everyone.

MR HINDLE:   	Yes ma’am I’ll have to go back to find it.

CHAIR:   	Please do.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	Before I do that I will just ask you some questions about the statistics in Mr Cohen’s affidavit.  If we can go to his exhibit 2.  Now if I take you to page 3 first of all, exhibit 3.  Now if you go to page 3 of that exhibit it should have at the top a table that begins with melanoma (172) does it.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And then do I see below that the section headed registrations of new cancer cases see that.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And am I right to think the titles in that table follow over and correspond to the information on the next page page 4 of the document.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So that what we are saying is that in the period 1995 to 1997 we’re showing the total number of cancers of the cervix, can you follow with me so that we have 232 in 1995 correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	221 in 1996.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	214 in 1997.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And if we then go over to the very last page of that document page 7, now that is the registrations for 1998, we have 224 registrations there do we?

A:   	I’m sorry which year.

Q:   	I’m on page 7 the heading for the table is cancer registrations for selected sights by agent  1998 do you see that.

A:   	224 yes.

Q:   	We’ve heard a lot in the inquiry about how the rate of cervical cancer is coming down but just looking at those figures it didn’t seem that way to me.

A:   	It's a rate of 9.2.

Q:   	I’m not looking at the rate I’m looking at the absolute figures.  We’ve looked at 232 in 1995, 221 in 1996, 214 in 1997 and 224 in 1998.

A:   	I think it may be a confusion in terms, numbers and rates.  The rate may be coming down, the rate/100,000 of population.

Q:    I see, because the population denominator is getting bigger?

A:    Right.

That was all the questions I had to ask.

CHAIR:   Dr Duggan has some questions and when that’s completed we can perhaps move on to Ms Handiside.  I would appreciate it, because having raised the issue about this document, it is important that it is presented openly, even with writing on it, the witness comments on it and is asked to explain how it can be.

MR HINDLE:   I will go and see if I can find it.

CHAIR:   Thank you.



XXN PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   

Q:    Mr Fraser, we have come to appreciate during this Inquiry that when laboratories merge files may or may not be transferred and I noticed in your exhibits that you monitor from the laboratories the number of cancers/period and you use this as a benchmark to determine if you're getting all the data you should be getting;   is that correct?

A:    That is correct, yes.

Q:    When laboratories merge or there are acquisitions, are you informed of that event?

A:    I’m not aware of any formal process for informing us of mergers, but we would notice if one laboratory had disappeared we would make enquiries as to why they were no longer -

Q:    So just from the auditing process that you carry out your.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And in terms of you wouldn't know what laboratory took the function over, would you?

A:    No we wouldn't.

Q:    so you then have a laboratory whose rates may go up suddenly?

A:    That would be so.   I don’t think we would query that.   I don’t think we would query an increase in volume.   We are looking for a shortfall, if someone stops or there's a large reduction we would question that.

Q:    We've heard from Ms Matcham, and I believe you were in the room when she gave her evidence, that it is their estimation that they are not receiving approximately 25% of the histology from the laboratories.   Does the Register have the same problem?

A:    No, I don’t believe so.   We have the added benefit of being able to double check by matching with public hospital and private hospital discharges.   Not 100% of cases are treated in hospital, but I think a sufficient proportion are, that we would detect any large shortfall.   I’m quite confident of that.

Q:    So you can put your hand on your heart and say the data is complete?

A:    I would believe that NZ data is as complete as anywhere else in the world.  If there was some systematic, deliberate non-reporting where a laboratory, for example, had never started to report, we would have no benchmark to pick them up on.   But it would have to be cases that weren't being treated in public hospital.



MR HINDLE:   If I can deal with it in this way:   I will hand you a document if I may and I’m going to ask you some questions about it.  Now does that seem to be a printout from the NZHIS website, if you look at the bottom right hand corner, on the 13th July 2000?

A:    Yes, I believe that it is.

Q:    And in that printout am I right to say that the lines around the tables have been omitted?

A:    They have.

Q:    Which we now see in the more recent printouts, do we not?

A:    Yes, there are no lines.

Q:    And can you confirm that if you look at the page which deals with cancer of the cervix and you were to just follow your eye horizontally along you would find how many male cancers of the cervix?

A:    If I were reading it of course I wouldn't read it as male cancer of the cervix, I would say there's something wrong here.

Q:    Yes, of course. 

A:    But you’ve drawn a line around it and it now appears that there were 115.   But those are in fact bladder cancers, which you can see quite clearly by the total underneath bladder cancer which is 155 and if you add the two totals together that’s what it makes.

Q:    But for the complete simpleton like me who reads tables horizontally and looks for information horizontally across from where it’s described you could that there were 180 male cervical cancers?

A:    Can I ask who printed this out?

Q:    It was printed out in the Inquiry office.

A:    Because this may very well – I have never printed the version that you get when you just open up the page.   There is a tick box or a click box which says “printable version”, you click that and you get the version that I've given you.   So this may very well be what happens if you try to print the screen version.

Q:    I see.



CHAIR:   The committee has the concern simply because at the moment if you look at that particular table in direct line with cancer of the cervix you see male and you see a certain number showing males having cancer of the cervix.  Now that is obviously wrong and anyone reading that can see that, but the difficulty is that how many other times could there be those sort of – either it’s a formatting problem or some of problem with that material whereby figures might have got out of synch but not leap out at you as being obviously wrong in the way the reference to male cancer of the cervix does.

A:    I'm sorry I can't answer that because we've only had one person, to my knowledge, has contacted us and said “I'm having trouble with your website, can you have a look at it”.   We had a look at it and to the best of my knowledge it’s fixed.



MR HINDLE:   Is there any way you are able to tell from the document I've handed you whether it was printed off the screen version or off the “go to print” version?

A:    I'm sorry, no 

Q:    There's no identifier on the document?

A:    Not that I'm aware of.



CHAIR:   I think you should produce that document and if you make copies people can see it.

MR HINDLE:   I should make it clear ma'am, that there are some scribblings and marks on that document which the witness did not make, they were made before he saw it.

WITNESS:   Can I see the one that I brought?

MR HINDLE:   There's one in the brief, exhibit 3 that we were just talking about.

WITNESS:   Yes, actually, you can tell. The one that you gave me says on top of it “click her for a version of this page designed for printing out”, and the one that was printed out for the brief says on it “return to web version”, so this would be the screen version.

MR HINDLE:   I don’t wish to take that any further but we will produce that document.  I will ask Madam Registrar just to take possession of it and we will organise copying.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Mr Corkill took you to this exhibit earlier, which is Peters 50, which is the organisational design for the Ministry of Health.  If you could go to p20.  Do you currently manage the National Health Index and Medical Warning System?

A:    Do you mean does NZHIS?

Q:    Yes.

A:    Yes.

Q:    I had asked Ms Matcham if any linkages could facilitate the operation of the screening programme’s register and she had mentioned linkage with the national health index.  Are there any barriers to that?

A:   	I heard that during evidence and I thought why isn’t it happening so I guess the short answer is I’m not aware of any barriers and we should  be talking.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	How often do you talk?

A:   	I do not have any meetings with the Cervical Screening Programme at all, I have never had a meeting with the Cervical Screening Programme.

Q:   	Who would you expect to initiate a meeting given that there are the two registers and separate parts in the National Cervical Screening Programme  used to be with the Ministry of Health, who should  take the initiative and organise a meeting?

A:   	I guess it depends on who wants to obtain what information from whom, if they have a requirement for information from us I would expect them to take the initiative – or I would have before this inquiry.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Could we go to exhibit 3 of Mr Cohen’s brief?  This is page 1 of 7.  At the bottom of that page there is a paragraph and I’d like to read you out this sentence or part of the sentence.  The populations using this table are estimated to be usually resident population figures.  Previously statistics New Zealand populations related to the de facto population.  I wonder if you could explain the difference for me between  the resident population and the de factor population?

A:   	The de facto population is the population that is actually present in New Zealand at the time of the census.  Usually resident population makes adjustment by excluding those people who are not normally resident in New Zealand and bringing back in I guess from immigration figures.  Those people who have left the country temporarily brings that information back in.

Q:   	How often does New Zealand have a census?

A:   	5 yearly.

Q:   	Now with regard to exhibit 4 the blue book, who was this book distributed to?

A:   	There are a number of libraries, universities, the Dept of Preventative and Social Medicine in Otago, a number of overseas registers with whom we share publications, that would be in terms of the routine standard distribution.  We also have people who purchase it because they might be interested in doing some research perhaps a clinician whose heard that it exists perhaps seen mentioned on our website.

Q:   	The National Cervical Screening Programme  isn’t on your distribution list is it?

A:   	I’m not certain of that I don’t distribute publications I’m sorry.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Who determines whose on the distribution list?

A:   	There is no one individual.  People are organisations place standing orders, people might contact me and say can I have a copy.

Q:   	Is there a cost for this book.

A:   	It retails for $30 yes but there are a number of free copies distributed.

Q:   	How is information made available from the Register for example the committee of inquiry is interested in getting the incidence of cervical cancer and the cancer mortality for cancer cervix from the Register for a number of regions.  If we wanted that information for a number of regions would it come to us in a print out.

A:   	It certainly could.

Q:   	Could you identify the variety of ways in which it could come to us?

A:   	We could start off by saying that the raw unit record data could be provided and someone with the requisite skills could produce these statistics for you.

Q:   	When you say that raw data what does it look like.

A:   	Individual cases.

Q:   	Right.

A:   	We could produce aggregated data in whatever format we agree by discussing the requirements and that could be provided in electronic form, hard copy, diskette or Cd.

Q:   	In terms of getting national health index numbers women’s names and the regions in which they live, where there has been an incidence of cervix cancer or cervix cancer mortality over a certain period of time in relation to certain regions you can give that in hard copy?

A:   	Hard copy or electronic form.

Q:   	Just want to ask you about something which Dr Duncan said to us because he was asked to look at some books.  Mr Hindle can you recall if Dr Duncan commented on the exhibit 4 in the Cohen Affidavit, it's the cancer statistics?



MR HINDLE REPLIES

MR HINDLE:   	Dr Duncan is here so I could quickly ask him but I don’t think so because I have the feeling that that's a very recent publication.  The exhibit 4.

CHAIR:   	Was there not an earlier one?

MR HINDLE:   	There is the 95 version.  There was new cancer registrations of death 95 and the reason I know this is because when Professor Skegg gave his first brief of evidence that was the current version so that was as at April May of this year.  Do you know when the 96 document was published.  We can probably tell from it.



MR FRASER REPLIES

A:   	Very recently.

MR HINDLE:   	April 2000 is that right.

A:   	It's longer ago than I thought but I’ll accept that.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	Is there any difference between the book published in the previous year in 1995?

A:   	Difference you mean in terms of content?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	The previous year we published some international comparisons that we didn’t update for 1996 because of the difficulties in getting more up to date information for the source of information international information was the World Health Statistics Annual if I remember correctly and there has not been another World Health Statistics Annual since then.

Q:   	Right.  Dr Duncan when he gave evidence B/2917 when questioned by Mr Murray I understand when Mr Cohen comes from the NZHIS to give evidence that he will say that a lot of information about cancer incidence is actually on the NZHIS website.  I just wonder if you’re familiar with the website and he said yes I am familiar with the website and I would agree there’s a lot of information available however the information is I understand it and I’ve looked at it is more of an overview nature down to details about Tairawhiti were certainly not available when I had a look.  Can you comment on that?

A:   	I believe that would be an accurate statement yes.

Q:   	What sort of information is on the website.

A:   	New Zealand national data by – for selected sites of cancer and by age, presenting numbers and rates.   For deaths and new cases registered.

Thank you, I have no further questions.   Does anyone have any questions?



MR HINDLE:   Just two documents that we need to deal with in the record in some way.   The update of Mellor 92 and the document with the male cervical cancer.

[Exhibit TM/HFA/092A – updated 1992]

[Exhibit JF/NZHIS/001 – website entry]



CHAIR:   I note from the updated exhibit for Mellor that there's no p9, it jumps from p8 to p10.   [9 a blank page]

MR FRASER:    Page 9 in my version is not blank, its figure 1.   It may just be that it hasn’t travelled across.   Somehow or another a blank page has been introduced.  

MRS SHOLTENS:    Is your document 15 pages long, Mr Fraser?

MR FRASER:    14.   A blank page has been introduced somehow.

MRS SHOLTENS:    I think we've just got a page break and it found its way in there on the e-mail version.

MR FRASER:    I don’t believe there is any problem.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Can I just tidy up one matter Madam Chair?

CHAIR:   yes.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Just before you go Mr Fraser, we know you're not part of the Cancer Registry team within the NZHIS.   It’s possible that there has been some contact between members of that team and the National Cervical Screening Register team that you wouldn't know about isn't it?

MR FRASER:    It is possible.   It is also possible that some of our data analysts may have been in contact.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Thank you, that’s all Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Thank you very much.

MR HINDLE:   The next witness is Teenah Handiside who was to have been called by the Women’s Health Information Resource Trust, but as a result of what occurred with the draft brief, I had some discussions with Ms Handiside and Mr Kirton has asked me if I would lead her evidence.   I have no objection to that course, but I make it clear that she was and really is a witness for the Trust, but I’m happy to lead her evidence and then Mr Kirton –

CHAIR:   Well, I think that if you are leading her evidence she's your witness.

MR HINDLE:   That’s fine.

CHAIR:   It just confuses matters otherwise.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Madam Chair, can I just make one point

CHAIR:   Yes.   Is there an admissibility issue?

MRS SHOLTENS:    Well, I actually can't tell you, ma'am, unfortunately, because I just got hold of the statement this afternoon.  It was only drawn to my attention that there was one when Dr Duggan asked a question of Ms Matcham, so I haven't in fact had a chance to read it or take instructions on it.  Looking at the time I expect I won't need to cross-examine until tomorrow.

CHAIR:   No.   What we will do is we will start and you can take it that you won't be expected to cross-examine tonight.

MRS SHOLTENS:    Thank you ma'am.

�MR HINDLE called –

TEENAH  MORAG  HANDISIDE     (Sworn)

My name is Teenah Morag Handiside.   I live in Wellington.  I am self employed.  I have made a statement of evidence concerning matters of interest to this Inquiry.   I have a copy with me and to the best of my knowledge it is a true statement of the matters that it deals with.   I now sign this statement.   I have been shown volume 2 of Ms Coney’s exhibits at p418, which is a media release from the Women’s Health Action Trust.   I remember this episode.   Turning the page to p420 I see a letter from the Minister of Health, and then turning to p423, the top right hand corner, there is a letter under my signature.   

Q:    When Ms Coney was asked some questions about those documents, she said of your letter of 9 August 1995, she was asked about the Ministry’s response to that media release and she said to the effect of, “Oh, well that’s the sort of letter Teenah would have been required to write.”   Do you have any comment about why she might have said that?

A:    a letter that I would be required to write.  Most letters that I drafted – particularly to Sandra Coney, who had access to a media column, would have been checked by a manager and not just independently drafted myself, and I most probably would choose to get that second opinion of a letter of this nature.    I believe that there was a climate at the time of projecting good news.  Mostly good news about the changes to the health service so in correspondence where it was possible  a positive statement was made.

Q:   	And in your role then as co-ordinator I take it you have been a bit disappointed to see this sort of media release that Sandra Coney had put out a few days earlier.

A:   	I’m somewhat unclear whether this was an article that was written in the Women’s Health Action Newsletter and that my letter to Sandra was a response as a letter to the editor.  It's my understanding this was released in a column and this resulted in myself and Sandra Coney being on TV3 on the Rolsten Programme so a lot of what Sandra said in that media release was in fact happening. What I said what we were doing some of those strategies to try and address those problems.

Q:   	Thank you very much.  No further questions. 



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Thank you Mr Hindle any questions?  Mr Corkill.

MR CORKILL:   	I do ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Mrs Marshall, Mr Kirton, very well it looks as if our time will be taken Mrs Sholtens.  If we go to 6 o’clock is everyone happy.



MR KIRTON XXN WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   	Ms Handiside you joined the Department of Health in 1993 as a policy analyst is that correct?

A:   	No it's not correct I joined the Dept in 1998 as a principal nursing officer.

Q:   	1988 do you mean.

A:   	1988 yes.  I started as an analyst with the National Cervical Screening Programme  in 1993.

Q:   	You had had a background had you not in screening programmes particularly the Nelson cervical smear pilot programme is that correct?

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	And also a breast screening programme is that correct?

A:   	Yes prior to working on the Cervical Screening Programme I was responsible for the two pilot Breast Screening Programmes and policy development.

Q:   	So you had a pretty sound background in delivery of that type of programme would that be a fair call?

A:   	I had experience in screening programmes yes.

Q:   	Professor Skegg at this inquiry made this statement with relation to screening programmes of this type and I quote him he felt it unethical to exhort apparently healthy people to undergo medical procedures when adequate steps cannot be taken to monitor quality of the process or the outcomes achieved, do you agree with that concept as a concept you are familiar with.

A:   	Yes it is a concept that I’m familiar with.  I would say that most times one hopes that the health service would do people no harm but for a screening programme to invite well women it has to do them some good.

Q:   	So you would expect that sort of background to be part of your work with the National Cervical Screening Programme .

A:   	My work ethic?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Moving into your work as a policy analyst in 1993, you say you commenced in January 1993 and during the early part of that year, was that the time of the implementation of the health reforms?

A:   	Yes it was.

Q:   	That is the introduction and implementation of the funder, purchaser, provider split is that how it worked.

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	And the cervical screening programme itself, the National Cervical Screening Programme  would it be appropriate to describe it as not fitting that particular mould in terms of it was an operational function with inside the funder, the Ministry of Health  the new Ministry of Health  would that be reasonable to say in terms of –

A:   	That the programme didn’t fit the model of 4 Regional Health Authority’s.

Q:   	No I’ll rephrase that.  The location of the programme itself inside the Ministry of Health  did it fit as a part of the funding function or the policy function in that it had operational elements to it would that be fair to put it in those terms?

A:   	I don’t think that the National Cervical Screening Programme  had a natural home in the health service and it has been reviewed several times about where it most appropriately fits so is it appropriate to be with a funder, is it appropriate to be with a policy agency, it is appropriate to be in an operational area, it is a component part of all of those things.  To me at the time when one of the changes was to have a public health commission, there would be some debate as whether the programme more rightly fitted in the public health commission as a public health strategy or the Ministry of Health  as the funder of health services so I can’t – it didn’t fit comfortably, it doesn’t fit comfortably anywhere.  It's sort of a square peg in a round hole.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	You’ve given that opinion could you give reasons why you say that based upon your experience as the national co-ordinator of the screening programme in other words outline to us examples that you encountered which have caused you to form that view?

A:   	Yes Madam Chair in 1993 we had a Ministry of Health  and 4 regional health authorities.  We had 14 regional co-ordinators or programme managers, they don’t fit, there are boundaries that don’t fit about funding and purchasing of the programme.  At the same time the public health component of the public purse was given to the public health commission so they had responsibilities for some of the public health components such as the development of resources so we had to work with – I would have to provide expertise to the public health commission who had the money to produce the brochure that was the product to inform women of the programme that I was coordinating, that is one sort of example.

Q:   	How did you find it working with regional co-ordinators who were employed by an organisation different to yourself?

A:   	I was interested when you asked Sandra Mathcam that question.  I believe that we all in the programme, the many people who work from the programme whether it's an advisory committee in a voluntary capacity had a clear vision or goal for this programme and I believe that we worked collectively along sort of dotted line formal responsibilities rather than a clear line management so the 14 regional managers were a collective in themselves with a common purpose as well as they had responsibilities for their personal performance to a line manager in a different organisation and no necessarily to me.

Q:   	Did that cause conflict in the sense that were there time when you may wish them to do something to advance the programme but their line manager would want them to do something else?

A:   	I’m trying to think of an example of when that would have happened.  If that happened then I would have supported the regional co-ordinator in a discussion maybe with the manager about the intent and purpose to try and get collaboration and cooperation rather than initially.

Q:   	What I’m trying to find out is did it ever happen, where there ever occasions when you thought that if the regional coordinators had been employed by the same employer as yourself that matters might have run more smoothly.  I've obviously thought about different structures for the programme, but in some ways the local managers were employed locally to use a community development model, they were close to their communities and could solve some of the problems.  I believe if they had been employed the Ministry of Health that could have been a barrier to them solving some local problems.

Q:    How?

A:    Because I believe problems are best fixed nearest to the place where the problem is and the community – because the programme has - regional managers must be being constant from the early 1990s and worked closely with their communities and are recognised by their communities as being part of the hospital or the CHE or the HHS.

Q:    You’ve actually misunderstood my questions, because I'm not asking you to design what you think is the best design, first of all I want to find out whether or not in fact throughout the time that you were national co-ordinator did you ever encounter any difficulties which would not have arisen if the regional co-ordinators had been persons employed by the Ministry of Health?

A:    the only time would have been perhaps in the reconfiguration of the Register.  It did cause us problems.

Q:    now in terms of the comments you’ve made about the benefits of persons being based in the regions, the ability to have local contacts, how would that be affected if those persons based in the regions were employed by the Ministry of Health?

A:    Well, they would be very isolated agents of the Ministry of Health and they wouldn't have the backup and the resources of the people that they were working with, collaboratively, to deliver the programme.

Q:    Who were these other people?

A:    within the hospital, they would be working closely with the laboratory or with the community laboratory in the community, with secondary service at colposcopy clinic about waiting times, with public health personnel in the promotion and educational aspects of the programme, and in some areas directly with non-medical smeartakers.

Q:    But out of all those people you named, not all of them were employees of the local CHE were they?

A:    No.

Q:    So if for example there could be good communication with laboratories and smeartakers who were not employed by the local CHE why couldn't that similarly apply for a local regional co-ordinator who happened to be employed by the Ministry of Health rather than the local CHE?

A:    I suppose it could have happened had we had a structure of localised offices of the Ministry.



XXN MR KIRTON:   

Q: Just returning to that environment we talked about, the purchaser/provider split and the environment in which the National Cervical Screening Programme operated in, within the Ministry of Health or the department just prior to the implementation of the new arrangements, was there a strong thrust towards a commercial approach, you talked about cooperation and collaboration, was there a sense that the providers of services to the screening programme needed to be competitive?

A:    I think for a purchaser/provider split to work there has to be a range of providers to tender to contract the service, that to me is basic to that policy development.

Q:    And with regard to that was there a feeling or a view expressed that you encountered that regarded the quality elements of that service provision to be a function of providers competing with one another and offering the best service and therefore the highest quality service;  was that a notion that you ever encountered at that level?

A:    I didn't personally because I wasn’t personally involved in the contracts area, or contracting with RHAs.  I believe that would be seen when the RHAs were purchasing from competing providers.

Q:    In regard to those contracts were you involved in the funding agreements that were developed between the Ministry of Health and the RHAs, did you have any involvement as a policy analyst?

A:    yes, I did.

Q:    Can I take you to the first of those, which is the 93/94 funding agreement, and it’s in the Lambie exhibits, volume 4, tab 8.  Now these are extracts of various agreements and I think you’ll need my careful guidance in order to get to the right page, and hopefully I can do that.    If you turn through to – there's pages commencing with letters of the alphabet in the top right hand corner – do you see that?   There is a spreadsheet and documents commencing with letters in the top right hand corner.

A:    Yes.

Q:    If you could turn to the letter T, by the way we run out of letters and move into a new alpha adding another letter to it later on.

A:    The letters seem to jump around, I’m on something called page 38.

Q:    That's the one I want.  If you could look at that.  From my calculation that is the component of the 1993/94 funding agreement between the Ministry and the RHAs and you will see in handwritten third schedule services to be purchased.   Do you see that.

A:    Yes, I do.

Q:    And you will see there under the heading cervical screening the word cervical screening services to eligible people who had access in 1992/93 – do you understand that to be a reference to so called rollover, that the services contracted in that year would simply be a roll-over of those provided in the previous year.

A:    Yes.

Q:    Do you agree with that being the case?

A:    It’s my understanding that in that year it was a rollover year of contractual relationship.

Q:    So we can say there that the Cervical Screening Programme was to have purchased those elements A to F?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And if we turn to pV, 160 at the bottom, you will see health goals for 93/94, the goal for cervical screening being to reduce the expected incidence of invasive cervical cancer and the cervical cancer death rate, do you see that?

A:    Yes, I do.

Q:    if you continue over one more page to pW, you will see there headed “Accountability indicators”, and the very last 2 indicators refer to colposcopy patient waiting greater than 6 months. And colposcopy patients with CIN III waiting greater than 4 weeks, do you see that?

A:    Yes I do.

Q:    So can you confirm that those items to be purchased on page T and the accountability indicators on page W are the sum total of the contracting arrangements between the Ministry of Health and the RHAs for the year 93/94?

A:    I can't confirm that this was what was in the contract in 93/94, but I wasn’t actively involved in that rollover contractual process and I’m seeing disjointed pieces of paper here without clear notation where they’ve come from so –

Q:   	You can take it from me that they are the only items I’ve found relating to that year.  My next question was your involvement in that process.  So you had effectively not a great deal of involvement as a policy analyst in the development of that contract would that be fair to say.

A:   	Yes it would.

Q:   	Can I take you back if you can keep that tab 8 in mind but I’d like to take you back to tab 7 the very first part of that, it's labeled page 1 at the bottom.  The very first exhibit within the document.  See that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's an internal memo Department of Health to Sue Dahl and she was the national programme co-ordinator at the time was she not?

A:   	Yes she was.

Q:   	And Paul Howard do you know who Paul Howard was?

A:   	The name is familiar but I can’t remember who he was or his designation.

Q:   	Can I take you down to the first part of the memo, it's a little blurred on my copy it says could you please advise on certain aspects of one of the I presume it's the performance monitoring of the programme and it says the indicator currently reads number of laboratories contracted by Regional Health Authorities  for cervical screening services which are TELARC accredited over the total number of laboratories do you see that.

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	Are you able to shed any light as to negotiations or discussions that may have taken place around that particular reference because I cannot find reference or that does not appear to be used as an indicator within the actual funding agreement, have you got any comment about that.  I haven’t found it and I spent a long time looking so you can take my word for it.  Can you recall any discussion about not including that indicator within the funding agreement.  Can you recall any discussion on that?

A:   	No I do not recall any discussion about that but I would be surprised if a reference to TELARC accreditation had been omitted from the agreement because it had been sited in the policy before this time that laboratories should  be moving towards TELARC accreditation.

Q:   	So it was in the policy and that's as far as you knew was the obligation at that time is that how you saw it.

A:   	Yes from my recollection although I have also said that I wasn’t intimately involved in this process at that time.

Q:   	We now move on then, you were, if we can keep now in the contractual years, 93/94, so during the 93/94 year you were involved in reviewing the National Cervical Screening Programme  policy were you not?

A:   	Yes that had commenced at that time.

Q:   	And we move into the latter part of that contracting year into 1994, early 1994 can you recall perhaps around March, April, May towards the new funding agreement cycle, developing a new cycle now for the subsequent year, 94/95, can you recall being involved in any discussions about the contents of that 94/95 contract document at that time, were you involved there at all.

A:   	Yes I can remember being involved.

Q:   	Was that extensively involved, were you consulted about the content of the funding agreement?

A:   	We would draft the service obligations that were to be part of that funding agreement and we would have discussions with people in the contracting areas about the service obligations.

Q:   	Can I now return back to that document and the lettering that we’ve been following and I refer you to the document a2 at the top, it's the end of the alphabet and then we start the alphabet again.

A:   	We’re at the second day are we.

Q:   	Yes it's slightly odd numbering.  It goes aa, ab, ac, ad etc.

A:   	And it's got page 74 at the top.

Q:   	That's it yes you’ve got it.  Now I’ve calculated that that's the 1994/95 funding agreement between the Ministry and the Regional Health Authorities and you’ll see there you’ve noted them as the service obligations I think the previous page says that. Requirements for particular purchasers service purchased.  Go down half way down the page for requirements for cervical screening do you see that?

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	These are the service  obligations that you’ve just talked about that you’re involved in developing drafts for.

A:   	Yes they are.

Q:   	So you recognise that the Regional Health Authorities agree to use it's reasonable endeavors to ensure do you see the words reasonable endeavors.

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	Are they words that were developed and put forward into the document by anyone in the cervical screening programme team?  Or alternatively were they words put in by the performance monitoring team the Regional Health Authority performance monitoring team?

A:   	They would be certainly words that were used by those people in the Ministry working on the development of those contracts.

Q:   	And can you tell us who that was or who they were?

A:   	For the negotiation of these contracts?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	I can remember discussions with David Lambie around contractual and the monitoring and evaluation and Joan Mirken and I can’t remember everybody by name.

Q:   	Is it your understanding that Dr Lambie led that process of contract development and management.  Is that how it worked?

A:   	Yes I think that's my recollection.

Q:   	So within that requirement you’ll see there the provision 10.4.1 cervical services provided free, 10.4.2 urgent colposcopy available with 1 month at 10.4.3 non urgent colposcopy etc and then the issue with regard to laboratories there are 10.4.4 do you see that?

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	So one of the issues to be considered and put – an obligation on the Regional Health Authorities was that the laboratory services would be TELARC accredited is that how you read that service obligation.

A:   	Yes it is.

Q:   	Can I take you to the other document that I’ve identified which is AT, flick through to AT, now my reading of the document is that this AT is the quantitative indicators that apply to – at the bottom of the page you’ll see issues relating to cervical screening do you see that.

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	And there are two quantitative measures for cervical screening is that your understanding.

A:   	Yes it is.

Q:   	So if you were to hold the pages AN2 and AT can we conclude that the entire contractual obligations for Regional Health Authorities  in terms of monitoring the Cervical Screening Programme are contained under the heading 10.4 and AT at the bottom the box at the bottom.  Well I put it to you given my exhaustive examination of these documents.

A:   	Yes it is but it's my understanding that some of them may have been re-iterated in another part because they may have been in a primary care part, there may have been some reference, I can’t remember if this document – but that would embrace what was in the document but it could have been repeated in other sections of the document but in this part of the document it was in one piece together but I can't be certain that that is all that was referred to in that document.

Q:    Yes, it’s my reading that there were other passing references.  However, the substantive issues in terms of monitoring the programme are contained in those two references.   That could be checked, but it’s my understanding that that was the case.   My questions to you are now are based on what I've just told you, are these:   Did you have a broad understanding of the breadth of monitoring and evaluation that was required for the programme?   In other words, the two pages I've shown you, would they represent a reasonable programme of monitoring the Cervical Screening Programme as you saw it?

A:    No.

Q:    they wouldn't.   Can I take you to – just keep that document in mind because we have to keep coming back to it, but can I take you to an exhibit that Dr Peters produced, volume 2, tab 23, p18.  Do you see that page?

A:    Yes

Q:    Do you see under “overall programme” a list of – this is a document from the draft evaluation and monitoring plan, and this is headed “proposed national indicators”.   Do you see there under “overall programme” laboratory and colposcopy and smeartakers a schedule of proposed national indicators, do you see that?

A:    Yes, I do.

Q:    would you regard that as a more comprehensive and appropriate list of indicators which would be more effective in producing accurate and effective monitoring of a programme?

A:    is a more comprehensive list?

Q:    Is it what you'd expect from the programme to be monitored effectively?

A:    I have only just seen it so I can't actually comment on detail whether this would include all of the indicators, but one would have to say it’s remarkable improvement on the first document that you showed me.

Q:    All right, in order to move this along, could I take you to another document and you will possibly recall this, it’s an October 1994 document developed by the CSAC committee, monitoring and evaluation report, do you remember that?

A:    Yes, I do.

Q:   That is JMG/MOH/35 volume 7.   Can you recall that document produced by CSAC?

A:    Yes, I do recall this document.

Q:    Can I take you to p8 of it.  You will see there monitoring and evaluation measures for the programme, do you see that under V?

A:    Yes.

Q:    if you go to the World Health Organisation measures, and if we simply take the numbered bold lines, the measures recorded by World Health Organisation, in the first instance:   one, proportion of target population that has been covered by screening, do you see that?

A:    Yes, I do.

Q:    Two, if you read that.    Three, four, five and six over to p10.  They were recommendations, measures recommended by the CSAC committee in that report, were they not?

A:    Yes, they were.

Q:    While we are at that document, can I take you to the appendix of it and this refers to the European guidelines for quality assurance, are you familiar with the European guidelines for quality assurance?

A:    I’m aware of the European guidelines, yes.

Q:    If we were to go to the appendices that are attached to the CSAC report, have you got that, table 1?

A:    Are we looking at appendix 5, the European guidelines?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Are you familiar with those?

A:    I'm looking at them now, yes

Q:    They are a document you’ve seen before?

A:    Yes.

Q:    you'd be quite familiar with them wouldn't you?

A:    Not today.  I may have been more familiar with them when I was working in the programme.

Q:    We will take that then, you are familiar with them, you were very familiar with them when you were with the programme, would that be fair comment?

A:    I was more familiar with them a few years ago, yes.

Q:    And they, if you read table 1 for example, “Coverage within a 3 year screening round”, table 2 “interval for reporting”, table 3 “proportion of unsatisfactory smears” – they go on right through to table 18.  Do you agree that those were measures that ought to have been included for monitoring of the programme?

A:    Yes I agree that these are areas that should have been monitored by the programme.

Q:    have you any comment as to why those particular indicators were not considered to be included in the contract, the funding agreements, is there any reason why quite an extensive monitoring arrangement, known to the Ministry at the time, was not put into its funding agreements?

A:    the time that we’re talking about is 94/95.

Q:    Perhaps if we move on, then, given the date October 94, perhaps if we move to the next funding round, which is 95/96.    So you’ve got these documents in hand, they are known , you’ve had advice from the CSAC committee on them, and you are entering the next contract round – 95/96 – so the New Year’s come in 95 and you're considering the next contracting round.   Can you say why those documents were not inputted into the next year’s contract?   Or at least the indicators that have been advised by the CSAC committee and including the European guidelines.

A:    right.  There would be two hindrances and one would have been the need to complete the reconfiguration of the Register to have the data available, readily available  in the Ministry and to ensure that that data = the quality of that data, and given at that time we still had a large backlog of data at the Auckland register site so that the data was not complete to use these, and also it’s my recollection at the time that we were to keep the service obligations brief, or as concise as possible.  So that the document was – its my understanding the document, the funding document was getting too large and one of the directives was to try and make our service obligations as short as possible.

Q:    So there was a good deal less specificity about what was expected to be purchased, would that be?

A:    I suppose the message that I was getting was that certainly there wasn’t any encouragement to be including more in the funding agreement

Q:    So we’re still left with this rather skinny looking document of 2 perhaps little over half a page to accommodate all of the monitoring that was required for the programme;   is that a fair comment?

A:    those were the services that were to be purchased – that the RHAs were going to purchase for the programme.

Q:    And who were you dealing with at that time who advised you to keep the indicators down to minimise the document as it was?

A:    I can't specify a person.   We would perhaps work with a range of people who were working in the contractual area of the Ministry of Health.

Q:    and was that the performance monitoring unit?

A:    The performance monitoring unit would have been one of the areas that I had discussions with.

Q:    Was there anyone in particular orchestrating that from your point of view, pulling together the various service obligations and performance monitoring indicators?

A:    Ultimately the manager of that unit would have been.

Q:    And who was that?

A:    I think it was David Lambie was at the time.

Q:    Was anyone else working with him in that period?

A:    It did change to Joan Merkin, but there were constant changes and also I was working with people 4 times over with people who had desk responsibilities for different RHAs too, so I worked with quite a range of people or had discussions within that area.

Q:    And what was your response to having very little monitoring information available to you then, given that the contracts only contained effectively two quantitative indicators and given that you'd had this advice from CSAC about what you should include in that.   Was that a concern to you?

A:    Yes it was a concern.

Q:    What did you do in order to meet your obligations to women enrolled in the programme?

A:    One of the things in the service agreement is that the programme has to be purchased according to the national policy.   Concurrently the national policy was being reviewed and when we drafted the national policy, which was published in 96, I believe it has been tabled as a document.

Q:    That’s Boyd exhibit 1.

A:    And in this document, it’s quite unusual for a document to be written with notations to areas that had to be considered in the future.  So that it noted areas for further development.  And also 

Q:    Are they at p28 are they?

A:    Some of the areas are dotted around the document, and also in the areas of the section under monitoring and evaluation 

Q:    That's p28 and p29.

A:    pp26, 27, 28, 29.  I also noted on p29 that further specific standards and appropriate periods should be developed according to, as you have mentioned, the World Health Organisation and also the European programme measures.

Q:    So you incorporated the policy, the national policy, inside the funding agreements.  How did the provider know that they were going to need to have to provide these services in this way and provide this information?

A:    Well, it was specified also in this document as an appendices is a copy of that service obligation at the time, and it does say that the programme has to be purchased according to the national policy.

Q:    So your way of getting the indicators recognised was by having them put into the policy, is that what you're saying?

A:    Yes, if the funding agreements had to be kept to a shorter document then the detail should actually be in the national policy.

Q:    Madam Chair I'm uncertain as to when you want to close.

CHAIR:   How long are you going to be?

MR KIRTON:   I have another perhaps half an hour at most.

CHAIR:   I think that’s probably too long.   We've been sitting until 9.   I will canvass everyone to see how they feel.  Do you want to stay until Mr Kirton has finished with his examination of this witness this evening?   We will adjourn until 9.00 am tomorrow morning.



MR RENNIE:   Ma'am, may I mention one thing,  it’s an update on Dr Teague.  Dr Teague got a message in the outback of western Australia Sunday night last which he tried to reply to by cellphone call because the place he was staying at had neither electricity nor a direct phone line.   That wasn’t wholly successful.   We took some instructions from him by cellphone.   We drafted what we thought was Dr Teague’s response.  A couple of hours ago Dr Teague telephoned from a place which has two amazing features:   it has electricity and a fax machine.   He is still in western Australia, he’s been fishing for a week.   Perhaps we all have been!!  And we hope to have by morning, ma'am, an approved draft of his response which we could table.  Our understanding is he’s currently booked to come back to NZ on Sunday, and even if we were to try and accelerate that it’s not in fact achievable in the time available and, in addition, the planes from Australia to NZ seem to be cluttered by males headed in some direction towards Wellington, which I don’t entirely understand.   

CHAIR:   And which no-one in this Committee of Inquiry will have any interest in whatsoever.

MR RENNIE:   Ma'am, I will still be here on Sunday, you may draw your own conclusions.   But can I simply then indicate that we can make that available to you and my friends in the morning.

CHAIR:   Thank you.

MR RENNIE:   And that may or may not meet the Inquiry’s request, but that is the best we have been able to do.

CHAIR:   Thank you very much, I’m very appreciative Mr Rennie.   Very well, tomorrow at 9.00am





THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 6.07PM

TO RESUME AT 9.00AM
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